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1.1 The Autostrade per l’Italia Group, an integrated sustainable mobility 

provider  
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1.2 Ownership and structure of the Autostrade per l’Italia Group  

 

 

 

Note: The chart shows interests in the principal Autostrade per l’Italia Group companies. 
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1.3 Corporate bodies  
BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
For the financial years 2025 – 2026 – 2027 

BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS 
For the financial years 2025 – 2026 – 2027 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  
For the financial years 2021 – 2029 

CHAIRMAN 
Antonino TURICCHI 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
Arrigo Emilio GIANA 

DEPUTY CHAIRMAN 
Andrea VALERI 

DIRECTORS 
Miguel ANTOÑANZAS ALVEAR   
Ignacio BOTELLA RODRIGUEZ 
Sergio BUONCRISTIANO 
Amedeo CICALA   
Zhiping CHEN 
Tim DANIS(1)  
Gerrit LOOTS(2)   
Fabio MASSOLI 
Gianluca RICCI 
Alessandro TONETTI 
Renata TOSI 

CHAIRMAN 
Angelo Gervaso COLOMBO 

STANDING AUDITORS 
Massimo DE BUGLIO 
Roberto COLUSSI 
Donato LIGUORI  
Laura MARTINIELLO 

ALTERNATE AUDITORS 
Massimo BACCI  
Francesco ORIOLI 

KPMG SpA 

COMMITTEES 
  

MAJOR WORKS COMMITTEE 
CONTROL, RISK, AUDIT AND RELATED 
PARTIES COMMITTEE 

REMUNERATION AND 
NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE 

Antonino TURICCHI (Chair) 
Arrigo Emilio GIANA 
Miguel ANTOÑANZAS ALVEAR   
Ignacio BOTELLA RODRIGUEZ  
Sergio BUONCRISTIANO 
Zhiping CHEN 
Tim DANIS(1)  
Gerrit LOOTS  
Fabio MASSOLI 
Alessandro TONETTI 

Antonino TURICCHI (Chair) 
Miguel ANTOÑANZAS ALVEAR   
Zhiping CHEN 
Gerrit LOOTS  
Fabio MASSOLI  

ESG & HS COMMITTEE 
Miguel ANTOÑANZAS ALVEAR (Chair)                                                   
Ignacio BOTELLA RODRIGUEZ                                                
Sergio BUONCRISTIANO 
Amedeo CICALA   
Gerrit LOOTS 
Fabio MASSOLI 
Renata TOSI 
Antonino TURICCHI 
 

Gianluca RICCI (Chair) 
Tim DANIS(1)  

Alessandro TONETTI  
Antonino TURICCHI 
Andrea VALERI 
 

 
(1) Following the resignation of Christoph Holzer, on 11 June 2025, the Company’s Board of Directors coopted Tim Danis on 

to the Board as a new Director. On 11 June 2025, the Board of Directors also voted to appoint Tim Danis to the Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee in place of Christoph Holzer and noted the new Director’s appointment by right to the Major 
Works Committee pursuant to the combined provisions of articles 28.2 and 38.2 of the Articles of Association.  

(2) Following the resignation of Jonathan Grant Kelly, on 14 May 2025, the Company’s Board of Directors coopted Gerrit Loots 
on to the Board as a new Director. 
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1.4 Financial profile and ratings  

Structure of the Group’s debt as at 30 June 2025 

The Group’s gross debt (nominal value) amounts to €12,134 million and primarily consists of fixed rate bonds.  

 

 

 

 Average cost of medium/long-term debt 
is approx. 3% 

 Average residual term to maturity is 5 
years  

 90% of debt is fixed rate 

As at 30 June 2025, the Group has cash reserves1 of €5,970 million, consisting of: 

 

 

 

  

 

1 In addition to the reported amounts in the statutory financial statements, this interim report also presents 

and analyses alternative performance indicators (“APIs”), such as “Gross debt” and “Cash reserves”. A 

detailed description of the main APIs is provided in section 3.1, “Alternative performance indicators”. 

82%

12%
2%

4%

Bonds European Investment Bank loan

Cassa Depositi e Prestiti loan Other bank borrowings

1.442 

4.528 

Cash and cash
equivalents
Committed credit
facilities
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Ratings  

Financial 

 

Agency  Rating 

  
BBB / Stable Outlook 

  
BBB / Stable Outlook 

  
 Baa3 / Stable Outlook  

In April 2025, S&P Global Ratings upgraded Autostrade per l’Italia’s long-term credit rating to ‘BBB’ 
(from ‘BBB-‘) and its short-term rating to ’A-2’. The rating outlook is stable. 

ESG 

 

 

In February 2025, the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) upgraded Autostrade per l’Italia’s rating to the highest 
possible level of “A” based on the results of the climate change questionnaire for 2024. Assignment of the 
top rating is recognition of the actions taken by the Group and our climate change risk management strategy. 
Later, in July 2025, Autostrade per l’Italia was also awarded an A rating following CDP’s yearly Supplier 
Engagement Assessment (SEA), which evaluates how businesses involve their supply chains in dealing with 
climate-related issues. 
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2.1 Financial highlights 
 

CONSOLIDATED KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  

€m H1 2025 H1 2024(*) Change  

Total operating revenue 2,164 2,101 63 

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 1,277 1,355 (78) 
     

Profit for the period 520 553 (33) 
     

Profit for the period attributable to owners of the 
parent 

515 541 (26) 

     

Cash EBITDA 1,177 1,169 8 

    

Operating cash flow 845 842 3 
     

Capex and maintenance (**) 1,184 1,090 94 
     

€m 30 June 2025 31 December 2024 Change  

Equity 3,351 3,588 (237) 
     

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 3,032 3,288 (256) 
     

Net debt 10,737 9,918 819 
     

Workforce (***) 10,044 10,059 (15) 

 

(*) The figures for H1 2024 have been restated to take into account the effects of the suspension of amortisation of the 

concession rights of the subsidiary, RAV, with effect from the financial statements for 2024. 

(**) This amount includes (i) capital expenditure (€925 million in H1 2025 and €872 million in H1 2024), (ii) maintenance 

costs (€222 million in H1 2025 and €205 million in H1 2024) and (iii) unremunerated investment (€37 million in H1 2025 and 

€13 million in H1 2024). The latter regards certain types of work carried out by Autostrade per l’Italia and not remunerated 

through tolls, as provided for in the Settlement Agreement entered into with the Grantor in 2021. 

(***) Permanent and fixed-term personnel. 

 

2.2 Group financial review 

 
This section includes reclassified financial statements that are different from those required under IFRS, included 
in the condensed interim consolidated financial statements as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2025 (the 
statutory financial statements). In addition to amounts from the income statement and statement of financial 
position prepared under IFRS, these reclassified financial statements present a number of indicators and items 
derived from them, even when they are not required by the above standards. These are, therefore, identifiable as 
alternative performance indicators (also “APIs”), deemed relevant to an assessment of the results of the Group as 
a whole and of the individual consolidated companies. Certain APIs have also been adjusted to provide a consistent 
basis for comparison over time. In this regard, reference should be made to section 3.1 “Alternative performance 
indicators (APIs)” for the reconciliation of items in the reclassified accounts with those in the corresponding 
statutory accounts and a reconciliation of amounts taken from the reclassified accounts and the corresponding 
indicators on a like-for-like basis, in addition to specific explanatory notes on the adjustments made. 



 

 

 

15

The scope of consolidation as at 30 June 2025 differs from the scope as at 31 December 2024. This reflects the 
corporate restructuring of the companies that provide sustainable mobility services. On 12 May 2025, Free To X 
SpA carried out a partial demerger (retaining ownership of the assets located on the motorway network operated 
by Autostrade per l’Italia) that resulted in the creation of two new companies: 

a. Free To X – Mobilize Network SpA, to which the assets located outside the motorway network have been 
transferred; 

b. Free To X – Mobilize SpA, which will operate as a mobility service provider for both. 

At the same time, Free to X Srl (hereinafter also FTX) sold 49% of Free to X SpA, 51% of Free To X – Mobilize Network 
SpA and 50% (51% of the voting rights) of Free To X – Mobilize SpA to the Renault group. 

Based on the assessment carried out, conducted on the basis of the requirements of IFRS 10, the transactions 
carried out and the agreements concluded with the Renault group mean that the Autostrade per l’Italia Group has 
retained control of the activities of Free To X SpA, but has lost control of the activities of Free To X – Mobilize 
Network SpA and Free To X – Mobilize SpA. 

This means that, as at 30 June 2025, Free To X SpA has been consolidated on a line-by-line basis, whilst Free To X 
– Mobilize Network SpA and Free To X – Mobilize SpA are included in investments consolidated using the equity 
method. 

There were no non-recurring, atypical or unusual transactions, either with third or related parties, in the 
comparative periods. 

Consolidated results  

 

(*) The figures for H1 2024 have been restated to take into account the effects of the suspension of amortisation of the concession rights of 

the subsidiary, RAV, with effect from the financial statements for 2024. 

H1 2025 H1 2024(*) Absolute %

Toll revenue 1,940 1,887 53 3

Other operating income 224 214 10 5

Total operating revenue 2,164 2,101 63 3

Maintenance costs (222) (205) (17) 8

Cost of other external services (172) (151) (21) 14

Concession fees (235) (231) (4) 2

Net staff costs (274) (262) (12) 5

Total operating costs (903) (849) (54) 6

Operating change in provisions 16 103 (87) (84)

Total net operating costs (887) (746) (141) 19

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 1,277 1,355 (78) (6)

Amortisation, depreciation, impairment losses, reversals 

of impairment losses and provisions for renewal work
(454) (386) (68) 18

Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) 823 969 (146) (15)

Financial expenses, net (112) (178) 66 (37)

Share of profit/(loss) of investees accounted for using the 

equity method
                      1 1 - -

Profit/(Loss) before tax from continuing operations 712 792 (80) (10)

Income tax expense (192) (239) 47 (20)

Profit/(Loss) for the period 520 553 (33) (6)

(Profit)/Loss for the period attributable to non-controlling 

interests
5 12 (7) (58)

(Profit)/Loss for the period attributable to owners of the

parent
515 541 (26) (5)

€m
Increase/(Decrease)
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“Total operating revenue” for the first half of 2025 amounts to €2,164 million, an increase of €63 million compared 
with the first half of 2024 (€2,101 million). “Toll revenue” of €1,940 million1 is up €53 million compared with the 
first half of 2024 (€1,887 million), primarily due to traffic growth of 1.5% and the toll increase of 1.8% applied by 
Autostrade per l’Italia. Finally, this item includes €189 million (€187 million in the first half of 2024)2 relating to the 
surcharges added to the concession fee payable to ANAS, also accounting for in operating costs under the item, 
“Concession fees”. After stripping out the surcharge, toll revenue is up €51 million. 

“Net operating costs” of €887 million are up €141 million compared with the first half of 2024 (€746 million). This 
reflects: 

a. “Maintenance costs” of €222 million, up €17 million compared with the first half of 2024 (€205 million), 
primarily due to an increase in work by ASPI on repairing damage caused by flooding that took place in 
previous years; 

b. the “Cost of other external services and net staff costs”, amounting to €172 million and marking an increase 
of €21 million compared with the first half of 2024 (€151 million). This reflects additional costs incurred by 
ASPI (external and professional services) and by Amplia Infrastructures and its subsidiaries in relation to work 
carried out for third parties;  

c. the “Operating change in provisions” registered a net use of €16 million in the first half of 2025. This includes 
approximately €20 million spent on repairs to infrastructure following the above flood events. The first half 
of 2024 was affected by the significant increase in the discount rates applied to provisions (a positive impact 
of €99 million). 

As a result of the above performance, “Gross operating profit (EBITDA)” of €1,277 million is down €78 million 
compared with the first half of 2024 (€1,355 million). Like-for-like EBITDA is up €33 million.  
“Amortisation and depreciation, impairment losses, reversals of impairment losses and provisions for renewal 
work” amount to €454 million, an increase of €68 million compared with the first half of 2024. This essentially 
reflects the increased value of concession rights due to investment in 2024.  
The resulting “Operating profit (EBIT)” of €823 million is down €146 million compared with the first half of 2024 
(€969 million). 
“Net financial expenses” of €112 million are down €66 million compared with the first half of 2024, primarily 
following recognition of the gain on the sale of a stake in Free To X SpA (€85 million), including remeasurement of 
the fair value of the companies consolidated using the equity method, as referred to above. After adjusting for this 
item, net financial expenses are up €19 million, primarily due to the increase in the average level of debt and lower 
interest earned on investment of the Group’s liquidity, partially offset by reduced interest expense on bond issues. 
“Income tax expense” amounts to €192 million (€239 million in the first half of 2024). This marks a reduction of 
€47 million compared with the first half of 2024. This is not in proportion to the decrease in profit before tax, 
primarily due to the non-taxable nature of the above gain. 
“Profit for the period” of €520 million is down €33 million compared with the first half of 2024 (€553 million). On 
a like-for-like basis, profit for the period is up €51 million. 

Consolidated financial position 

 
(1) This item includes a non-cash component linked to the discounts and exemptions granted to road users, amounting 

to €24 million in the first half of 2025 (€59 million in the first half of 2024). The impact on profit or loss of these 

components (included in the undertakings given by the Company in the Settlement Agreement signed in October 2021) 

is zero due to the use of provisions for risks and charges made in previous years. 

(2) The surcharges added to the concession fee payable to ANAS are computed on the basis of the distance travelled by 

each vehicle and amount to 6 thousandths of a euro per kilometre for toll classes A and B and 18 thousandths of a euro 

per kilometre for classes 3, 4 and 5. 
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As at 30 June 2025, “Non-current assets”, totalling €18,834 million, are up €535 million compared with 31 
December 2024 (€18,299 million). This primarily reflects capital expenditure of €925 million (including €881 million 
in motorway infrastructure), partially offset by depreciation for the period (€446 million). In addition, 
“Investments” have increased by €46 million compared with 31 December 2024 following recognition of the fair 
value of the new associates, Free to X Mobilize SpA and Free to X Mobilize Network SpA. This was the result of the 
above extraordinary transaction involving the subsidiary, Free To X SpA. 

“Equity” of €3,351 million is down €237 million compared with 31 December 2024 (€3,588 million). “Equity 
attributable to owners of the parent” amounts to €3,032 million, a reduction of €256 million compared with 31 
December 2024 (€3,288 million). This reflects approval of the dividend payable to Autostrade per l’Italia’s 
shareholders (€790 million, of which €648 million has been paid), partially offset by comprehensive income for the 
period of €507 million. 

“Net debt” of €10,737 million as at 30 June 2025 has undergone the following changes: 

€m 30 June 2025 31 December 2024
Increase/ 

(Decrease)

Property, plant and equipment 279 271 8

Intangible assets 18,359 17,881 478

Investments 57 11 46

Deferred tax assets not elibible for offset 139 136 3

Non-current assets (A) 18,834 18,299 535

Trading assets 914 879 35

Trading liabilities (1,990) (1,972) (18)

Net tax assets/(liabilities) (16) (61) 45

Other net assets/(liabilities) (394) (351) (43)

Net working capital (B) (1,486) (1,505) 19

Gross invested capital (C=A+B) 17,348 16,794 554

Provisions (2,476) (2,556) 80

Deferred tax liabilities net of deferred tax assets eligible for 

offset (756) (717) (39)

Other non-financial liabilities (28) (26) (2)

Non-financial liabilities (D) (3,260) (3,299) 39

Non-financial assets/(liabilities) held for sale (E) - 11 (11)

NET INVESTED CAPITAL (F=C+D+E) 14,088 13,506 582

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 3,032 3,288 (256)

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 319 300 19

Equity (G) 3,351 3,588 (237)

Net debt (H) 10,737 9,918 819

NET DEBT AND EQUITY (I=G+H) 14,088 13,506 582
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(*) The figures for H1 2024 have been restated to take into account the effects of the suspension of amortisation of the concession rights of 

the subsidiary, RAV, with effect from the financial statements for 2024. 

 

A summary of how operating cash flow is calculated is shown below. 

 

 
(*) The figures for H1 2024 have been restated to take into account the effects of the suspension of amortisation of the concession rights of 

the subsidiary, RAV, with effect from the financial statements for 2024. 

The composition of net debt as at 30 June 2025 is shown below: 

€m H1 2025 H1 2024(*)
Increase/ 

(Decrease)

NET DEBT AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD A (9,918) (9,280) (638)

Operating cash flow 845 842 3

Change in working capital and other non-financial items (17) (68) 51

Capital expenditure (925) (872) (53)

Grants for investment 13 11 2

EFCF - Equity free cash flow (84) (87) 3

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible 

assets and unconsolidated investments
89 - 89

Other changes - (6) 6

Net cash flow for the period after cash used in investment in non-

financial assets
B

5 (93) 98

Dividends declared by Autostrade per l'Italia and the Group (790) (373) (417)

Net equity cash inflows/(outflows) C (790) (373) (417)

Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the period D=B+C (785) (466) (319)

Change in fair value of hedging derivatives and other changes in net debt E (34) - (34)

CHANGE IN NET DEBT DURING THE PERIOD F=D+E (819) (466) (353)

NET DEBT AT THE END OF THE PERIOD A+F (10,737) (9,746) (991)

€m H1 2025 H1 2024(*)
Increase/ 

(Decrease)

Operating revenue 2,164 2,101 63

Operating costs (903) (849) -54

Operating change in provisions 16 103 -87

EBITDA (A) 1,277 1,355 -78

Adjustment for non-cash items affecting EBITDA (B): (17) (103) 86

Operating change in provisions (16) (103) 87

Other non-cash changes affecting EBITDA (1) - (1)

Costs connected with use of provisions for risks and charges (C): (83) (83) -

Discounted tolls and compensation for disruption due to 
roadworks (24) (59) 35

Unremunerated investment (37) (13) (24)

Other provisions (22) (11) (11)

Cash EBITDA D=A+B+C 1,177 1,169 8

Net financial expenses recognised in profit or loss (E) (112) (178) 66

Adjustments for non-cash financial expenses (F): 67 (9) 76

Financial expenses from the discounting of provisions (13) (5) (8)

Gains on the sale of investments 85 - 85

Release of reserves (3) (2) (1)

Other net non-cash financial expenses (2) (2) -

Cash financial expenses G= E-F (179) (169) (10)

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss (H) (192) (239) 47

Deferred tax expense (I) (39) (81) 42

Current tax expense J=H-I (153) (158) 5

Operating cash flow = D+G+J 845 842 3
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With regard to Autostrade per l’Italia’s bond issues, the Company has completed the tap issue of two sustainability-
linked bonds with terms to maturity of 8 and 12 years, issued in February 2024, raising a total of €500 million. 

In terms of Autostrade per l’Italia’s bank borrowings, on the other hand, in addition to contracted repayments 
(€52m), the Company drew down a total of €200m under two bilateral bank facilities. 

Finally, with regard to other financial liabilities, from April 2025 the Company has recognised the amount due to 
shareholders as the unpaid balance of the dividend payable for 2024 (€142 million), as approved by the Annual 
General Meeting of shareholders held to approve the Integrated Annual Report for 2024.  

As at 30 June 2025, 1% of the Group’s debt is denominated in currencies other than the euro (yen), whilst the 
residual average term to maturity is approximately five years. After taking into account hedging derivatives, 90% 
of debt is fixed rate. The average cost of the Group’s medium/long-term borrowings was approximately 3%. As at 
30 June 2025, the Company has cash reserves of €5,970 million, as shown below.  

 

 30 June 2025 31 December 2024 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,442 1,444  

Unused sustainability-linked credit facilities 3,875  3,325  

Other unused credit facilities 653  668  

Total cash reserves 5,970  5,437 

 

  

€m 30 June 2025 31 December 2024
Increase/ 

(Decrease)

Net debt

Financial liabilities (A) 12,586 11,779 807

Bond issues 9,793 9,277 516

short-term portion 1,749 999

Medium/long-term borrowings 2,432 2,257 175

short-term portion 202 196

Derivative liabilities 56 52 4

Short-term borrowings 28 - 28

Other financial liabilities 277 193 84

Financial liabilities held for sale (B) - 3 (3)

Cash and cash equivalents (C) (1,442) (1,444) 2

Financial assets (D) (407) (420) 13

Financial assets deriving from concession rights (14) (14) -

Financial assets deriving from government grants (152) (157) 5

Term deposits (141) (141) -

Non-current derivative assets (3) (1) (2)

Other financial assets (97) (107) 10

Net debt (E=A+B+C+D) 10,737 9,918 819



 

 

 

20

2.3 Operating segments 

 

 (*) The figures for H1 2024 have been restated to take into account the effects of the suspension of amortisation of the concession rights of 

the subsidiary, RAV, with effect from the financial statements for 2024. 

 

An operating review for the Autostrade per l’Italia Group’s main operating segments is provided below. 

 

Motorways 

Operating revenue for the first half of 2025 amounts to €2,069 million, an increase of €48 million compared with 
the first half of 2024 (€2,021 million). This essentially reflects the increase in toll revenue described above. EBITDA 
of €1,247 million is down €80 million compared with the first half of 2024 (€1,327 million), which included the 
above positive impact related to the change in the discount rates applied to provisions. Operating cash flow for 
the first half of 2025 amounts to €827 million and is broadly in line with the figure for the same period of the prior 
year. 

 

TRAFFIC ON THE GROUP’S NETWORK 

Traffic using the Group’s network rose 1.5% in the first half of 2025 compared with the same period of the previous 
year. After adjusting for the leap-year effect in 2024, traffic is up 2.0%. Traffic using the motorway operated by the 
subsidiary, Tangenziale di Napoli, is down 1.2% compared with the first half of 2024, primarily due to night-time 
closures to permit work on tunnel upgrades. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

€m 

MOTORWAYS 
ENGINEERING AND 

CONSTRUCTION 
INNOVATION AND 

 TECHNOLOGY 
OTHER SERVICES 

CONSOLIDATION 
ADJUSTMENTS 

TOTAL 
 AUTOSTRADE 
PER L’ITALIA 

GROUP 

 H1 H1 H1 H1 H1 H1 

  2025 2024 Change 2025 2024 Change 2025 2024 Change 2025 2024 Change 2025 2024 2025 2024 

REPORTED 
AMOUNTS                             
                              

Operating revenue 2,069 2,021 48 583 499 84 98 93 5 30 27 3 (616) (539) 2,164 2,101 
                        

EBITDA 1,247 1,327 (80) 18 23 (5) 8 5 3 1 - 1 3 - 1,277 1,355 

                        
Operating cash flow 
(*) 827 821 6 11 16 (5) 2 3 (1) 2 2 - 3 - 845 842 

                        

Capex 882 795 87 9 22 (13) 5 8 (3) 1 - 1 28 47 925 872 
                        

Average workforce 5,066 5,377 (311) 3,210 2,911 299 435 382 53 678 646 32 - - 9,389 9,316 
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OPERATOR 

MILLIONS OF KM TRAVELLED (1) % CHANGE  

VEHICLES 
WITH  

2 AXLES 

VEHICLES 
WITH  

3+ AXLES 

TOTAL 
VEHICLES 

vs H1 2024 

Autostrade per l'Italia 20,267.4 3,680.9 23,948.3 1.6% 

Tangenziale di Napoli 412.0 7.1 419.2 -1.2% 

Autostrada Tirrenica  128.4 14.6 143.0 2.2% 

Raccordo Autostradale Valle d'Aosta  48.4 8.9 57.3 4.2% 

Società Italiana per il Traforo del Monte 
Bianco 3.7 1.5 5.2 2.9% 

TOTAL 20,859.9 3,713.0 24,572.9 1.5% 
(1) Figures expressed in millions of kilometres travelled, rounded to the first decimal place.  

 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 

  H1 2025 H1 2024 

Autostrade per l’Italia’s investment in the network operated under 

concession 
803 719 

Other operators’ investment in the network operated under concession 50 44 

Investment in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  29 32 

TOTAL CAPEX 882 795 

The following took place in the first half of 2025: 

a. completion of the Dalmine junction on the A4 Milan–Brescia (already partially opened to traffic in December 
2024), following the opening of the last ramp connecting to the town centre; 

b. the continuation of work on the first lot of the tunnel under the Port of Genoa and of work on the upgrade 
of the original A1 between Barberino and Florence Nord, as well as landscaping works and work on the 
ordinary road network linked to the third lane of the A14 between Rimini and Porto Sant’Elpidio (already 
completed and opened to traffic).  

Preparations also continued in readiness for the start of work on widening sections to three and four lanes on the 
A14 between Bologna and Ravenna, the A1 between Milan South and Lodi and the A11 between Florence and 
Pistoia. 

Work on the planned modernisation of the network recorded progress in the renovation of tunnels, with work on 
systems upgrades for various tunnels completed in Liguria, Lombardy, Tuscany, Marche and Abruzzo, as required 
by Legislative Decree 264/06. 

Engineering and construction 

Operating revenue for the first half of 2025, amounting to €583 million, is up €84 million compared with the first 
half of 2024 (€499 million). This primarily reflects the greater volume of work carried out by Amplia Infrastructures 
(and its subsidiaries) and Tecne for the Parent Company, Autostrade per l’Italia, and companies outside the Group.  

Capital expenditure amounted to €9 million, down €13 million compared with the first half of 2024, primarily due 
reduced investment in tangible assets. 

Innovation and technology 

Operating revenue and EBITDA for the first half of 2025 are up €5 million and €3 million, respectively. This primarily 
reflects the increased volume of work carried out by Movyon Electronics and higher revenue at Free To X linked to 
an increase in the volume of energy sold.  
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HIGHLIGHTS BY OPERATING SEGMENT  

 
(1) On 19 December 2024, Amplia Infrastructures completed the acquisition of a 60% stake in New Lead Srl. On 14 February 2025, the 

company changed its name to Amplia Engineering & Equipment Srl. 

(2) Rav S.c.ar.l. was established on 10 July 2024. This is a consortium company formed by the temporary consortium between Ciel and 

Amplia, awarded the contract for the "Upgrade pursuant to Legislative Decree 264 of the Les Cretes, Villeneuve, Arvier, Leverogne, Avise, 

Villaret, Chabodey, Morgex, P. St Didier and Dolonne tunnels” by the RAV - Raccordo Autostradale Valle d’Aosta SpA Group in June 2023. 

 

  

€m 

OPERATING SEGMENT  

H1 H1 Absolute 

2025 2024 change 

ITALIAN MOTORWAYS    

Autostrade per l'Italia 1,963 1,918 45 

Tangenziale di Napoli 35 36 (1) 

Società Italiana per il Traforo del Monte Bianco 32 31 1 

Società Autostrada Tirrenica 25 22 3 

Raccordo Autostradale Valle d'Aosta 15 15 - 

Intersegment adjustments (1) (1) - 

TOTAL ITALIAN MOTORWAYS 2,069 2,021 48 

ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION    

Amplia Infrastructures 420 354 66 

Amplia Engineering & Equipment Srl(1) 7 - 7 

CIEL Costruzioni Impianti Elettromeccanici 17 14 3 

Forlì3 S.c.ar.l. 23 9 14 

Pavimental Polska 17 25 (8) 

Tecne Gruppo Autostrade per l'Italia 120 107 13 

RAV S.c.ar.l.(2) 10 - 10 

Intersegment adjustments (31) (10) (21) 

TOTAL ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION 583 499 84 

INNOVATION AND TECHNOLOGY    

Movyon 82 83 - 

Free to X Srl 3 4 (1) 

Free to X SpA 6 4 3 

Movyon Electronics  11 6 5 

Intersegment adjustments (4) (4) (2) 

TOTAL INNOVATION AND TECHNOLOGY 98 93 5 

OTHER SERVICES    

Youverse  14 13 1 

Giovia 10 10 - 

Ad Moving 4 3 1 

Elgea 1 1 - 

Autostrade Meridionali 1 - 1 

Intersegment adjustments - - - 

TOTAL OTHER SERVICES 30 27 3 

Consolidation adjustments (616) (539) (77) 

TOTAL AUTOSTRADE PER L'ITALIA GROUP 2,164 2,101 63 
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HIGHLIGHTS BY OPERATING SEGMENT 
 EBITDA CAPEX 

 
H1 H1 

Absolute 
 

H1 H1 
Absolute 

 

€m 2025 2024 change 2025 2024 change 

ITALIAN MOTORWAYS       

Autostrade per l'Italia 1,202 1,273 (71) 831 750 80 

Tangenziale di Napoli 13 15 (2) 32 18 14 

Società Italiana per il Traforo del Monte 
Bianco 17 17 - - 3 (3) 

Società Autostrada Tirrenica 9 13 (4) 2 2 - 

Raccordo Autostradale Valle d'Aosta 6 8 (2) 17 22 (4) 

Intersegment adjustments - 1 (1) - - - 

TOTAL ITALIAN MOTORWAYS 1,247 1,327 (80) 882 795 87 

ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION       

Amplia Infrastructures (4) (2) (1) 8 21 (13) 

Amplia Engineering & Equipment Srl - - - - - - 

CIEL Costruzioni Impianti Elettromeccanici 1 (1) 1 - - - 

Forlì3 S.c.ar.l. - - - - - - 

Pavimental Polska 3 8 (5) - - - 

Tecne Gruppo Autostrade per l'Italia 18 18 - 1 1 - 

RAV S.c.ar.l. - - - - - - 

Intersegment adjustments - - - - - - 

TOTAL ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION 18 23 (5) 9 22 (13) 

INNOVATION AND TECHNOLOGY       

Movyon 7 8 (1) 4 5 (1) 

Free to X Srl (1) (3) 2 - - - 

Free to X SpA (1) (1) (1) 1 3 (2) 

Movyon Electronics  3 1 3 - - - 

Intersegment adjustments - - - - - - 

TOTAL INNOVATION AND TECHNOLOGY 8 5 3 5 8 (3) 

OTHER SERVICES       

Youverse  - 1 (1) - - - 

Giovia 1 1 - - - - 

Ad Moving - - - - - - 

Elgea - - - 1 - 1 

Autostrade Meridionali - (2) 2 - - - 

Intersegment adjustments - - - - - - 

TOTAL OTHER SERVICES 1 - 1 1 - 1 

Consolidation adjustments 3 - 3 28 47 (19) 

TOTAL AUTOSTRADE PER L'ITALIA GROUP 1,277 1,355 (78) 925 872 53 
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2.4 Regulatory aspects  

 

Reference should be made to the Integrated Annual Report for 2024 for information on key regulatory aspects for 
Group companies. This section provides a description of updates or new developments occurring through to the 
date of approval of this Interim Half-year Report for the six months ended 30 June 2025. 

 

Update of Autostrade per l’Italia’s Financial Plan 

The regulatory period 2020-2024, governed by the previous Financial Plan for Autostrade per l’Italia (“ASPI”), came 
to an end on 31 December 2024. In this regard, after initial talks with the Grantor (the Ministry of Infrastructure 
and Transport or “MIT”), on 25 July 2024, the Company submitted a proposal for the updated Financial Plan in 
keeping with the existing tariff framework. Under the related legislation, the Grantor was expected to approve the 
new Financial Plan by 31 December 20241. 

ASPI’s proposed Financial Plan includes an updated preliminary estimate of the amount to be invested in 
concession assets between 2020 and 2038, amounting to approximately €36 billion. It reflects significant changes 
to the macroeconomic and regulatory environment, as well as the need for certain additional investment.  

On 9 August 2024, the Chief of Staff at the Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport notified the creation of 
Technical Committee to assess the investment plans included in the proposed updates of the financial plans 
submitted by motorway operators. 

On 3 June 2025, the Grantor sent ASPI an extract of the final report prepared by the Technical Committee. With 
regard to the differences with regard to the existing Financial Plan, the Committee deemed the projects included 
in the proposed update to the Financial Plan to be eligible and only certain categories of network modernisation 
work to be partially admissible. The Committee is generally in agreement with regard to the major impact of rising 
commodity prices, the highly unstable geopolitical situation and demands from other bodies and local authorities, 
and the related need to make changes to projects. None of these factors are within the operator’s control, within 
the meaning set out in the existing regulatory framework and concession arrangement. However, whilst deeming 
most categories of expenditure to be eligible, the Committee is critical of the cost increases linked to the 
application of the new technical standards that have come into force in the intervening years. Such cost increases 
are backed up by a copious amount of detailed documentation, which has been certified by external bodies and 
was presented by the operator during meetings with the Committee. The Committee believes that, with regard to 
only certain categories of network modernisation work (with regard to which changes in the related costs in the 
proposed plan submitted last year amount to €8 billion), the operator has incorrectly costed investment and 
maintenance works. According to the Committee, in the Financial Plan approved in 2022, the Company 
underestimated the impact of the higher costs resulting from the application of the new standards that had come 
into force since the previous plan. Finally, the Committee’s report does not clarify or define the amount of 
investment considered eligible but only partially admissible for the purposes of setting tolls, explicitly referring 
responsibility for “final determination of the amount” to the Grantor.  

On 23 July 2025, ASPI received a letter from the Grantor, in which the MIT states that it is “sending back the 
proposed” Financial Plan submitted in July 2024. The letter refers to “the impossibility of proceeding with further 
assessment” of the proposal and states that, in this way, “the Operator will have the opportunity to submit a new 
proposal for its Financial Plan taking into account the content of the above report” (prepared by the Technical 
Committee established by the MIT on 9 August, 2024),“as well as the outcome of talks with the relevant 
departments within this Ministry in recent months”. In conclusion, the letter reiterates “the need to proceed with 
the process of updating the concession arrangement as required by the legislation and regulations in force, thereby 
adopting and bringing into effect the new Financial Plan for the regulatory period in question. We await the 
submission of this new proposal from the Operator, confirming the Directorate General’s willingness to continue to 

 

1 On 29 June 2024, Law Decree 89 was published, containing “urgent measures on infrastructure and investment of strategic interest, 

criminal proceedings and matters relating to sport”. This has added paragraph 3-bis to art. 13 of Law Decree 162/2019, providing that “by 

31 July 2024, operators whose five-year regulatory period expires in 2024 must bring forward proposals for the update of the financial 

plans”. In addition, the Law Decree states that this update “must be finalised by, at the latest, 31 December 2024”. 
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engage efficiently and in a spirit of collaboration”. In this regard, it should be noted that this letter neither clarifies 
nor quantifies the value of the investment considered eligible but partially inadmissible for the purposes of setting 
tolls, as called for in the Technical Committee’s report. As a result, the objections raised and the Grantor’s requests 
have currently led to a situation of unpredictability and uncertainty and do not provide a sufficient basis on which 
to prepare a new plan. The Company, assisted by external experts, is in any event convinced that it has acted 
correctly and that the estimated expenditure commitments included in the Financial Plan submitted in July last 
year are accurate. In this regard, on 23 July, ASPI sent the Grantor a message highlighting and clarifying the 
Company’s reasons why the Technical Committee’s objections are not considered acceptable. 

Talks with the Grantor are ongoing as part of the approval process for the new Financial Plan, which may include 
expenditure commitments that differ (perhaps significantly) from those in the plan submitted in July last year. 

 

Update of the financial plans of other operators   

Raccordo Autostradale Valle d’Aosta (“RAV”), Società Autostrada Tirrenica (“SAT”) and Tangenziale di Napoli 

(“TANA) have also entered into talks with the Grantor to negotiate new financial plans1, following expiry of their 
regulatory periods on 31 December 2023. These talks are still in progress, bearing in mind that assessment of the 
related investment plans by the above Technical Committee is still under way. As described in the Integrated 
Annual Report for 2024, in March, the Grantor rejected the proposals for the updated financial plans submitted by 
RAV and TANA, essentially due to the inclusion of toll increases deemed to be not affordable for road users. Despite 
this, “in order to complete the procedure for updating the financial plan for the relevant regulatory period within a 
determinate timeframe”, the MIT convened a series of meetings with the companies at its offices as part of efforts 
to arrive at the submission of a new proposal for their financial plans. In this regard, on 12 May 2025, TANA and 
RAV filed legal challenges over the failure to approve their financial plans, despite the fact that talks with the 
Grantor are ongoing. 

With regard to SAT, the Grantor sent the company an extract of the final report prepared by the above Technical 
Committee, which states that the projects in the investment plans are broadly deemed to be all eligible and 
admissible for the purposes of setting tolls, with the exception of three projects. In this case, the Committee 
deemed the documentation submitted to be insufficient to be able properly assess their admissibility, but “that 
they are of marginal importance in financial terms”. As regards the proposed update of the Financial Plan, based 
on the specific indications arising during talks with the Grantor, the Company is drawing up a new proposal that 
includes the same conditions for financial feasibility as the previous plan, but with a remodulation of the 
mechanisms for ensuring feasibility (for example, cuts to grants and an increase in the value of takeover rights), 
broadly leaving capital and maintenance expenditure unchanged. This new proposal will be submitted shortly. 

With regard to TANA and RAV, on the other hand, given the rejection of the financial plan, no observations from 
the above Technical Committee have been received. 

With regard to the update of TANA’s financial plan, following the above rejection of the previous proposal, and as 
suggested by the Grantor, on 17 July 2025, the company submitted a new update/review proposal (drawn up in 
accordance with ART Determination 79/2019) for the Financial Plan and the Regulatory Financial Plan for the five-
year period 2024-2028. This was accompanied by the proposal for a III Addendum to the company’s Concession 
Arrangement and the related annexes. Compared with the previous proposal, the new proposal envisages: 

a. a reduction in the value of projects in the investment plan, taking into account recent events and changes in 
legislation, and providing for: (i) construction services considered urgent under the legal obligations deriving 
from the Motorway Tunnel Upgrade Plan and (ii) the completion of work on the upgrade of viaducts, 
including improvements to their ability to withstand seismic activity, in view of renewed bradyseism in the 
Campi Flegrei area; 

b. a remodulation of the approach to toll setting to make tolls more affordable for road users, in part by 
introducing a more sustainable takeover right capable of ensuring financial feasibility. 

 

1 Law Decree 215 of 30 December 2023 (the Milleproroghe Decree of 2023) established that operators whose five-year regulatory period 

had already expired must submit proposals for the update of their financial plans by 30 March 2024. The Decree also required updates to 

be finalised by 31 December 2024. 
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Finally, with regard to RAV, talks are continuing with the Grantor on a new proposal for its financial plan. 

Toll increases granted for 2025 

Operator Toll increase 2025 

Autostrade per l’Italia 1.80%

Tangenziale di Napoli 0.00%

Autostrade Tirrenica 0.00%

Raccordo Autostradale Valle d’Aosta 0.00%

Società Italiana per Azioni per il Traforo del Monte Bianco 1.35%

 

In accordance with the III Addendum to the Single Concession Arrangement of 2007 and ART Determination 71 of 
2019, ASPI proposed a toll increase of 2.79% for 2025, taking into account the lapse of the discounts for all road 
users applied under the Settlement Agreement of 14 October 2021 as the related commitment has been fulfilled. 
The interministerial MIT/MEF Decree of 31 December 2024 granted the Company a toll increase of 1.80%, 
corresponding with the planned inflation rate for 2025, in compliance with Law 193/2024, containing “Measures 
relating to the reform of motorway concessions”. As directed by the Grantor, the discounts for all road users 
continued to be applied until 30 June 2025 to ensure that any toll increases were affordable. This was paid for from 
other provisions for charges made following the Settlement Agreement of October 2021. At the end of this period 
and, therefore, from 1 July 2025, the Company applied a toll increase of 1.31%, based on the MIT’s 
acknowledgement of the communication sent by the Company, in which it noted the cessation of the above 
discounts. 

As regards the other operators, no toll increases were granted for 2025 in response to proposed increases of 0.72% 
for Tangenziale di Napoli, 22.41% for RAV and 3.18% for SAT, calculated in line with the financial plans submitted 
to the Grantor, drawn up on the basis of ART’s tariff framework. The Grantor specified that “ART has confirmed 
the earlier approach under which no toll increases are to be granted to operators whose regulatory periods have 
expired, as the process of updating the respective financial plans must have been completed”. Following the failure 
to grant any toll increase for 2025, TANA, SAT and RAV filed a legal challenge to the MIT’s decision on 3 March 
2025. 

Developments in ART’s approach to the tariff frameworks for tolls   
Following its assessment of the impact of regulation on the method used to set tolls under the motorway 
concession arrangements, initiated with Determination 181/2023 and completed on 24 January 2024, ART has 
deemed it necessary to adjust the method. This will involve adopting operational indications (Determination 
15/2024) and taking into account the potential need for amendments, to be submitted for public consultation, to 
reflect intervening changes in the sector. In 2024, following a series of investigations and fact-finding surveys, the 
regulator began the process of updating the tariff framework for tolls with Determination 62/2024, setting an initial 
deadline of 31 December 2024, which was later extended.  

On 15 May 2025, ART issued Determination 74/2025 announcing a consultation on the new tariff framework for 
tolls for new concessions awarded from 1 January 2025. Determination 75/2025 also announced a consultation on 
the new tariff framework for tolls for motorway concessions awarded up to 31 December 2024, including those of 
ASPI and its subsidiaries. Following a request for a delay from AISCAT, ART extended the deadline for conclusion 
of the consultation set in Determination 75/2025 until 16 July 2025 and set a deadline of 12 September 2025 for 
the conclusion of the process of reviewing the tariff framework for tolls. The same deadline has also been extended 
for the procedure referred to in Determination 74/2025. 

The document on which the consultation referred to in Determination 75/2025 is based foreshadows a radical 
change with respect to the existing tariff framework introduced by ART itself in 2019 and applied by ASPI in the III 
Addendum and the attached Financial Plan signed in 2022 for the regulatory period 2020-2024. There is, for 
example, a significant imbalance between the risks assumed and the level of remuneration available to the 
operator, whilst the conditions for financial feasibility have been toughened. In addition to the penalising effect of 
the remuneration of so-called figurative items and of any potential takeover right, in the latter case this includes 
the process of setting the allowed WACC which, as a result, would be significantly reduced.  
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In response to Determination 75/2025, ASPI, also acting on behalf of its subsidiaries, submitted its observations on 
the consultation on 16 July 2025. Given the above issues, however, on 14 July 2025, the Company also notified the 
counterparties that it has filed a legal challenge against the above ART determination before the Regional 
Administrative Court.   

In addition to objecting to the above changes on their merits, ASPI’s challenge also accuses ART of exceeding its 
powers, which are limited to establishing a tariff framework that motorway operators must apply and verifying its 
effective application, whilst ART is currently intervening in areas that are the responsibility of the Grantor, such as, 
for example, with regard to decisions related to the elements to be included in considerations regarding financial 
feasibility. 

Determination regarding the minimum rights of road users 
With regard to ART Determination 132, published on 27 September 2024, introducing “measures concerning the 
minimum rights of users of the services provided by motorway operators and by service providers operating on 
the motorway network, including compensation”, on 25 October 2024, AISCAT (the Italian association of toll road 
and tunnel operators) requested the regulator to reconsider the measures, arguing that certain measures should 
be removed and/or amended. At the same time, AISCAT sent the regulator a request for clarification on certain 
measures whose interpretation lacks clarity, requesting a specific meeting. 

Following ART’s response and a closer examination of the issues, it was decided, as a sector, to challenge the 
Determination, with the related action filed by ASPI and its subsidiaries on 24 January 2025. 

Lastly, with regard to measures concerning the system for calculating toll refunds in the event of restrictions on 
the use of infrastructure and the related payment procedures, on 19 March 2025, ART published Determination 
49, (i) launching a new consultation on Annex A, setting 30 April 2025 as the deadline for the submission of 
observations, (ii) setting 14 May 2025 as the date for a hearing at which observations were to be presented and 
(iii) extending the deadline for conclusion of the procedure until 31 July 2025. On 15 May, ASPI sent ART specific 
observations and proposals for changes to the text being consulted on. On 28 May, a hearing was held at the offices 
of ART in Turin, during which representatives of the parties participating in the consultation, including ASPI, 
presented their observations and proposals. 

Network Maintenance and Modernisation Plan for 2025 
During the first half of 2025, the MIT’s Local Inspectorate in Rome published the results of its assessment of the 
criteria used in drawing up the routine maintenance and modernisation programmes for 2025, noting a number 
of concerns. In this regard, ASPI responded to the Inspectorate’s concerns in a document dated 21 July. The 
Company stated its belief that it had acted correctly, noting that it had followed the long-standing, agreed 
approach for deciding on which projects to include in the programmes, as formally acknowledged by the Ministry’s 
Directorate General. This approach was also confirmed during meetings with the Ministry from 2023 on, held to 
jointly define the technical criteria to be applied to projects included in network modernisation programmes.  

 

2.5 Workforce 
As at 30 June 2025, the Autostrade per l’Italia Group employs 10,044 people (9,481 on permanent contracts), 
marking a reduction of 15 (0.1%) compared with 31 December 2024. 

The number of permanent staff has fallen by 70, primarily due to slower turnover among toll collectors at ASPI and 
Tangenziale di Napoli (a total of 104) and the transfer of personnel from Free To X SpA to Free To X Mobilize 
following the former’s demerger from May (41 people). These changes were partly offset by the continued 
recruitment of personnel by Group companies focusing on infrastructure investment and maintenance (primarily 
19 people at Tecne, 17 at Movyon and 14 at C.I.EL.) and by Giovia due to increased activity (32). The number of 
personnel on fixed-term contracts has risen by 55, primarily due to increased use of seasonal toll collectors by 
Autostrade per l’Italia and Autostrada Tirrenica between June 2025 and December 2024 (a total of 95), partly offset 
by reduced use of fixed-term operational personnel at Amplia (41). 

The Group’s average workforce (including agency staff) amounts to 9,389 in the first half of 2025, up by an average 
of 73 (0.8%) compared with the first half of 2024 (an average of 9,316). The change primarily reflects the 
consolidation of Amplia Engineering & Equipment (an average of 76) from December 2024, recruitment of 
personnel by Group companies focusing on infrastructure investment and maintenance and increased activity at 
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Giovia. These increases were partly offset by slower turnover among toll collectors and the impact of the 
extraordinary early retirement scheme implemented by Autostrade per l’Italia in 2024. 

 

2.6 Sustainability disclosure 
The Group again continued with its efforts to combat the impact of climate change in the first half of 2025. As 
described in detail in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 
2024 included in the Integrated Annual Report for 2024, the Group has put sustainability at the heart of its strategy. 
Sustainability, innovation and digitalisation initiatives continued in the first half of 2025 as part of the Group’s 
transformation. The following took place: 

a. the activation of Tutor (speed check) devices on 26 new sections of the network operated by Autostrade per 
l’Italia began in March, in line with the implementation plan agreed with the highway police. Thanks to the 
positioning of the latest devices, 178 sections of motorway on ASPI’s network, extending for a total of 1,800 
km, will be covered by the system; 

b. the first test of a self-driving car on the Naples ring road under real traffic conditions, carried out by the 
Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport’s Smart Road Observatory and the Autostrade per l’Italia Group; 

c. the signature, in April 2025, of a 10-year power purchase agreement (PPA) between ASPI and ENI Plenitude 
for the sale of all the electricity produced by a wind farm, covering around 25% of Autostrade per l'Italia’s 
electricity needs; 

d. the entry into service in Calenzano (FI) of the new photovoltaic plant built by Elgea, with total installed 
capacity of approximately 700kwp; 

e. Autostrade per l’Italia’s award of an A rating following CDP’s yearly Supplier Engagement Assessment (SEA), 
which evaluates how businesses involve their supply chains in dealing with climate-related issues. 

2.7 Events after 30 June 2025 
In addition to the events described above, at the date of approval of this Interim Half-year Report for the six 
months ended 30 June 2025, there are no further material events involving the Autostrade per l’Italia Group to 

report. 

Declaration of dividends 

The Annual General Meeting of Autostrade per l’Italia SpA’s shareholders, held on 17 April 2025, approved the 
distribution of Autostrade per l’Italia SpA’s profit for 2024 in the form of a dividend to be paid in two tranches. The 
first tranche was paid on the same date of 17 April 2025, whilst the second tranche, amounting to €142 million, 
was due to be paid at the date of approval of the Company’s Interim Half-year Report for 2025, after also bearing 
in mind expected discussions with the Grantor regarding approval of the Company’s Financial Plan. 

In this respect, whilst awaiting greater clarity regarding the process involved in approving the Financial Plan and, 
more generally, in view of recent talks with the Grantor, the Ordinary General Meeting of Autostrade per l’Italia 
SpA’s shareholders held on 24 July 2025 has voted to postpone payment of the second tranche of the dividend to 
be paid from profit for 2024. This will now be paid on the date of approval of the annual financial statements for 
2025, and in any event no later than 31 March 2026. 

 

Bank loan obtained by Autostrada Tirrenica 

absolute % absolute % absolute %

Senior managers 173 170 3 1.8% 2 2 - n.a. 185 164 21 12.8%

Middle managers 557 570 (13) (2.3%) - 1 (1) n.a. 559 550 9 1.6%

Administrative staff 4,876 4,821 55 1.1% 73 75 (2) (2.7%) 4,920 4,699 221 4.7%

Operational personnel 2,517 2,528 (11) (0.4%) 209 239 (30) (12.6%) 2,441 2,426 15 0.6%

Toll collectors 1,358 1,462 (104) (7.1%) 279 191 88 46.1% 1,284 1,477 (193) (13.1%)

Total 9,481 9,551 (70) (0.7%) 563 508 55 10.8% 9,389 9,316 73 0.8%

H1 2025 H1 2024 Change30 June 2025 31 December 2024 Change 30 June 2025 31 December 2024 Change

PERMANENT STAFF FIXED-TERM STAFF AVERAGE WORKFORCE
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On 24 July, Autostrada Tirrenica agreed a facility of €230 million with a pool of banks consisting of Unicredit, ING, 
Monte Paschi and Bper. The loan has a term of 3 years and will be used for general corporate purposes. The entire 
facility is expected to be used by the end of July. 

 

2.8 Outlook, risk factors and uncertainties 
The Autostrade per l’Italia Group will continue to harness technology, innovation and sustainability as we 
transform the motorway network into safer, state-of-the-art infrastructure.  

2025 will see the Group proceed with capital and maintenance expenditure totalling approximately €2.5 billion. 
This will involve upgrading major motorway hubs and the most congested sections of the network, as well as 
modernising existing infrastructure with the aim of extending its useful life and making it safer and more resilient.  

In view of the performance of traffic in the first six months of the year, despite ongoing macroeconomic 
uncertainty, we expect traffic using Autostrade per l'Italia’s network to register growth of around 1.5% in 2025.  

Given that the works and resulting spending commitments for 2025 were planned for based on the assumption 
that ASPI’s new Financial Plan will be approved by the end of the current year, talks with the Grantor will continue 
in the second half of the year. The timing of approval of the Financial Plan for the regulatory period 2025-2029 
remains not defined. 

A series of technical working groups have been set up with the Grantor to finalise key elements of the Financial 
Plan, including the investment and maintenance plan, and the level of tolls needed to fund this plan. Talks are also 
taking place in light of the observations made by the Technical Committee set up by the Ministry of Infrastructure 
and Transport (the “MIT”). The Committee deems that, whilst falling within the scope of eligible projects, a portion 
of the planned investment in the modernization of bridges, tunnels and safety barriers should only partially be 
recognised in tolls. The Grantor has thus invited the Company to submit a revised proposal for its Financial Plan, 
incorporating the observations of the above Committee. 

Based on an assessment of the situation, backed up by opinions provided by independent experts, the Company 
is in disagreement with the Committee’s observations, as notified to the Grantor on 23 July 2025. At this time, the 
Company is, therefore, unable to estimate the impact of the outcome of discussions, either in qualitative or 
quantitative terms. We cannot, therefore, exclude the possibility that the toll regime and the quantification of 
expenditure commitments may diverge, perhaps significantly, from the proposed Financial Plan submitted last July 
2024 and returned by the Grantor with a letter dated 23 July 2025. 

In addition, the transport regulator (Autorità di Regolazione dei Trasporti or ART) has issued Determination 
75/2025. This calls for a public consultation regarding the review of the Tariff Framework for motorway 
concessions, including the concession held by Autostrade per l’Italia. Although there will not be any impact on 
2025, the potential effects of a revised regulatory framework and the above uncertainties regarding the approval 
process for the Financial Plan do not currently allow us to provide specific guidance on the outlook for expenditure 
commitments or for the tariff framework over the medium term.  

In view of the above, to ensure that we are able to maintain a solid financial structure, the Company has adopted 
a more conservative financial policy for 2025. This entails a minimum threshold for the leverage ratio – measured 
as the ratio of FFO (“Funds from Operations”) and Gross Debt – of 12.5%, ensuring that the ratio of Net Debt to 
Cash EBITDA remains below 5.25x.  

This will enable us to pursue our business objectives whilst maintaining a financial structure rated investment 
grade by the leading rating agencies. In any event, all the necessary steps must be taken to guarantee the above 
financial structure, even if approval of the Financial Plan were to take longer than expected. 
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3.1 Alternative performance indicators (APIs) 
In accordance with ESMA guidance, a list of the main APIs used in the Interim Half-year Report, together with 

a brief description of their composition and their reconciliation with reported amounts, is provided below: 

a. “Gross operating profit (EBITDA)”, the synthetic indicator of earnings from operations, calculated by 
deducting the operating change in provisions and operating costs, with the exception of amortisation, 
depreciation, impairment losses, reversals of impairment losses and provisions for the costs to be 
incurred over time in relation to the renewal of infrastructure operated under concession by Società 
Italiana per Azioni per il Traforo del Monte Bianco (“SITMB”), from operating revenue; 

b. “Cash EBITDA”, the synthetic indicator of cash earnings from operating activities, calculated by 
stripping out from EBITDA the “Operating change in provisions”, operating uses of provisions and other 
non-cash items included in EBITDA; 

c. “Operating profit (EBIT)”, the indicator that measures the return on the capital invested in the 
business, calculated by deducting amortisation, depreciation, impairment losses, reversals of 
impairment losses and the above provisions for the costs to be incurred in relation to the renewal of 
infrastructure operated under concession by SITMB from EBITDA; 

d. “Net invested capital”, showing the total value of non-financial assets, after deducting non-financial 
liabilities; 

e. “Net debt”, representing the portion of net invested capital funded by net financial liabilities, 
calculated by deducting “Current and non-current financial assets” from “Current and non-current 
financial liabilities”; 

f. “Gross debt”, representing the indicator relating to the Company’s medium/long-term debt, shown as 
the sum of the nominal value of bond issues and medium/-long-term bank borrowings; 

g. “Cash reserves”, representing the indicator of cash that is readily available in situations of need, 
calculated as the sum of cash and cash equivalents and the unused portion of committed credit 
facilities, excluding intercompany current account payables and subsidiaries’ term deposits; 

h. “Capital expenditure”, indicating the total amount invested in development of the Group’s businesses, 
calculated as the sum of cash used in investment in property, plant and equipment, in assets held under 
concession and in other intangible assets, excluding investment linked to transactions involving 
investees; this item does not include the cost of unremunerated investment included in the settlement 
agreement with the MIT, as these sums are accounted for in cash outflows forming part of operating 
cash flow; 

i. “Operating cash flow”, indicating the cash generated by or used in operating activities. Operating cash 
flow is calculated as profit for the period + amortisation/depreciation +/- impairments/reversals of 
impairments of assets +/- provisions/releases of provisions in excess of requirements and uses of 
provisions + other adjustments + financial expenses from discounting of provisions +/- share of 
profit/(loss) of investees accounted for using equity method +/- (losses)/gains on sale of assets +/- 
other non-cash items +/- deferred tax assets/liabilities recognised in profit or loss; 

j. “Equity free cash flow”, an indicator showing cash flow available for distribution to equity holders, to 
repay debt and to fund any financial investments; it is calculated as follows: operating cash flow +/- the 
change in working capital and other non-financial items + capital expenditure + government grants for 
investment. 

 

Reconciliations of the reclassified consolidated financial statements presented above with the matching 
consolidated income statement and statement of financial position, as prepared under international financial 
reporting standards (IFRS), are provided below. 
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RECONCILICATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT WITH THE 
RECLASSIFIED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT  

  

 
(*) The figures for H1 2024 have been restated to take into account the effects of the suspension of amortisation of the concession 

rights of the subsidiary, RAV, with effect from the financial statements for 2024. 

Reconciliation of items

Ref.
Sub-

items

Main 

entries
Ref. Sub-items

Main 

entries
Ref. Sub-items

Main 

entries
Ref.

Sub-

items

Main 

entries

Toll revenue 1,940 1,940 1,887 1,887

Revenue from construction services 880 808

Revenue from construction services - government grants and cost of materials and (a) 738 (a) 682

Capitalised staff costs - construction services for which                                                               

additional economic benefits are received
(b) 142

(b)
126

Revenue from construction services provided by sub-operators (c) -                (c) -                
Other revenue (d) 224 (d) 214
Other operating income (c+d) 224 (c+d) 214

Revenue from construction services provided by sub-operators (c) -                 (c) -              

Total revenue 3,044 2,909

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE 2,164 2,101

Raw and consumable materials (168) (168) (150) (150)
Service costs (920) (920) (852) (852)

Gain/(Loss) on sale of elements of property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets
1 1 -              -            

Staff costs (e) (416) (e) (388)

Other operating costs (280) (269)
Concession fees (f) (235) (f) (231)
Lease expense (12) (12) (7) (7)
Other (33) (33) (31) (31)

Revenue from construction services: government grants and capitalised cost of 

materials and external services
(a) 738 (a) 682

Use of provisions for renewal of motorway infrastructure (i) -                 (i) 2             

COST OF MATERIALS AND EXTERNAL SERVICES, INCLUDING MAINTENANCE

COSTS
(394) (356)

CONCESSION FEES (f) (235) (f) (231)

NET STAFF COSTS (e+b) (274) (e+b) (262)

OPERATING CHANGE IN PROVISIONS 16 103
Operating change in provisions 8 105
(Provisions)/ Uses of provisions for repair and replacement of motorway 

infrastructure
25 25 53 53

(Provisions)/Uses of provisions for renewal of motorway infrastructure (8) 2

Provisions for renewal of motorway infrastructure (h) (8) (h) -             
Uses of provisions for renewal of motorway infrastructure (i) -                (i) 2               

(Provisions)/Uses of provisions for risks and charges (9) (9) 50 50
TOTAL NET OPERATING COSTS (887) (746)

Amortisation and depreciation (l) (446) (l) (383)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (31) (23)
Amortisation of intangible assets deriving from concession rights (394) (333)
Amortisation of other intangible assets (21) (27)

(Impairment losses)/Reversals of impairment losses (m) -               (m) (3)

GROSS OPERATING PROFIT (EBITDA) 1,277 1,355

AMORTISATION, DEPRECIATION, IMPAIRMENT LOSSES AND REVERSALS OF

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES AND PROVISIONS FOR RENEWAL WORK

(l+h+m)
(454)

(l+h+m)
(386)

TOTAL COSTS (2,221) (1,940)

OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) 823 969

OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) (EBIT) 823 969

Financial income 130 67
Dividends from investees 3 (p) 0
Other financial income (n) 127 (n) 67

Financial expenses (o) (242) (o) (245)

Financial expenses from discounting of provisions (p) (13) (p) (5)

Other financial expenses (q) (229) (q) (240)

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) - -

FINANCIAL INCOME/(EXPENSES) (112) (178)

Financial expenses, net of financial income (112) (178)

Share of profit/(loss) of investees accounted for

using the equity method
(r) 1

(r)
1 (r) 1 (r) 1

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 712 712 792 792

Income tax (expense)/benefit (192) (192) (239) (239)

Current tax expense (152) (157)

Differences on tax expense for previous years -1 -

Deferred tax income and expense (39) (82)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 520 520 553 553

Proft/(Loss) from discontinued operations -               -               -              -               

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 520 520 553 553

of which:

 Profit/(Loss) for the period attributable to owners of the parent 515 515 541 541

 Profit/(Loss) for the period attributable to non-controlling interests 5 5 12 12

€m H1 2025 H1 2024

Reported basis Reclassified basis Reported basis Reclassified basis
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RECONCILICATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
WITH THE RECLASSIFIED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

  

 

 

  

€m

Reconciliation of items

Ref. Main entires Ref. Sub-items Main entries Ref. Main entires Ref. Sub-items Main entries

Property, plant and equipment (a) 279 279 (a) 271 271

Intangible assets (b) 18,359 18,359 (b) 17,881 17,881

Investments (c) 57 57 (c) 11 11

Deferred tax assets (d) 139 139 (d) 136 136

Other non-financial assets (e) -                       -                       (e) -                       -                      

Total non-financial assets (A) 18,834 18,299

Trading assets (f) 914 914 (f) 879 879

Trading liabilities (g) (1,990) (1,990) (g) (1,972) (1,972)

Current tax assets/(liabilities), net (h+i) (16) (h+i) (61)

Current tax assets (h) 136 (h) 11

Current tax liabilities (i) (152) (i) (72)

Other assets/(liabilities), net (j+k) (394) (j+k) (351)

Other assets (j) 120 (j) 113

Other liabilities (k) (514) (k) (464)

Net working capital (B) (1,486) (1,505)

Gross invested capital (C=A+B) 17,348 16,794

Provisions (l+m) (2,476) (l+m) (2,556)

Current provisions (l) (520) (l) (495)

Non-current provisions (m) (1,956) (m) (2,061)

Deferred tax liabilities (n) (756) (756) (n) (717) (717)

Other non-financial liabilities (o) (28) (28) (o) (26) (26)

Non-financial liabilities (D) (3,260) (3,299)

Non-financial assets/liabilities included in disposal groups (E) (p) 0 (p) 11

NET INVESTED CAPITAL (F=C+D+E) 14,088 13,506

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 3,032 3,032 3,288 3,288

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 319 319 300 300

Total equity (G) 3,351 3,351 3,588 3,588

Net debt (H) (q+r+s+t+u-y-w-x) 10,737 (q+r+s+t+u-y-w-x) 9,918

Non-current financial liabilities (q) 10,339 (q) 10,400

Non-current financial assets (r) (272) (r) (268)

Current financial liabilities (s) 2,247 (s) 1,380

Cash and cash equivalents (t) (1,442) (t) (1,433)

Cash (1,252) (1,222)

Cash equivalents (190) (211)

Current financial assets (u) (135) (u) (153)

NET DEBT AND EQUITY (I=G+H) 14,088 13,506

Assets held for sale (v) 0 (v) 28

Non-financial assets held for sale - 17

Financial assets held for sale - non-current assets (y) - (y) -

Cash and cash equivalents

related to discontinued operations
(w) - (w) 11

Liabilities held for sale (z) - (z) (9)

Non-financial liabilities held for sale - (6) -

Financial liabilities held for sale (x) - (x) (3) (z)

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS (a+b+c+d+e-r) 19,106 (a+b+c+d+e-r) 18,567

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS (f+h+j-t-u+v) 2,747 (f+h+j-t-u+v) 2,617

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES (-m-n-o+q) 13,079 (-m-n-o+q) 13,204

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES (-g-i-k-l+s-z) 5,423 (-g-i-k-l+s-z) 4,392

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Reported basis Reclassified basis Reported basis Reclassified basis
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LIKE-FOR-LIKE FINANCIAL INDICATORS  

 

The following table shows the like-for-like consolidated amounts for gross operating profit (EBITDA), 
profit/(loss) for the period, profit/(loss) for the period attributable to owners of the parent and operating 
cash flow for the two comparative periods and the corresponding amounts derived from the reclassified 
financial statements in section 2.2, “Group financial review”. 

 

 

Notes: 

The term "like-for-like basis", used in the description of changes in certain consolidated financial performance indicators, means that 

amounts for comparative periods have been determined by excluding the following: 

1) the after-tax impact of the difference in the discount rates applied to the provisions accounted for among the Group’s liabilities; 

2) from amounts for the first half of 2024, the impact on operating cash flow of the effects of the exemption from taxation of off-

balance sheet amortisation of goodwill attributable to Autostrade per l’Italia. 

 

HIGHLIGHTS BY OPERATING SEGMENT 

To provide an appropriate basis for assessing performance taking into account the nature of the business and 
the organisational structures of the various areas of business, the following operating segments have been 
identified within the Autostrade per l’Italia Group:  

a. Motorways: includes the activities of the Group’s motorway operators; 

b. Engineering and construction: includes the activities involved in the design, construction and 
maintenance of infrastructure;  

c. Technology and innovation: includes the activities linked to (i) the creation of new free flow tolling 
platforms, (ii) the installation of digital infrastructure for smart roads and intelligent service areas, (iii) 
the development of an innovative system for monitoring infrastructure, and (iv) sustainable mobility 
services;  

d. Other services: primarily includes the services provided by Youverse, Ad Moving and Giovia to other 
Group companies.  

 

Further information on the performance of the operating segments and of the companies included in the 
segments is provided in section 2.3 “Operating segments ”.  

€m

Gross 

operating 

profit 

(EBITDA)

Profit for the 

period

Profit for the 

period 

attributable to 

the Group

FFO- 

Operating 

Cash Flow 

Gross 

operating 

profit 

(EBITDA)

Profit for the 

period

Profit for the 

period 

attributable to 

the Group

FFO- 

Operating 

Cash Flow 

Reported amounts (A) 1,277 520 515 845 1,355 553 541 842

Adjustments for non like-for-like items

Change in discount rate applied to provisions (12) (14) (14) - 99 70 70 -

Off-balance sheet amortisation of goodwill - - - - - - - 8

Sub-total (B) (12) (14) (14) - 99 70 70 8

Like-for-like amounts (C) = (A)-(B) 1,289 534 529 845 1,256 483 471 834

H1 2025 H1 2024
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3.2 Related party transactions 
Information on related party transactions is provided in note 27.d), “Related party transactions”, in the 
condensed interim consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 7 278,893 271,196

Property, plant and equipment 278,827 271,040

Investment property 66 156

Intangible assets 8 18,359,460 17,881,349

Intangible assets deriving from concession rights 12,059,508 11,584,399

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives 6,128,735 6,129,371

Other intangible assets 171,217 167,579

Investments 9 57,031 10,843

Investments accounted for at fair value 4,885 4,885

Investments accounted for using the equity method 52,146 5,958

Non-current financial assets 10 272,238 267,453

Non-current financial assets deriving from government grants 102,332 103,162

Non-current term deposits 98,084 98,352

Securities 48,835 48,418

Non-current derivative assets 3,237 50

Other non-current financial assets 19,750 17,471

Deferred tax assets 23 138,605 136,146

Other non-current assets 257 300

Total non-current assets 19,106,484 18,567,287

Current assets

Trading assets 11 914,411 878,654

Inventories 160,277 158,264

Contract work in progress 102,811 70,413

Trade receivables 651,323 649,977

Cash and cash equivalents 12 1,442,176 1,433,441

Cash 1,252,147 1,222,412

Cash equivalents 190,029 211,029

Current financial assets 10 134,654 152,768

Current financial assets deriving from concession rights 14,368 14,368

Current financial assets deriving from government grants 49,514 54,299

Current term deposits 43,133 42,833

Current portion of medium/long-term financial assets 11,998 20,600

Other current financial assets 15,641 20,668

Current tax assets 23 135,554 11,730

Other current assets 11 119,373 113,718

Assets held for sale 13 343 27,710                     

Total current assets 2,746,511 2,618,021

TOTAL ASSETS 21,852,995 21,185,308

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

€000 Note 30 June 2025 31 December 2024
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 3,031,676 3,288,334

Issued capital 622,027 622,027

Reserves and retained earnings 1,895,481 1,609,857

Profit/(Loss) for the period 514,168 1,056,450

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 319,420 299,902

Issued capital and reserves 313,996 291,144

Profit/(Loss) for the period 5,424 8,758

Total equity 14 3,351,096 3,588,236

Non-current liabilities

Non-current provisions 15 1,955,723 2,061,966

Non-current provisions for employee benefits 78,209 86,080

Non-current provisions for repair and replacement of motorway infrastructure 854,009 874,312

Non-current provisions for renewal of motorway infrastructure 87,474 80,665

Other non-current provisions for risks and charges 936,031 1,020,909

Non-current financial liabilities 16 10,338,932 10,398,949

Bond issues 8,044,240 8,277,759

Medium/long-term borrowings 2,230,753 2,060,937

Non-current derivative liabilities 55,606 51,920

Other non-current financial liabilities 8,333 8,333

Deferred tax liabilities 23 755,558 716,569

Other non-current iabilities 17 28,997 27,187

Total non-current liabilities 13,079,210 13,204,671

Current liabilities

Trading liabilities 17 1,989,553 1,972,077

Trade payables 1,989,553 1,972,077

Current provisions 15 520,048 494,102

Current provisions for employee benefits 22,191 23,771

Current provisions for repair and replacement of motorway infrastructure 203,732 201,713

Current provisions for renewal of motorway infrastructure 12,043 10,113

Other current provisions for risks and charges 282,082 258,505

Current financial liabilities 16 2,246,943 1,380,281

Short-term borrowings 27,499 -

Current portion of medium/long-term financial liabilities 2,076,371 1,378,961

Other current financial liabilities 143,073 1,320

Current tax liabilities 23 152,124 72,310

Other current liabilities 17 514,021 464,269

Liabilities held for sale 13 - 9,362

Total current liabilities 5,422,689 4,392,401

TOTAL LIABILITIES 18,501,899 17,597,072

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 21,852,995 21,185,308

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

€000 Note 30 June 2025 31 December 2024
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

€000 Note H1 2025 H1 2024

REVENUE

Toll revenue 18 1,939,749 1,886,906

Revenue from construction services 18 880,494 807,826

Other operating income 18 224,055 214,135

TOTAL REVENUE 3,044,298 2,908,867

COSTS

Raw and consumable materials 19 (167,732) (150,117)

Service costs 19 (920,396) (852,471)

Gain/(Loss) on sale of elements of property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets
1,008 273

Staff costs 19 (416,675) (388,009)

Other operating costs 19 (279,666) (269,559)

Concession fees (234,727) (231,514)

Lease expenses (12,133) (7,287)

Other (32,806) (30,758)

Operating change in provisions 20 7,958 105,206

(Provisions)/Uses of provisions for repair and replacement of motorway 25,355 53,063

(Provisions)/Uses of provisions for renewal of motorway infrastructure (7,974) 2,152

(Provisions)/Uses of provisions for risks and charges (9,423) 49,991

Amortisation and depreciation 21 (445,836) (382,215)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (30,892) (23,385)

Amortisation of intangible assets deriving from concession rights (393,957) (331,758)

Amortisation of other intangible assets (20,987) (27,072)

(Impairment losses)/Reversals of impairment losses (287) (2,753)

TOTAL COSTS (2,221,626) (1,939,645)

OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) 822,672 969,222

Financial income 130,446 66,914

Dividends from investees 2,660 -

Other financial income 127,786 66,914

Financial expenses (241,930) (245,443)

Financial expenses from discounting of provisions (13,180) (5,179)

Other financial expenses (228,750) (240,264)

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) (367) 91

FINANCIAL INCOME/(EXPENSES) 22 (111,851) (178,438)

Share of (profit)/loss of investees accounted for using the equity method 9 677 1,260

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 711,498 792,044

Income tax (expense)/benefit 23 (191,906) (238,936)

Current tax expense (151,834) (157,052)

Differences on current tax expense for previous years (1,049) (417)

Deferred tax income and expense (39,023) (81,467)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 519,592 553,108

Profit/(Loss) from discontinued operations - -

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 519,592 553,108

of which:

 Profit/(Loss) for the period attributable to owners of the parent 514,168 540,740

 Profit/(Loss) for the period attributable to non-controlling interests 5,424 12,368
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Profit/(Loss) for the period (A) 519,592 553,108

Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 3,941 23,962

Tax effect of fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges (945) (5,779)

Gains/(Losses) from translation of assets and liabilities of 

of consolidated companies with functional currencies other than the euro
3 191

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 

reclassifiable to profit or loss for the period
(B) 2,999 18,374

Gains/(losses) from actuarial valuations of provisions for employee benefits (167) -

Tax effect of gains/(losses) from actuarial valuations of provisions for employee 

benefits
239 -

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

not reclassifiable to profit or loss for the period
(C) 72 -

Other reclassifications of other comprehensive income/(losses) to profit or loss 

for the period
(13,137) (11,371)

Tax effect of other reclassifications of other comprehensive income/(losses) to 

profit or loss for the period
3,153 2,729

Reclassifications of other components of comprehensive 

income to profit or loss for the period
(D) (9,984) (8,642)

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period (E=B+C+D) (6,913) 9,732

of which attributable to assets held for sale - -

Comprehensive income/(loss) for the period (A+E) 512,679 562,840

Of which attributable to owners of the parent 507,258 550,472

Of which attributable to non-controlling interests 5,421 12,368

€000 Note H1 2025 H1 2024
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Issued 

capital

Cash flow hedge 

reserve

Reserve for 

translation 

differences on 

translation of assets 

and liabilities of 

consolidated 

companies with 

functional 

currencies other 

than the euro

Reserve for 

translation of 

investments 

accounted for 

using the equity 

method 

denominated in 

functional 

currencies other 

than the euro 

Other reserves 

and retained 

earnings

Interim 

dividend

Profit/(Loss) for 

the period
Total 

EQUITY 

ATTRIBUTABLE

TO NON-

CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

TOTAL

EQUITY 

ATTRIBUTABLE 

TO OWNERS

OF THE PARENT 

AND NON-

CONTROLLING 

INTERESTS

622,027 262,928 352 150 1,276,423 (434,175) 877,893 2,605,598 309,405 2,915,003

- 9,691 191 (150) - - 540,740 550,472 12,368 562,840

Interim dividend paid by Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 

for 2023

Transfer of remaining profit/(loss) for

previous year to retained earnings
- - - - 92,273 434,175 (526,448) - - -

Dividends paid by Autostrade per l'Italia - - - - - - (351,445) (351,445) - (351,445)

Dividends paid by other Group companies to non-

controlling shareholders
- - - - - - - - (21,449) (21,449)

Other minor changes - - - - (3,168) - - (3,168) 3,179 11

622,027 272,619 543                            -   1,365,528 - 540,740 2,801,457 303,503 3,104,960

622,027 251,712 (163) - 1,358,308 - 1,056,450 3,288,334 299,902 3,588,236

- (6,989) 3 - 76 - 514,168 507,258 5,421 512,679

Transfer of remaining profit/(loss) for

previous year to retained earnings
- - - - 266,476 - (266,476) - - -

Dividends paid by Autostrade per l'Italia - - - - - - (789,974) (789,974) - (789,974)

Dividends paid by other Group companies to non-

controlling shareholders
- - - - - - - - - -

Change in scope of consolidation - - - - 25,854 - - 25,854 14,099 39,953

Other minor changes - - - - 204 - - 204 (2) 202

622,027 244,723 (160) - 1,650,918 - 514,168 3,031,676 319,420 3,351,096

Balance as at 30 June 2024

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED EQUITY

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

€000

Balance as at 31 December 2023

Comprehensive income/(loss) for the period

Owner transactions and other changes

Balance as at 31 December 2024

Comprehensive income/(loss) for the period

Owner transactions and other changes

Balance as at 30 June 2025
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€000 Note H1 2025 H1 2024

Profit/(loss) for the period 519,592 553,108

Ajusted by:

Amortisation and depreciation 445,836 382,215

Operating change in provisions, excluding uses of provisions 

for renewal of motorway infrastructure
(90,529) (185,020)

22 13,180 5,179

9 (677) (1,260)

Dividends received from investees accounted for using the equity 

method  
238 169

(543) 2,753

(85,740) (273)

23 39,023 81,467

Other non-cash costs (income) 5,006 3,525

(16,687) (68,805)

12 828,699 773,058

(880,574) (810,650)

7 (19,398) (26,090)

8 (24,681) (35,464)

8 10,740 7,714

Government grants for other property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets and other changes
1,056 2,917

87,105 517

43 (73)

- (6,000)

16,605 199,564

12 (809,104) (667,565)

Dividends paid to shareholders by  Autostrade per l'Italia 14 (648,152) (351,445)

14 - (21,231)

16 511,423 989,876

16 234,756 599,800

16 - (1,000,000)

16 (72,429) (1,155,613)

16 (9,424) (6,250)

(37,949) (107,117)

12 (21,775) (1,051,980)

(85) (38)

12 (2,265) (946,525)

1,444,441 2,197,637

1,442,176 1,251,112

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Financial expenses from discounting of provisions

Share of (profit)/loss of investees accounted for using the equity method

Impairment losses/(Reversal of impairment losses) and adjustments of                                                                               

current and non-current assets

(Gains)/Losses on sale of non-current assets

Net change in deferred tax (assets)/liabilities through profit or loss

Change in working capital and other charges

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities [a]

Net change in other non-current assets

Investment in assets held under concession

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Purchases of other intangible assets

Government grants related to assets held under concession

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and 

unconsolidated investments

Repayments of medium/long term borrowings 

Net cash transferred as part of corporate transactions

Net change in current and non-current financial assets

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities [b]

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid by the Group to non-controlling shareholders

Issuance of bonds

Increase in medium/long-term borrowings 

(excluding lease liabilities)

Redemption of bonds

Repayments of lease liabilities

Net change in other current and non-current financial liabilities

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities [c]

Net effect of foreign exchange rate movements on net cash and cash 

equivalents [d]

Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents [a+b+c+d]

NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD

NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD
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Income taxes paid/(reimbursed) 23 194,196 122,107

Interest and other financial income collected 37,868 45,724

Interest expense and other financial expenses paid 94,982 162,049

Dividends collected 2,660 -

Foreign exchange gains collected 49 179

Foreign exchange losses incurred 13 104

NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 1,444,441 2,197,637

Cash and cash equivalents 1,433,441 2,203,585

Bank overdrafts repayable on demand - (11,000)

Cash and cash equivalents related to assets held for sale 13 11,000 5,052

NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 1,442,176 1,251,112

Cash and cash equivalents 1,442,176 1,251,412

Bank overdrafts repayable on demand - (300)

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

€000 Note H1 2025 H1 2024

RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

€000 Note H1 2025 H1 2024
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NOTES  
 
Note 1 
 
Introduction 

The core business of the Autostrade per l’Italia Group (“the Group”) is the operation of motorways under 
concessions granted by the relevant authorities. Under the related concession arrangements, the Group’s operators 
are responsible for the construction, management, improvement and upkeep of motorway infrastructure in Italy. 
Further information on the Group’s concession arrangements is provided in note 4, “Concession arrangements”. 

The Parent Company, Autostrade per l’Italia SpA (“Autostrade per l’Italia”, “the Company”, “the Parent Company” 
or “ASPI”) is a public limited company incorporated in 2003. The Company’s core business is the operation of Italian 
motorways under a concession granted by the Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport (the “MIT”), which assumed 
the role of Grantor previously fulfilled by ANAS SpA (Italy’s Highways Agency) from 1 October 2012. 

   The Parent Company’s registered office is at Via Bergamini, 50 in Rome and it does not have branch offices. The 
duration of the Company is until 31 December 2050. 

88.06% of the Company’s share capital is held by Holding Reti Autostradali SpA (also referred to as “HRA”). HRA is a 
holding company owned by CDP Equity SpA (51%), BP Miro (Lux) SCSp (21.85%), BIP-V Miro (Lux) SCSp (2.65%) and 
Italian Motorway Holdings Sàrl (24.5%). HRA is the ultimate parent of Autostrade per l’Italia and is responsible for 
management and coordination of the Company. None of the shareholders manages or coordinates HRA either 
directly or through parent companies. 

It should be noted that the Company is exempted from the obligation to publish an interim half-year report, which 
has thus been prepared on a voluntary basis. These condensed interim consolidated financial statements as at and 
for the six months ended 30 June 2025 were approved by Autostrade per l’Italia’s Board of Directors at its meeting 
held on 24 July 2025, which also authorised their publication.  

 
Note 2 
 

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements  

The condensed interim consolidated financial statements as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2025 have 
been prepared on a going concern basis. 

The condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), above all with regard to IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” (relating to the 
content of interim reports), issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the interpretations issued 
by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), in addition to previous International 
Accounting Standards (IAS) and previous interpretations issued by the Standard Interpretations Committee (SIC) and 
still in force. The standards and interpretations used have been endorsed by the European Commission. For the sake 
of simplicity, all the above standards and interpretations are hereinafter referred to as “IFRS”.  

The condensed interim consolidated financial statements consist of the consolidated accounts (the statement of 
financial position, income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and 
statement of cash flows) and these notes. The Group has applied IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements and, 
in general, the historic cost convention, with the exception of those items that are required by IFRS to be recognised 
at fair value, as explained in the notes to the relevant items described in note 3, “Accounting standards and policies 
applied”, in the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024, to which 
reference should be made. Compared with the consolidated annual report, the consolidated interim financial 
statements have been prepared in condensed form, as permitted by IAS 34. For a more complete description, these 
condensed interim consolidated financial statements should, therefore, be read in conjunction with the consolidated 
financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024. In addition, no new accounting standards or 
interpretations, nor amendments to existing standards or interpretations, with an impact on individual items in the 
consolidated financial statements have come into effect during the first half of 2025. 
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The statement of financial position is based on the format that separately discloses current and non-current assets 
and liabilities. The income statement and the statement of comprehensive income are classified by nature of 
expense. The statement of comprehensive income, starting from the result for the period, shows the impact of gains 
and losses recognised directly in equity in application of IFRS. The statement of changes in equity presents changes 
during the period in the individual components of equity, whilst the statement of cash flows has been prepared in 
application of the indirect method.  

IFRS have been applied in accordance with the indications provided in the “Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting”, and no events have occurred that would require exemptions pursuant to paragraph 19 of IAS 1. 

All amounts are shown in thousands of euros, unless otherwise stated. The euro is both the functional currency of 
the Parent Company and its principal subsidiaries and the presentation currency for these condensed interim 
consolidated financial statements.  

Each item in the financial statements is compared with the corresponding amount for the previous reporting period. 
In this regard, it should be noted that the comparative amounts for the first half of 2024 shown in the income 
statement, statement of comprehensive income and statement of cash flows have been restated with respect to 
those previously published in the condensed interim consolidated financial statements as at and for the six months 
ended 30 June 2024. This has been done to reflect the effects of the suspension of amortisation of the concession 
rights of the subsidiary, RAV, with effect from the financial statements for 2024. 

There were no non-recurring, atypical or unusual transactions, either with third or related parties, in the comparative 
periods. 

In making its judgements, management gave careful consideration to the significant risks connected with climate 
change, and to the impact of the current macroeconomic scenario on refinancing risks and on other financial risks. 

The current process of climate change constitutes a risk factor with the potential to cause different forms of damage 
(e.g., impact on reputation, the value of assets, access to financial markets, operating costs and on the transition to 
a low-carbon economy). The Group also continuously monitors the effects of the current macroeconomic scenario 
on its refinancing risks and other financial risks to assess the potential impacts, without so far having identified 
critical issues in this regard. 

 

Note 3 
 

Accounting standards and policies applied  

As previously stated in note 2, the accounting standards and policies applied in preparation of the condensed interim 
consolidated financial statements as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2025 are consistent with those applied 
in preparation of the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024.  

Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024, to which 
reference should be made, provides a detailed description of the accounting standards and policies applied.  

The consolidation criteria and methods used in the preparation of the condensed interim consolidated financial 
statements as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2025 are those applied in the consolidated financial 
statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024. 

The amendments to IAS 21 – The Effects of Changes in Exchange Rates came into effect from 1 January 2025. The 
amendments have introduced clarification on how to apply the standard if an entity carries out transactions in 
foreign currencies in markets in which there is a lack of exchangeability. These amendments have not had an impact 
on individual items in the condensed interim consolidated financial statements. 

As provided for in the IFRS, preparation of financial statements in application if IFRS involves the use of estimates 
and judgements, which are reflected in the measurement of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and in the 
disclosures provided in the notes to the financial statements, including contingent assets and liabilities at the end of 
the reporting period. These estimates are primarily used in determining amortisation and depreciation, in the 
impairment testing of assets (including financial assets) and in estimating provisions, employee benefits, the fair 
value of financial assets and liabilities, the percentage of completion of the performance of services that generate 
revenue and current and deferred tax assets and liabilities. 
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The estimate of the above provisions is by its nature complex and subject to a high degree of uncertainty. This is 
because it may be influenced by a range of variables and assumptions, including technical assumptions regarding 
the scheduling and nature of work on the repair, replacement and renewal of individual components of 
infrastructure. Key assumptions regard the duration of maintenance cycles, the state of repair of assets and the 
projected costs for each type of intervention. 

The amounts subsequently recognised may, therefore, differ from these estimates. Moreover, these estimates and 
judgements are periodically reviewed and updated, and the resulting effects of each change immediately recognised 
in the financial statements. 

 
Note 4 
 
Concession arrangements and regulatory developments during the period 
As stated above, the Group’s core business is the operation of motorways under concessions held by Group 
companies, under which they are responsible for the construction, management, improvement and upkeep of 
motorway infrastructure. Key information on the concessions is provided in note 4, “Concessions”, in the 
consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024. 

Reference should be made to the Integrated Annual Report for 2024 for information on key regulatory aspects for 
Group companies. This section provides a description of updates or new developments occurring through to the 
date of approval of this Interim Report for the six months ended 30 June 2025. 

Update of Autostrade per l’Italia’s Financial Plan 

The regulatory period 2020-2024, governed by the previous Financial Plan for Autostrade per l’Italia (“ASPI”), came 
to an end on 31 December 2024. In this regard, after initial talks with the Grantor (the Ministry of Infrastructure and 
Transport or “MIT”), on 25 July 2024, the Company submitted a proposal for the updated Financial Plan in keeping 
with the existing tariff framework. Under the related legislation, the Grantor was expected to approve the new 
Financial Plan by 31 December 20241. 

ASPI’s proposed Financial Plan includes an updated preliminary estimate of the amount to be invested in concession 
assets between 2020 and 2038, amounting to approximately €36 billion. It reflects significant changes to the 
macroeconomic and regulatory environment, as well as the need for certain additional investment.  

On 9 August 2024, the Chief of Staff at the Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport notified the creation of Technical 
Committee to assess the investment plans included in the proposed updates of the financial plans submitted by 
motorway operators. 

On 3 June 2025, the Grantor sent ASPI an extract of the final report prepared by the Technical Committee. With 
regard to the differences with regard to the existing Financial Plan, the Committee deemed the projects included in 
the proposed update to the Financial Plan to be eligible and only certain categories of network modernisation work 
to be partially admissible. The Committee is generally in agreement with regard to the major impact of rising 
commodity prices, the highly unstable geopolitical situation and demands from other bodies and local authorities, 
and the related need to make changes to projects. None of these factors are within the operator’s control, within 
the meaning set out in the existing regulatory framework and concession arrangement. However, whilst deeming 
most categories of expenditure to be eligible, the Committee is critical of the cost increases linked to the application 
of the new technical standards that have come into force in the intervening years. Such cost increases are backed 
up by a copious amount of detailed documentation, which has been certified by external bodies and was presented 
by the operator during meetings with the Committee. The Committee believes that, with regard to only certain 
categories of network modernisation work (with regard to which changes in the related costs in the proposed plan 
submitted last year amount to €8 billion), the operator has incorrectly costed investment and maintenance works. 

 

1 On 29 June 2024, Law Decree 89 was published, containing “urgent measures on infrastructure and investment of strategic 

interest, criminal proceedings and matters relating to sport”. This has added paragraph 3-bis to art. 13 of Law Decree 

162/2019, providing that “by 31 July 2024, operators whose five-year regulatory period expires in 2024 must bring forward 

proposals for the update of the financial plans”. In addition, the Law Decree states that this update “must be finalised by, at 

the latest, 31 December 2024”. 
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According to the Committee, in the Financial Plan approved in 2022, the Company underestimated the impact of the 
higher costs resulting from the application of the new standards that had come into force since the previous plan. 
Finally, the Committee’s report does not clarify or define the amount of investment considered eligible but only 
partially admissible for the purposes of setting tolls, explicitly referring responsibility for “final determination of the 
amount” to the Grantor.  

On 23 July 2025, ASPI received a letter from the Grantor, in which the MIT states that it is “sending back the 
proposed” Financial Plan submitted in July 2024. The letter refers to “the impossibility of proceeding with further 
assessment” of the proposal and states that, in this way, “the Operator will have the opportunity to submit a new 
proposal for its Financial Plan taking into account the content of the above report” (prepared by Technical Committee 
established by the MIT on 9 August 2024), “as well as the outcome of talks with the relevant departments within this 
Ministry in recent months”. In conclusion, the letter reiterates “the need to proceed with the process of updating the 
concession arrangement as required by the legislation and regulations in force, thereby adopting and bringing into 
effect the new Financial Plan for the regulatory period in question. We await the submission of this new proposal 
from the Operator, confirming the Directorate General’s willingness to continue to engage efficiently and in a spirit 
of collaboration”. In this regard, it should be noted that this letter neither clarifies nor quantifies the value of the 
investment considered eligible but partially inadmissible for the purposes of setting tolls, as called for in the 
Technical Committee’s report. As a result, the objections raised and the Grantor’s requests have currently led to a 
situation of unpredictability and uncertainty and do not provide a sufficient basis on which to prepare a new plan. 
The Company, assisted by external experts, is in any event convinced that it has acted correctly and that the 
estimated expenditure commitments included in the Financial Plan submitted in July last year are accurate. In this 
regard, on 23 July, ASPI sent the Grantor a message highlighting and clarifying the Company’s reasons why the 
Technical Committee’s objections are not considered acceptable. 

Talks with the Grantor are ongoing as part of the approval process for the new Financial Plan, which may include 
expenditure commitments that differ (perhaps significantly) from those in the plan submitted in July last year. 

 

Update of the financial plans of other operators   

Raccordo Autostradale Valle d’Aosta (“RAV”), Società Autostrada Tirrenica (“SAT”) and Tangenziale di Napoli 

(“TANA) have also entered into talks with the Grantor to negotiate new financial plans2, following expiry of their 
regulatory periods on 31 December 2023. These talks are still in progress, bearing in mind that assessment of the 
related investment plans by the above Technical Committee is still under way. As described in the Integrated Annual 
Report for 2024, in March, the Grantor rejected the proposals for the updated financial plans submitted by RAV and 
TANA, essentially due to the inclusion of toll increases deemed to be not affordable for road users. Despite this, “in 
order to complete the procedure for updating the financial plan for the relevant regulatory period within a 
determinate timeframe”, the MIT convened a series of meetings with the companies at its offices as part of efforts 
to arrive at the submission of a new proposal for their financial plans. In this regard, on 12 May 2025, TANA and RAV 
filed legal challenges over the failure to approve their financial plans, despite the fact that talks with the Grantor are 
ongoing. 

With regard to SAT, the Grantor sent the company an extract of the final report prepared by the above Technical 
Committee, which states that the projects in the investment plans are broadly deemed to be all eligible and 
admissible for the purposes of setting tolls, with the exception of three projects. In this case, the Committee deemed 
the documentation submitted to be insufficient to be able properly assess their admissibility, but “that they are of 
marginal importance in financial terms”. As regards the proposed update of the Financial Plan, based on the specific 
indications arising during talks with the Grantor, the Company is drawing up a new proposal that includes the same 
conditions for financial feasibility as the previous plan, but with a remodulation of the mechanisms for ensuring 
feasibility (for example, cuts to grants and an increase in the value of takeover rights), broadly leaving capital and 
maintenance expenditure unchanged. This new proposal will be submitted shortly. 

 

2 Law Decree 215 of 30 December 2023 (the Milleproroghe Decree of 2023) established that operators whose five-year regulatory period had 

already expired must submit proposals for the update of their financial plans by 30 March 2024. The Decree also required updates to be 

finalised by 31 December 2024. 



 

 

51

With regard to TANA and RAV, on the other hand, given the rejection of the financial plan, no observations from the 
above Technical Committee have been received. 

With regard to the update of TANA’s financial plan, following the above rejection of the previous proposal, and as 
suggested by the Grantor, on 17 July 2025, the company submitted a new update/review proposal (drawn up in 
accordance with ART Determination 79/2019) for the Financial Plan and the Regulatory Financial Plan for the five-
year period 2024-2028. This was accompanied by the proposal for a III Addendum to the company’s Concession 
Arrangement and the related annexes. Compared with the previous proposal, the new proposal envisages: 

 a reduction in the value of projects in the investment plan, taking into account recent events and changes 
in legislation, and providing for: (i) construction services considered urgent under the legal obligations 
deriving from the Motorway Tunnel Upgrade Plan and (ii) the completion of work on the upgrade of 
viaducts, including improvements to their ability to withstand seismic activity, in view of renewed 
bradyseism in the Campi Flegrei area; 

 a remodulation of the approach to toll setting to make tolls more affordable for road users, in part by 
introducing a more sustainable takeover right capable of ensuring financial feasibility. 

Finally, with regard to RAV, talks are continuing with the Grantor on a new proposal for its financial plan. 

Toll increases granted for 2025 

Operator Toll increase 2025 

Autostrade per l’Italia 1.80%

Tangenziale di Napoli 0.00%

Autostrade Tirrenica 0.00%

Raccordo Autostradale Valle d’Aosta 0.00%

Società Italiana per Azioni per il Traforo del Monte Bianco 1.35%

 

In accordance with the III Addendum to the Single Concession Arrangement of 2007 and ART Determination 71 of 
2019, ASPI proposed a toll increase of 2.79% for 2025, taking into account the lapse of the discounts for all road 
users applied under the Settlement Agreement of 14 October 2021 as the related commitment has been fulfilled. 
The interministerial MIT/MEF Decree of 31 December 2024 granted the Company a toll increase of 1.80%, 
corresponding with the planned inflation rate for 2025, in compliance with Law 193/2024, containing “Measures 
relating to the reform of motorway concessions”. As directed by the Grantor, the discounts for all road users 
continued to be applied until 30 June 2025 to ensure that any toll increases were affordable. This was paid for from 
other provisions for charges made following the Settlement Agreement of October 2021. At the end of this period 
and, therefore, from 1 July 2025, the Company applied a toll increase of 1.31%, based on the MIT’s 
acknowledgement of the communication sent by the Company, in which it noted the cessation of the above 
discounts. 

As regards the other operators, no toll increases were granted for 2025 in response to proposed increases of 0.72% 
for Tangenziale di Napoli, 22.41% for RAV and 3.18% for SAT, calculated in line with the financial plans submitted to 
the Grantor, drawn up on the basis of ART’s tariff framework. The Grantor specified that “ART has confirmed the 
earlier approach under which no toll increases are to be granted to operators whose regulatory periods have expired, 
as the process of updating the respective financial plans must have been completed”. Following the failure to grant 
any toll increase for 2025, TANA, SAT and RAV filed a legal challenge to the MIT’s decision on 3 March 2025. 

Developments in ART’s approach to the tariff frameworks for tolls   
following its assessment of the impact of regulation on the method used to set tolls under the motorway concession 
arrangements, initiated with Determination 181/2023 and completed on 24 January 2024, ART has deemed it 
necessary to adjust the method. This will involve adopting operational indications (Determination 15/2024) and 
taking into account the potential need for amendments, to be submitted for public consultation, to reflect 
intervening changes in the sector. In 2024, following a series of investigations and fact-finding surveys, the regulator 
began the process of updating the tariff framework for tolls with Determination 62/2024, setting an initial deadline 
of 31 December 2024, which was later extended.  
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On 15 May 2025, ART issued Determination 74/2025 announcing a consultation on the new tariff framework for tolls 
for new concessions awarded from 1 January 2025. Determination 75/2025 also announced a consultation on the 
new tariff framework for tolls for motorway concessions awarded up to 31 December 2024, including those of ASPI 
and its subsidiaries. Following a request for a delay from AISCAT, ART extended the deadline for conclusion of the 
consultation set in Determination 75/2025 until 16 July 2025 and set a deadline of 12 September 2025 for the 
conclusion of the process of reviewing the tariff framework for tolls. The same deadline has also been extended for 
the procedure referred to in Determination 74/2025. 

The document on which the consultation referred to in Determination 75/2025 is based foreshadows a radical 
change with respect to the existing tariff framework introduced by ART itself in 2019 and applied by ASPI in the III 
Addendum and the attached Financial Plan signed in 2022 for the regulatory period 2020-2024. There is, for example, 
a significant imbalance between the risks assumed and the level of remuneration available to the operator, whilst 
the conditions for financial feasibility have been toughened. In addition to the penalising effect of the remuneration 
of so-called figurative items and of any potential takeover right, in the latter case this includes the process of setting 
the allowed WACC which, as a result, would be significantly reduced.  

In response to Determination 75/2025, ASPI, also acting on behalf of its subsidiaries, submitted its observations on 
the consultation on 16 July 2025. Given the above issues, however, on 14 July 2025, the Company also notified the 
counterparties that it has filed a legal challenge against the above ART determination before the Regional 
Administrative Court.   

In addition to objecting to the above changes on their merits, ASPI’s challenge also accuses ART of exceeding its 
powers, which are limited to establishing a tariff framework that motorway operators must apply and verifying its 
effective application, whilst ART is currently intervening in areas that are the responsibility of the Grantor, such as, 
for example, with regard to decisions related to the elements to be included in considerations regarding financial 
feasibility. 

Determination regarding the minimum rights of road users 
With regard to ART Determination 132, published on 27 September 2024, introducing “measures concerning the 
minimum rights of users of the services provided by motorway operators and by service providers operating on the 
motorway network, including compensation”, on 25 October 2024, AISCAT (the Italian association of toll road and 
tunnel operators) requested the regulator to reconsider the measures, arguing that certain measures should be 
removed and/or amended. At the same time, AISCAT sent the regulator a request for clarification on certain 
measures whose interpretation lacks clarity, requesting a specific meeting. 

Following ART’s response and a closer examination of the issues, it was decided, as a sector, to challenge the 
Determination, with the related action filed by ASPI and its subsidiaries on 24 January 2025. 

Lastly, with regard to measures concerning the system for calculating toll refunds in the event of restrictions on the 
use of infrastructure and the related payment procedures, on 19 March 2025, ART published Determination 49, (i) 
launching a new consultation on Annex A, setting 30 April 2025 as the deadline for the submission of observations, 
(ii) setting 14 May 2025 as the date for a hearing at which observations were to be presented and (iii) extending the 
deadline for conclusion of the procedure until 31 July 2025. On 15 May, ASPI sent ART specific observations and 
proposals for changes to the text being consulted on. On 28 May, a hearing was held at the offices of ART in Turin, 
during which representatives of the parties participating in the consultation, including ASPI, presented their 
observations and proposals. 

Network Maintenance and Modernisation Plan for 2025 
During the first half of 2025, the MIT’s Local Inspectorate in Rome published the results of its assessment of the 
criteria used in drawing up the routine maintenance and modernisation programmes for 2025, noting a number of 
concerns. In this regard, ASPI responded to the Inspectorate’s concerns in a document dated 21 July. The Company 
stated its belief that it had acted correctly, noting that it had followed the long-standing, agreed approach for 
deciding on which projects to include in the programmes, as formally acknowledged by the Ministry’s Directorate 
General. This approach was also confirmed during meetings with the Ministry from 2023 on, held to jointly define 
the technical criteria to be applied to projects included in network modernisation programmes.  
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Note 5 
 
Scope of consolidation 

The consolidation policies and methods used for the condensed interim consolidated financial statements as 
at and for the six months ended 30 June 2025 are consistent with those used in preparation of the Integrated 
Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2024, to which reference should be made. 

The scope of consolidation as at 30 June 2025 differs from the scope as at 31 December 2024 following the sale of a 
stake in Free to X SpA to the Renault group, as described in greater detail below. 

The reporting packages in currencies other than the euro were converted using the exchange rates for the six months 
ended 30 June 2025 and for the comparative period published by the Bank of Italy and shown in the following table: 

                         

 

 

Note 6 
 
Corporate transactions during the period 

As previously indicated in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 
2024, following an extensive competitive process, in January 2025, the Group, through its subsidiary Free To X Srl, 
reached agreement with the Renault group - through its Mobilize brand – for the sale of a stake in the subsidiary, 
Free To X SpA, with the aim of further developing its e-mobility business beyond the motorway network. Under the 
agreement, the ASPI Group will retain control of the charging infrastructure and related services located on the 
Group’s motorway network. 

As a result, a share of Free to X SpA’s assets and liabilities, represented by the business unit responsible for activities 
outside the motorway network, was, from 31 December 2024, reclassified in accordance with IFRS 5 to specific items 
in “Assets and liabilities held for sale”. 

Following receipt of all the necessary clearances, on 12 May 2025, Free to X Srl completed the sale of a stake in Free 
To X SpA to the Renault group. The transaction was preceded by a partial, proportional demerger of Free To X SpA, 
which has retained ownership of the assets located on the motorway network operated by ASPI. This was 
accompanied by the creation of two new companies: 

a. Free To X – Mobilize Network SpA, to which the assets located outside the motorway network have been 
transferred; 

b. Free To X – Mobilize SpA, which will operate as a mobility service provider for both.  

On the same date, Free to X Srl sold the following to the Renault group for a total consideration of €97,500 thousand: 

a. a 49% stake in Free to X SpA; 

b. a 51% stake in Free To X – Mobilize Network SpA; 

c. a 50% stake and 51% of the economic and voting rights in Free To X – Mobilize SpA. 

Based on the assessment carried out, conducted on the basis of the requirements of IFRS 10, the transactions carried 
out and the agreements concluded with the Renault group mean that the Autostrade per l’Italia Group has retained 
control of the activities of Free To X SpA, but has lost control of the activities of Free To X – Mobilize Network SpA 
and Free To X – Mobilize SpA. 

This means that, with effect from 12 May 2025:  

Currency
Spot exchange rate at 

30 June

Average 

exchange rate H1

Spot exchange rate at 

31 December

Average exchange 

rate H1

Euro/Polish zloty 4,242 4,231 4,309 4,317

Euro/Mexican peso 22,090 21,804 19,565 18,509

2025 2024
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a. the assets and liabilities no longer under the Group’s control have been deconsolidated, accounting for the 
fair value of the acquired investments in the associates, Free To X Mobilize Network SpA and Free To X 
Mobilize SpA, in the statement of financial position, and recognising a gain of €84,732 thousand resulting 
from the transaction, represented by the net consideration received from Renault, in profit or loss, under 
the item “Other financial income”; 

b. the positive difference between the consideration paid by the Renault group and the pro-rated share of the 
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities sold, amounting to €25,901 thousand, has been recognised in 
changes in equity. 

 

Note 7 
 
Property, plant and equipment 

a. Amounts at the beginning and end of the period 

 
 

b. Changes during the period 

 

 
Note 8 
 
Intangible assets 

a. Amounts at the beginning and end of the period  

 

 

 

b. Changes during the period 

Cost
Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying 

amount
Cost

Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying 

amount

Property, plant and equipment 857,587 (578,760) 278,827 830,281 (559,241) 271,040

Investment property 871 (805) 66 871 (715) 156

Property, plant and equipment 858,458 (579,565) 278,893 831,152 (559,956) 271,196

€000

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Land 5,166 - - - - - 2 - - 5,168

Buildings 34,017 2,602 - (1,642) - (208) 1,090 - (368) 35,491

Plant and machinery 45,262 3,120 - (3,869) 829 (121) 4,678 - - 49,899

Industrial and business equipment 98,664 5,434 - (12,980) - (119) 7,045 40 - 98,084

Other assets 22,047 2,256 - (3,975) - - 374 9 - 20,711

Leasehold improvements 3,198 - - (208) - - - - - 2,990

Property, plant and equipment under construction and 

advance payments
25,708 5,986 - - - - (13,077) (1,066) - 17,551

Right to use land - - - (56) - - - 56 - -

Right to use buildings 26,991 - 4,557 (3,571) - 1 (579) (45) - 27,354

Right to use equipment and other leased assets 9,987 - 16,248 (4,501) - (73) (92) 10 - 21,579

Total property, plant and equipment 271,040 19,398 20,805 (30,802) 829 (520) (559) (996) (368) 278,827

Land 8 - - - - - - - - 8

Buildings 148 - - (90) - - - - - 58

Investment property 156 - - (90) - - - - - 66

Property, plant and equipment 271,196 19,398 20,805 (30,892) 829 (520) (559) (996) (368) 278,893

CHANGES DURING THE PERIOD

€000

Carrying amount

as at 31 December 

2024

Additions
Increase in right-

of-use assets
Depreciation Impairments

Reductions due to 

disposals

Carrying amount 

as at 30 June 2025

Reclassifications and 

other adjustments

 IFRS 5 

reclassifications

Reductions due 

to government 

grants

Cost
Accumulated 

amortisation

Accumulated 

impairments

Carrying 

amount
Cost

Accumulated 

amortisation

Accumulated 

impairments

Carrying 

amount

Intangible assets deriving from concession rights 17,167,774 (4,992,218) (116,048) 12,059,508 16,298,708 (4,598,261) (116,048) 11,584,399

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite 

lives
6,128,735 - - 6,128,735 6,129,371 - - 6,129,371

Other intangible assets 764,179 (592,962) - 171,217 739,555 (571,976) - 167,579

Total intangible assets 24,060,688 (5,585,180) (116,048) 18,359,460 23,167,634 (5,170,237) (116,048) 17,881,349

€000

30 June 2025 31 December 2024
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The increase of €478,111 thousand essentially refers to investment during the period, amounting to €905,175 
thousand (including €880,494 thousand in infrastructure, as reported in note 18, “Revenue”), partially offset by 
amortisation for the period (€414,944 thousand). 

 

c. Impairment test disclosure  

As required by IFRS, in preparing the condensed interim consolidated financial statements, an assessment was 
conducted to identify any events capable of triggering an impairment loss on one or more intangible assets, thereby 
requiring the conduct of an impairment test. 

For the purposes of identifying such trigger events, it was necessary to take into account the previously described 
developments in the regulatory environment during the first half of 2025. This particularly refers to the report by 
the Technical Committee, sent to the Grantor on 3 June of this year, on its assessment of investment plans presented 
by Autostrade per l'Italia for the purposes of renewal of its Financial Plan. The Grantor has requested that the 
content of the report be applied in preparing the new Financial Plan following the Grantor’s return of the version 
submitted by the Company in July 2024. The regulatory environment has also been affected by ART Determination 
75/2025, currently the subject of a consultation on the update of the tariff framework for motorway tolls, with a 
deadline set for 12 September 2025. Although significant, these events were deemed not to represent trigger events 
requiring an update of the impairment test carried out as at 31 December 2024.  

In particular, ART Determination 75/2025 is still in the consultation phase, while the Technical Committee’s report 
has not clarified or defined the amount of investment considered eligible but only partially admissible for the 
purposes of setting tolls, explicitly referring responsibility for “final determination of the amount” to the Grantor. 
However, the Grantor, in its letter dated 23 July 2025, did not provide any information on the matter, limiting itself 
to a mere reference to the indications contained in the Technical Committee’s report. In the absence of this 
quantification, the Technical Committee’s indications and the letter from the Grantor dated 23 July 2025 contain 
elements of unpredictability and uncertainty and do not provide a sufficient basis on which to prepare the simulation 
of a long-term plan that would enable the conduct of an impairment test. In this regard,while convinced that it has 
acted correctly and that the estimated expenditure commitments included in the Financial Plan submitted in July 
last year are accurate, as notified to the Grantor in the letter sent on 23 July 2025, highlighting and clarifying the 
Company’s reasons why the Technical Committee’s objections are not considered acceptable, the Company has 
prepared a further sensitivity analysis of the impairment test previously conducted as at December 31, 2024, and 
based on a parametric simulation, taking into account a reduction in the value of allowed investment. This analysis 
did not, however, raise concerns regarding the recoverability of the carrying amounts recognised. 

 
  

€000
Carrying amount

as at 31 December 2024

Additions due to 

completion of 

construction services, 

purchases and 

capitalisations

Amortisation
Change in scope 

of consolidation

Reductions due to 

government grants

Reclassifications 

and other 

adjustments

Carrying amount 

as at 30 June 2025

Acquired concession rights 52,339 - (3,896) - - 48,443

Concession rights accruing from investment in 

infrastructure
11,450,739 880,494 (387,105) - (10,740) (688) 11,932,700

Concession rights accruing from construction 

services provided by sub-operators
81,321 (2,956) - - - 78,365

Intangible assets deriving from concession rights 11,584,399 880,494 (393,957) - (10,740) (688) 12,059,508

Goodwill 6,129,011 - - - - - 6,129,011

Trademarks 360 24 - - - (660) (276)

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives 6,129,371 24 - - - (660) 6,128,735

Software development 92,337 209 (14,901) - - 4,348 81,993

Industrial patents and intellectual property rights 33,311 322 (5,507) - - 88 28,214

Concessions and licenses 1,994 60 (166) - - 3 1,891

Right to use intangible assets - - - - - - -

Other 4,072 - (413) - - - 3,659

Intangible assets under development and advance payments 35,865 24,066 - - - (4,471) 55,460

Other intangible assets 167,579 24,657 (20,987) - - (32) 171,217

Intangible assets 17,881,349 905,175 (414,944) - (10,740) (1,380) 18,359,460

CHANGES DURING THE PERIOD
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Note 9 
 
Investments 

a. Amounts at the beginning and end of the period and changes during the period 

                          
The increase in this item essentially reflects recognition of the fair value of the two new associated, Free to X Mobilize 
SpA and Free to X Mobilize Network SpA, established following the partial, proportional demerger of Free To X SpA. 
Further details are provided in note 6, “Corporate transactions during the period”. 

b. Impairment test disclosure 

With regard to the recoverability of the carrying amount of investments, given the absence of new impairment 
indicators in the first half of 2025, impairment tests were not conducted. 

c. Other information 

The following table shows an analysis of the Group’s principal investments as at 30 June 2025, including the Group’s 
percentage interest and the relevant carrying amount . 

                             
Annex 1 provides a list of the Group's investments as at 30 June 2025. 

 

Note 10 

 
Financial assets 

a. Amounts at the beginning and end of the period 
      

31 December 2024 30 June 2025

4,885 - 4,885

3,453 258 45,749 49,460

2,505 419 (238) - 2,686

10,843 677 (238) 45,749 57,031

CHANGES DURING THE PERIOD

€000 Measurement using equity method 

Opening balance Closing 

balanceProfit or loss Dividends Initial recognition 

of investments 

resulting from 

extraordinary 

transactions

Investments accounted for at fair value

Investments accounted for using the equity 

method

- associates

- joint ventures

Investments

€000

%

interest

Closing 

balance

%

interest

Closing 

balance

Investments accounted for at fair value:

digITAlog (Uirnet) 1.40% 427 1.40% 427

Strada dei Parchi 2.00% 4,271 2.00% 4,271

Other minor investments 187 187

Total investments accounted for at fair value 4,885 4,885

Investments accounted for using the equity method:

- associates

Bologna & Fiera Parking 36.81% 3,634 36.81% 3,385

Free to X Mobilize SpA 50.00% 6,091 -            -           

Free to X Mobilize Network  SpA 49.00% 39,667 -            -           

Other minor investments 68 68

- joint ventures

Geie del Traforo del Monte Bianco 50.00% 1,000 50.00% 1,000

Tecne-Systra SWS Advanced Tunneling  Srl 50.00% 752 50.00% 764

Tecne Speri Bridge Designers 50.00% 934 50.00% 741

Total investments accounted for using the equity 

method
52,146 5,958

Investments 57,031 10,843

30 June 2025 31 December 2024
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The reduction in the total balance of financial assets compared with 31 December 2024 (€13,329 thousand) primarily 
reflects the repayment of securities held by Società Italiana per il Traforo del Monte Bianco, amounting to €7,570 
thousand.  

Further details are provided in note 25, “Financial risk management”. 

b. Impairment test disclosure 
There were no indications of impairment of the financial assets recognised in the condensed interim consolidated 

financial statements and described in this note during the period. The carrying amount approximates to fair value. 

 
Note 11 
 
Trading assets and other current assets  

a. Trading assets 

 
of which: 

 

€000

Non-current financial assets deriving from government grants 102,332 103,162 (830)

Non-current term deposits 98,084 98,352 (268)

Securities 48,835 48,418 417

Non-current derivative assets (1) 3,237 50 3,187

Other non-current financial assets 19,750 17,471 2,279

Non-current financial assets 272,238 267,453 4,785

Current financial assets deriving from concession rights 14,368 14,368 -

Current financial assets deriving from government grants 49,514 54,299 (4,785)

Current term deposits 43,133 42,833 300

Accrued income on medium/long-term financial assets 222 469 (247)

Other medium/long-term financial assets 11,776 20,131 (8,355)

Current portion of medium/long-term financial assets 11,998 20,600 (8,602)

Other current financial assets 15,641 20,668 (5,027)

Current financial assets 134,654 152,768 (18,114)

Total 406,892 420,221 (13,329)

Note 30 June 2025 31 December 2024
Increase/ 

(Decrease)

(1) These assets primarily include derivative financial instruments classified as hedges under level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

€000 30 June 2025 Increase/ (Decrease)

Inventories                      160,277                      158,264 2,013

Contract work in progress                      102,811                        70,413 32,398

Trade receivables                      651,323                      649,977 1,346

Trading assets 914,411 878,654 35,757

31 December 2024

€000 30 June 2025 Increase/ (Decrease)

Trade receivables due from:

Motorway users                      407,058                      358,905 48,153

Sub-operators at motorway service areas                        27,498                        67,980 (40,482)

Sundry customers                      158,080                      159,406 (1,326)

Gross trade receivables 592,636 586,291 6,345

Allowance for bad debts (54,756) (55,128) 372

Other trading assets 113,443 118,814 (5,371)

Net trade receivables 651,323 649,977 1,346

31 December 2024
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The item “Trade receivables” is in line with the balance at the end of the previous year, as the following changes 

offset each other: 

a. an increase in amounts due from “Motorway users” (€48,153 thousand) in the form of invoices to be issued 
by Autostrade per l’Italia for tolls collected through electronic systems accruing in the second quarter of 
2025 with respect to the final quarter of 2024;  

b. a reduction in amounts due from “Sub-operators at motorway service areas” (€40,482 thousand), 
essentially attributable to Autostrade per l’Italia and linked to completion of the non-recourse factoring of 
these receivables invoiced on a quarterly basis. 

The carrying amount of trade receivables approximates to fair value. 

 

b. Other current assets 

 

 

Note 12 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 

As shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash flows during the first half of 2025 resulted in a decrease 
in cash and cash equivalents of €2,265 thousand (€946,525 thousand in the first half of 2024). 

Cash flow from operating activities in the first half of 2025 amounts to €828,699 thousand (€773,058 thousand in 
the first half of 2024). This reflects: 

a. operating cash flow3 of €845,386 thousand, up €3,523 thousand compared with the first half of 2024 
(€841,863 thousand); 

b. the cash outflow due to movements in working capital and other changes, amounting to €16,687 thousand, 
including the performance of the trade receivables and payables. 

Cash used in investing activities amounts to €809,104 thousand (€667,565 thousand in the first half of 2024), 
reflecting investment in concession assets (€880,574 thousand), partially offset by the effects of the transaction 
involving Free To X (€85.577 thousand, including cash transferred, amounting to €11,923 thousand), as described in 
note 6, “Corporate transactions during the period”. 

Cash used in financing activities in the first half of 2025 amounts to €21,775 thousand (€1,051,980 thousand in the 
first half of 2024), reflecting the part payment of dividends during the period (€648,152 thousand) and repayments 
of principal on medium/long-term borrowings (€72,429 thousand), offset by the tap issue of two sustainability-linked 
bonds issued in February 2024, placing additional bonds with a total value of €500,000 thousand, and drawdowns 
on credit facilities totalling €200,000 thousand.  

 

3 “Operating cash flow” indicates the cash generated by or used in operating activities. Operating cash flow is calculated as 

profit for the period + amortisation/depreciation +/- impairments/reversals of impairments of assets +/- provisions/releases 

of provisions in excess of requirements and uses of provisions + other adjustments + financial expenses from discounting of 

provisions +/- share of profit/(loss) of investees accounted for using equity method +/- (losses)/gains on sale of assets +/- 

other non-cash items +/- deferred tax assets/liabilities recognised in profit or loss.  

€000 30 June 2025 Increase/ (Decrease)

Tax credits other than for income tax                        33,410                        29,659 3,751

Receivables due from end users and insurance companies for damages                       17,440                        19,852 (2,412)

Amounts due from staff                          2,856                          2,665 191

Amounts due from public entities                          3,305                          2,083 1,222

Amounts due from social security institutions                          2,388                          1,714 674

Accrued income of a non-trading nature                          1,438                             410 1,028

Other current assets                        61,943                        60,704 1,239

Other current assets, gross 122,780 117,087 5,693

Allowance for bad debts (3,407) (3,369) (38)

Other current assets, net 119,373 113,718 5,655

31 December 2024



 

 

59

Note 13 
 
Assets and liabilities held for sale 

The reduction in these items reflects completion, on 12 May 2025, of the sale of a stake in Free to X SpA to the 
Renault group, as described above in note 6, “Corporate transactions during the period”. 

A breakdown by nature of the items (trading, financial or other) is shown in the following table. 

                        

 

Note 14 
 
Equity 

The issued capital of the Parent Company, Autostrade per l’Italia SpA as at 30 June 2025 is fully subscribed and paid-
in and consists of 622,027,000 ordinary shares of a par value of €1 each, amounting to a total of €622,027 thousand. 
This figure has not undergone any changes compared with 31 December 2024.  

Equity attributable to owners of the parent, totalling €3,031,676 thousand, is down €256,658 thousand compared 
with 31 December 2024 (€3,288,334 thousand). This reflects approval of the dividend payable to Autostrade per 
l’Italia’s shareholders (€789,974 thousand, of which €648,152 thousand has been paid), partially offset by 
comprehensive income for the period of €507,258 thousand). 

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests, totalling €319,420 thousand, is up €19,518 thousand compared with 
31 December 2024 (€299,902 thousand). This primarily reflects comprehensive income for the period of €5,421 
thousand and the previously mentioned sale of a stake in Free to X SpA, as described in detail in note 6, “Corporate 
transactions during the period”. 

Autostrade per l’Italia aims to manage its capital in order to create value for shareholders, ensure the Company 
remains a going concern, safeguard the interests of stakeholders and guarantee efficient access to external sources 
of funding to adequately support the growth of the Group’s businesses and fulfil the commitments given in 
concession arrangements. 

 

€000 30 June 2025 31 December 2024
Increase/ 

(Decrease)

Non-current non-financial assets 343 13,425 (13,082)

- Property, plant and equipment 343 11,381 (11,038)
- Intangible assets - 1,021 (1,021)
- Deferred tax assets - 1,023 (1,023)
Current non-financial assets - 3,190 (3,190)

- Trading assets - 3,148 (3,148)
- Other current non-financial assets - 42 (42)
Non-current financial assets - 95 (95)

Current financial assets - 11,000 (11,000)

- Cash and cash equivalents - 11,000 (11,000)
Total assets held for sale 343 27,710 (27,367)

Non-current non-financial liabilities - 1,174 (1,174)

- Non-current provisions for risks and charges - 205 (205)
- Deferred tax liabilities - 969 (969)
Trading liabilities and other current non-financial 

liabilities
- 4,932 (4,932)

- Trading liabilities - 4,408 (4,408)
- Other current liabilities - 524 (524)
Non-current financial liabilities - 2,439 (2,439)

Current financial liabilities - 817 (817)

Total liabilities held for sale - 9,362 (9,362)



 

 

60

Note 15 

 
Provisions 

a. Amounts at the beginning and end of the period  

 

b. Changes during the period   

 

c. Provisions for employee benefits  

As at 30 June 2025, this item essentially consists of: 

a. provisions for post-employment benefits (TFR) to be paid to staff employed under Italian law; 

b. the residual value of provisions for the extraordinary early retirement scheme implemented by Autostrade 
per l’Italia, Youverse and Tecne.  

 

d. Provisions for repair and replacement of motorway infrastructure  

As described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024, 
these provisions and accumulated amortisation of intangible assets deriving from concession rights should be 
considered as a whole to ensure adequate funding for the costs related to the construction and operation of 
concession assets. 

The provisions, including the current and non-current portions, are down €18,284 thousand compared with 31 
December 2024. The following occurred in the first half of 2025: 

a. the use of €258,441 thousand. The provisions were used to cover the cost of both non-routine maintenance 
(€63,886 thousand) and routine maintenance. The latter also includes the cost of maintenance personnel. The 
use of provisions and new provisions in the same year to cover routine maintenance aims to ensure correct 
reporting for regulatory and toll-setting purposes; 

b. new provisions of €233,086 thousand, which, after deducting the portion related to routine maintenance, are 
based on the wear and tear of motorway assets at the end of the reporting period and, therefore, planned 
works on the infrastructure included in the provisions.  

e. Provisions for renewal of motorway infrastructure  

Provisions for the renewal of motorway infrastructure made by Traforo del Monte Bianco, including the non-current 
and current portions, amount to €99,517 thousand (€90,778 thousand as at 31 December 2024). These provisions 
have risen €8,739 thousand, essentially due to the lower interest rate used to discount the provisions compared 
with 31 December 2024.  

€000

Provisions for employee benefits 100,400 78,209 22,191 109,851 86,080 23,771

Provisions for repair and replacement of motorway infrastructure 1,057,741 854,009 203,732 1,076,025 874,312 201,713

Provisions for renewal of motorway infrastructure 99,517 87,474 12,043 90,778 80,665 10,113

Other provisions for risks and charges 1,218,113 936,031 282,082 1,279,414 1,020,909 258,505

Total provisions 2,475,771 1,955,723 520,048 2,556,068 2,061,966 494,102

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Carrying amount
non-current 

portion

current 

portion
Carrying amount

non-current 

portion

current 

portion

Post-employment benefits 49,015 471 759 (2,950) 8 (112) 47,191

Other employee benefits 60,836 - - (7,627) - - 53,209

Provisions for employee benefits 109,851 471 759 (10,577) 8 (112) 100,400

Provisions for repair and replacement of motorway 

infrastructure
1,076,025 233,086 7,071 (258,441) - - 1,057,741

Provisions for renewal of motorway infrastructure 90,778 8,054 765 (80) - - 99,517

Other provisions for risks and charges 1,279,414 9,423 4,585 (75,495) - 186 1,218,113

Total provisions 2,556,068 251,034 13,180 (344,593) 8 74 2,475,771

CHANGES DURING THE PERIOD

Carrying amount 

as at 30 June 

2025
€000

 Carrying amount 

as at 31 

December 2024 

Operating 

provisions

Financial 

provisions
Uses

Reclassifications 

and

other changes

Actuarial 

gains/(losses) 

recognised in 

comprehensive 

income
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f. Other provisions for risks and charges 

These provisions relate to risks and charges deemed to be likely to occur at the end of the period and are down 

€61,301 thousand compared with 31 December 2024, essentially due to uses during the period 

(€75,495 thousand). These were primarily connected with the commitments included in the 

settlement with the MIT and the Government (€68,109 thousand), relating to works included in the 

unremunerated investment plan (€36,836 thousand), toll discounts for road users and discounts to 

compensate for disruption caused by road works (€24,514 thousand), and grants given to fund 

mobility, logistics and digital projects in the Genoa area (€6,759 thousand). As at 30 June 2025, the 

residual value of the MIT settlement provisions amounts to €1,145,089 thousand. 

Further information on developments in the principal disputes outstanding as at 30 June 2025 is provided in note 
26, “Litigation”. 

 

Note 16 
 
Financial liabilities 

 

a. Amounts at the beginning and end of the period 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

€000

Bond issues (1) 8,044,240 8,277,759 (233,519)

Bank borrowings 2,085,017                            1,924,055 160,962

Other borrowings 108,776                                108,604 172

Lease liabilities 36,960                                   28,278 8,682

Medium/long-term borrowings 2,230,753 2,060,937 169,816

Non-current derivative liabilities 55,606 51,920 3,686

Medium/long-term financial liabilities 8,333                                      8,333 -

Non-current financial liabilities 10,338,932 10,398,949 (60,017)

Current bond issues 1,748,903 999,274 749,629

Bank borrowings 129,591 120,996 8,595

Other borrowings 59,045 65,518 (6,473)

Lease liabilities 13,097 9,702 3,395

Accrued expenses on medium/long-term financial liabilities 125,735 183,471 (57,736)

Current portion of medium/long-term financial liabilities 2,076,371 1,378,961 697,410

Short-term borrowings                                     27,499 - 27,499

Other current financial liabilities 143,073 1,320 141,753

Short-term financial liabilities 170,572 1,320 169,252

Current financial liabilities 2,246,943 1,380,281 866,662

Total financial liabilities 12,585,875 11,779,230 806,646

30 June 2025 31 December 2024
Increase/ 

(Decrease)

(1) The nominal value of the bonds denominated in yen is shown at the exchange rate applicable to the related Cross Currency Swaps.
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b. Type of interest rate, maturity and fair value  

 

c. Average and effective interest rate  

 

d. Changes during the period 

 
More detailed information on financial risks and the manner in which they are managed, in addition to details of 
outstanding financial instruments held by the Group, is contained in note 25, “Financial risk management”. 

e. Bond issues 

With regard to “Bond issues”, in January 2025, the Company completed the tap issue of two sustainability-linked 
bonds with terms to maturity of 8 and 12 years, issued in February 2024, raising an additional amount of €500,000 
thousand on the same terms and conditions. Information on the interest rates applied is provided above in 
paragraph c, “Average and effective interest rate”. 

f. Medium/long-term borrowings  

Medium/long-term borrowings have increased €175,333 thousand compared with 31 December 2024, essentially 
due to a combination of the following at Autostrade per l’Italia: 

a. the use of two bilateral credit facilities, amounting to €200,000 thousand; 

b. contracted repayments during the period on certain loans from the European Investment Bank and Cassa 
Depositi e Prestiti (€60,668 thousand). 

The residual average term to maturity of the Group’s interest-bearing debt as at 30 June 2025 is approximately five 

years. The average cost of the Group’s medium/long-term borrowings was approximately 3%. 

g. Derivative liabilities 

As at 30 June 2025, this item primarily consists of Cross Currency Swaps entered into with a number of banks to 
hedge the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk relating to the yen-denominated bond issue. 

€000 Maturity
Nominal 

value
Fair value (1) Carrying 

amount
Within 12 months

between 13 and 60 

months
after 60 months

Nominal 

value
Fair value (1) Carrying amount

Bond issues

- listed fixed rate from 2025 to 2038         9,854,839          9,800,156         9,793,143                1,748,903                            4,004,719                            4,039,521         9,352,427          9,196,871                    9,277,033 

Bank borrowings 2,218,913      2,201,448        2,214,608      129,591                  957,727                              1,127,290                          2,049,581      2,005,874        2,045,051                  

fixed rate from 2025 to 2036 1,450,983      1,429,236        1,450,788      81,209                     400,382                              969,197                              1,491,169      1,489,610        1,490,964                  

floating rate from 2025 to 2034 767,930           772,212            763,820           48,382                     557,345                              158,093                              558,412           516,264            554,087                      

Other borrowings 169,827           167,821            167,821           59,045                     108,776                              -                                         176,601           174,122            174,122                      

 non-interest bearing (2) from 2025 to 2028 169,827           167,821            167,821           59,045                     108,776                              -                                         176,601           174,122            174,122                      

Lease liabilities 50,057             50,057               50,057             13,097                     29,885                                 7,075                                   37,980             37,980               37,980                         

Medium/long-term borrowings         2,438,797          2,419,326         2,432,486                    201,733                            1,096,388                            1,134,365         2,264,162          2,217,976                    2,257,153 

Medium/long-term financial liabilities                  8,333                                     8,333                              8,333 

Derivative liabilities                 55,606               55,606                                  -                                                -                                     55,606                 51,920                           51,920 

Accrued expenses on medium/long-term financial 

liabilities
             125,735             125,735                    125,735                                              -                                                -                183,471                         183,471 

Short-term financial liabilities              170,572             170,572                    170,572                                              -                                                -                      1,320                              1,320 

Total financial liabilities      12,293,636       12,571,395      12,585,875                2,246,943                            5,109,440                            5,229,493      11,616,589       11,651,558                  11,779,230 

30 June 2025 Due date 31 December 2024

(1) The fair value shown is classified in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy with the exception of lease liabilities, the fair value of which falls within level 3 of the hierarchy.

(2)  This item primarily includes amounts payable by Autostrade per l'Italia and the amount payable to the Central Guarantee Fund contributed by Autostrada Tirrenica.

€000

Euro (EUR) 12,144,460              12,073,368               2.98% 3.31% 11,467,413 11,376,506

Yen (JPY) 149,176                     152,261                       5.30% 3.39% 149,176                                  157,680                                         

Total financial liabilities                12,293,636                  12,225,629 3.14%                           11,616,589                                  11,534,186 

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Nominal value Carrying amount
Average interest rate applied 

to 30 June 2025

Effective interest rate as 

at 30 June 2025
Nominal value Carrying amount

€000

Bond issues 9,277,033 511,423 - 4,687 9,793,143

Bank borrowings 2,045,051 229,768 (60,668) 457 2,214,608

Other borrowings 174,122 4,988 (11,761) 472 167,821

Lease liabilities 37,980 20,267 (9,424) 1,234 50,057

Medium/long-term borrowings 2,257,153 255,023 (81,853) 2,163 2,432,486

Total 11,534,186 766,446 (81,853) 6,850 12,225,629

Carrying amount 

as at 30 June 2025

Carrying amount 

as at 31 

December 2024

New borrowings Repayments

Currency translation 

differences and other 

changes
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h. Accrued expenses on medium/long-term borrowings  

As at 30 June 2025, this item primarily regards interest payable on: 

a. bonds, amounting to €99,477 thousand; 

b. bank borrowings, amounting to €24,920 thousand. 

i. Short-term financial liabilities 

The increase of €169,252 thousand compared with 31 December 2024 primarily reflects the sum of €141,822 
thousand relating to recognition of the amount due to shareholders as the unpaid balance of the dividend payable 
for 2024, in addition to the increase in short-term loans to the subsidiary, Amplia Infrastructures (€27,500 thousand). 

j. Disclosure on covenants  

With regard to the bond issue denominated in Japanese yen, the terms of the issue require compliance with certain 
minimum thresholds contained in the following financial covenants (to be calculated each year following approval 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements, and based on the consolidated accounts):  

a. debt-service coverage ratio;  

b. the ratio of the Group’s operating cash flow to total net debt at the end of each financial year; 

c. Autostrade per l’Italia’s equity. 

With regard to certain borrowings, the Group is required to comply with the minimum ratio for “Operating Cash 
Flow available for Debt Service” and the “Debt-service coverage ratio” (DSCR). As at 30 June 2025, there are no 
concerns to report. 

The credit facilities obtained by the subsidiaries, Amplia Infrastructures and Tangenziale di Napoli, are also subject 
to compliance with certain financial metrics and, as at the reporting date, there are no concerns to report. 

Breach of the covenants would constitute a default event. The above Group companies periodically monitor the 
covenants and as at 30 June 2025 there are no concerns to report. 

 
Note 17 
 
Trading liabilities and other liabilities 

a. Trading liabilities 

              

 
Trading liabilities are up €17,476 thousand compared with 31 December 2024. This is due to an increase in amounts 
payable to the operators of interconnecting motorways (€83,470 thousand), reflecting the seasonal nature of 
motorway journeys and billing, offset by a reduction in amounts payable to external suppliers (€86,116 thousand), 
reflecting the performance of capital and maintenance expenditure during the reporting period. 

The carrying amount of trading liabilities approximates to fair value. 

 

  

€000 30 June 2025 31 December 2024
Increase / 

(Decrease)

Amounts payable to suppliers 1,152,802 1,238,918 (86,116)

Payable to operators of interconnecting motorways 728,188 644,718 83,470

Tolls in the process of settlement 98,641 78,279 20,362
Acrrued expenses, deferred income and other trading 

liabilities
9,922 10,162 (240)

Trading liabilities 1,989,553 1,972,077 17,476
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b. Other liabilities 

                    

 
The increase in other current liabilities, totalling €49,752 thousand, is primarily attributable to Autostrade per l’Italia. 
It relates to an increase VAT payable for the period (€71,745 thousand), partially offset by a reduction in amounts 
payable to the Grantor (€31,557 thousand) following the payment of concession fees falling due in the first quarter 
of 2025. 

 
Note 18 
 
Revenue  

a. Toll revenue 

Toll revenue of €1,939,749 thousand is up €52,843 thousand compared with the first half of 2024 (€1,886,906 
thousand), reflecting traffic growth of 1.5% and the toll increase of 1.80% applied by Autostrade per l’Italia. This item 
also includes increases deriving from the use of provisions for risks and charges made in previous years to cover the 
discounts and exemptions granted to road users and amounting to €24,359 thousand in the first half of 2025 
(€59,050 thousand in the first half of 2024, which included €33,699 thousand in discounts for hauliers). As a result, 
the impact of such components on income is zero. Finally, this item also includes the surcharges added to the 
concession fee payable to ANAS, amounting to €188,642 thousand in the first half of 2025 (€186,725 thousand in 
the first half of 2024) and also accounted for in operating costs under the item “Concession fees”.  

b. Revenue from construction services 

Revenue from construction services consists of revenue from the construction of infrastructure and from works 
carried out by sub-operators. This revenue represents the fair value of the consideration due in return for the 
construction and upgrade services rendered in relation to concession assets during the period. This revenue is 
measured on the basis of the operating costs incurred plus any margin on services provided by Group entities 
(representing the fair value of such services), as indicated in note 3, “Accounting standards and policies applied” in 
the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024. The increase in this item, 
amounting to €72,668 thousand, reflects the greater volume of capital expenditure carried out as further progress 
is made in delivering the existing projects included in national plans. 

c. Other operating income 

€000 30 June 2025 31 December 2024
Increase / 

(Decrease)

Accrued expenses of non-trading nature 20,478 21,373 (895)

Payable to staff 5,948 3,965 1,983

Amounts payable for expropriations 405 405 -

Social security contributions payable 2,166 1,444 722

Other non-current liabilities 28,997 27,187 1,810

Taxation other than income taxes 100,347 28,602 71,745

Amounts payable to staff 82,598 77,914 4,684

Social security contributions payable 46,792 39,116 7,676

Concession fees payable 58,257 89,814 (31,557)

Guarantee deposits from users who pay by direct debit 2,635 2,575 60

Amounts payable to public entities 1,268 387 881

Other payables 222,124 225,861 (3,737)

Other current liabilities 514,021 464,269 49,752
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d. Breakdown of revenue generated by contracts with clients  

 

e. Geographical information  

 

 

Note 19 
 
Costs 

a. Raw and consumable materials and services  

   

€000 H1 2025 H1 2024
Increase / 

(Decrease)

Revenue from sub-concessions 79,068 78,413 655

Maintenance revenue 8,636 8,953 (317)

Other revenue from motorway operation 12,154 7,027 5,127

Revenue from the sale of technology devices and 

services
21,178 19,945 1,233

Refunds 11,519 12,673 (1,154)

Damages and compensation 8,775 12,016 (3,241)

Advertising revenue 2,283 2,609 (326)

Contract revenue 46,083 42,177 3,906

Other income 34,359 30,322 4,037

Other operating income 224,055 214,135 9,920

€m

At a point 

in time
Over time

At a point 

in time
Over time

Net toll revenue 1,940          -              -              1,940                     1,887                  -                    -              1,887 

Revenue from 

construction services -              880              -              880              
                 -                 808                  -                 808 

Other operating income
61                50                113              224              

51                48                115                            214 

Total revenue 2,001          930              113              3,044          1,938          856              115              2,909          

H1 2025 H1 2024

IFRS 15 Outside 

scope of 

IFRS 15

Total 

revenue

IFRS 15 Outside 

scope of 

IFRS 15

Total 

revenue

€m H1 2025 H1 2024 H1 2025 2024

Italy 3,018 2,873 18,693 18,161

Poland 19 26 3 3

France 4 4 - -

Other countries 3 6 - -

Total 3,044 2,909 18,696 18,164

Revenue (*) Non-current assets (**)

(*) Revenue does not include income from discontinued operations.

(**) In accordance with IFRS 8, non-current assets do not include non-current financial assets and deferred tax assets.
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The increase in the above items is linked to the greater volume of investment in infrastructure compared with the 
comparative period, as described in note 18, “Revenue”. 

 

b. Staff costs 

       

 
The increase of €28,666 thousand essentially reflects costs linked to renewal of the national collective labour 
agreement and an increase in early retirement incentives. 

                                        

€000 H1 2025 H1 2024
Increase / 

(Decrease)

Construction materials (90,815) (80,749) (10,066)

Electrical and electronic materials (15,023) (4,211) (10,812)

Lubricants and fuel (15,516) (16,304) 788

Other raw and consumable materials (48,494) (52,746) 4,252

Cost of materials (169,848) (154,010) (15,838)

Change in inventories of raw, ancillary and 

consumable materials and goods for resale
2,049 3,738 (1,689)

Capitalised cost of raw materials 67 155 (88)

Raw and consumable materials (167,732) (150,117) (17,615)

€000 H1 2025 H1 2024
Increase / 

(Decrease)

Construction and similar (543,707) (506,073) (37,634)

Professional services (183,565) (165,632) (17,933)

Transport and similar (45,855) (43,805) (2,050)

Utilities (27,961) (23,862) (4,099)

Insurance (16,893) (15,282) (1,611)

Statutory Auditors' fees (419) (416) (3)

Other services (101,996) (97,401) (4,595)

Service costs (920,396) (852,471) (67,925)

€000 H1 2025 H1 2024
Increase / 

(Decrease)

Wages and salaries (280,138) (270,912) (9,226)

Social security contributions (85,162) (83,036) (2,126)

Payments to supplementary pension funds, INPS and for post-employment 

benefits
(16,862) (16,257) (605)

Directors' remuneration (1,287) (2,133) 846

Other staff costs (34,919) (17,628) (17,291)

Gross staff costs (418,368) (389,966) (28,402)

Capitalised staff costs attributable to assets other than concession assets 1,693 1,957 (264)

Staff costs (416,675) (388,009) (28,666)

absolute %

Senior managers 185 164 21 12.80%

Middle managers 560 550 10 1.88%

Administrative staff 4,919 4,700 219 4.67%

Operational personnel 2,441 2,426 15 0.64%

Toll collectors 1,284 1,477 (193) (13.07%)

Total 9,389 9,316 73 0.78%

AVERAGE WORKFORCE

H1 2025 H1 2024
Increase/(Decrease)
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c. Other operating costs 

Other operating costs for the first half of 2025, as shown in the table below, are broadly in line with the figure for 

the first half of 2024. 

                 

 

Note 20 
 
Operating change in provisions  

This item reflects the impact on profit or loss of operating changes (new provisions and uses) in provisions, 
excluding those for employee benefits (classified in staff costs), made by the Company during the period in order 
to meet the legal and contractual obligations that it is presumed will require the use of financial resources in future 
years. 

This item reflects a net use of €7,958 thousand compared with a net use of €105,206 thousand in the first half of 
2024, when the figure was significantly impacted by the higher interest rates used to discount the provisions (-
€10,182 thousand in the first half of 2025 and +€99,047 thousand in the first half of 2024). After stripping out this 
factor, the item recorded a net use of €18,140 thousand, marking an increase of €11,981 thousand compared with 
the comparative period (€6,159 thousand). This essentially reflects an increase in net uses to cover the cost of repairs 
to infrastructure following flood events. 

 

Note 21 
 
Amortisation and depreciation 

The increase of €63,621 thousand compared with the first half of 2024 essentially reflects the increase in intangible 
assets deriving from concession rights, in relation to the greater volume of investment in motorway infrastructure 
carried out in 2024. Further details are provided in notes 7, “Property, plant and equipment”, and 8, “Intangible 
assets”. 

 
Note 22 
 
Financial income/(expenses)  

An analysis of financial income and expenses is shown below. 

€000 H1 2025 H1 2024
Increase / 

(Decrease)

Concession fees (234,727) (231,514) (3,213)

Lease expense (12,133) (7,287) (4,846)

Grants and donations (12,029) (12,070) 41

Direct and indirect taxes (8,993) (6,768) (2,225)

Other (11,784) (11,920) 136

Other costs (32,806) (30,758) (2,048)

Other operating costs (279,666) (269,559) (10,107)
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“Financial expenses”, less “Financial income”, are down €66,587 thousand compared with the first half of 2024, 
primarily due a combination of the following: 

a. recognition of the gain on the transaction involving Free To X (€84,732 thousand), including remeasurement 
of the fair value of the companies consolidated using the equity method, as described in note 6, “Corporate 
transactions during the period”; 

b. an increase in “Financial expenses from the discounting of provisions” (€8,001 thousand), computed on the 
basis of the value of provisions and the discount rates used at 31 December of the previous year and broadly 
linked to the higher interest rates used as at 31 December 2024 (resulting in the recognition of financial 
expenses in the first half of 2025) compared with those used as at 31 December 2023 (which influenced the 
comparative amounts for the first half of 2024). 

 
Note 23 
 
Tax  

a. Income tax (expense)/benefit  

 

€000 H1 2025 H1 2024
Increase / 

(Decrease)

Dividends from investees 2,660 - 2,660

Financial income accounted for as an increase in financial assets - 490 (490)

Income from derivative financial instruments 24,945 26,074 (1,129)

Interest and fees receivable on bank and post office deposits 14,798 36,826 (22,028)

Gain from the sale of investments 84,732 - 84,732

Other 3,311 3,524 (213)

Total financial income (a) 130,446 66,914 63,532

Financial expenses from discounting of provisions (13,180) (5,179) (8,001)

Interest on bonds and medium/long-term borrowings (204,188) (213,655) 9,467

Losses on derivative financial instruments (14,284) (15,659) 1,375

Interest expense accounted for as an increase in financial liabilities (2,412) (2,292) (120)

Interest and fees payable on bank and post office deposits (247) (847) 600

Other (7,619) (7,811) 192

Other financial expenses (228,750) (240,264) 11,514

Financial expenses (b) (241,930) (245,443) 3,513

Foreign exchange gains 5,130 13,602 (8,472)

Foreign exchange losses (5,497) (13,511) 8,014

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) (c) (367) 91 (458)

Financial income/(expenses) (a+b+c) (111,851) (178,438) 66,587

€000 H1 2025 H1 2024
Increase / 

(Decrease)

IRES (118,667) (121,750) 3,083

IRAP (33,602) (36,385) 2,783

Other income taxes (168) (910) 742

Current tax benefit of tax loss carry-forwards 603 1,993 (1,390)

Current tax expense (151,834) (157,052) 5,218

Recovery of previous years' income taxes 344 996 (652)

Previous years' income taxes (1,393) (1,413) 20

Differences on current tax expense for previous years (1,049) (417) (632)

Provisions 83,321 66,459 16,862

Releases (122,515) (140,871) 18,356

Changes in prior year estimates - 650 (650)

Deferred tax income (39,194) (73,762) 34,568

Provisions (3,226) (11,521) 8,295

Releases 3,397 3,816 (419)

Deferred tax expense 171 (7,705) 7,876

Deferred tax income/(expense) (39,023) (81,467) 42,444

Income tax (expense)/benefit (191,906) (238,936) 47,030
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Tax expense for the first half of 2025 amounts to €191,906 thousand, a reduction of €47,030 thousand compared 
with the first half of 2024 (€238,936 thousand). This reflects the decrease in profit before tax, primarily due to the 
non-taxable nature of the above gain. 

b. Current tax assets and liabilities  

Current tax assets and liabilities at the beginning and end of the period are detailed below. 

         
As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s net current tax liabilities amount to €16,570 thousand (€60,580 thousand as at 31 
December 2024). The reduction of €44,010 thousand is essentially due to payment of the balance of income tax due 
for 2024 and payments on account for 2025 made to the parent, HRA under the tax consolidation arrangement 
(totalling €194,196 thousand), after the recognition of income tax payable for the period (€151,834 thousand). 

c. Deferred tax assets and liabilities   

           

  

 

d. Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities  

€000

30 June 2025 31 December 2024 30 June 2025 31 December 2024

IRES 105,607 7,634 119,606 70,910

IRAP 29,609 3,755 32,518 1,400

Other income taxes 338 341 - -

135,554 11,730 152,124 72,310

Current tax assets Current tax liabilities

€000 30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Deferred tax assets 1,243,037 1,284,479

Deferred tax liabilities eligible for offset (1,104,432) (1,148,333)

Deferred tax assets less deferred tax liabilities eligible for 

offset
138,605 136,146

Deferred tax liabilities (755,558) (716,569)

Difference between deferred tax assets and liabilities 

(eligible and ineligible for offset)
(616,953) (580,423)
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The increase in deferred tax liabilities (after deferred tax assets eligible for offset) amounts to €36,529 thousand. 
This primarily reflects the decrease in deferred tax assets linked to the uses of provisions mentioned above. 

 

Note 24 
 
Operating segments 

In order to provide an appropriate basis for assessing performance taking into account the nature of the business 

and the organisational structures of the various areas of business, the following operating segments have been 

identified:  

a. Motorways: includes the activities of the Group’s motorway operators; 

b. Engineering and construction: includes the activities involved in the design, construction and maintenance 
of infrastructure carried out by Tecne, Amplia Infrastructures and the latter’s subsidiaries;  

c. Technology and innovation: includes the activities linked to (i) the creation of new free flow tolling 
platforms, (ii) the installation of digital infrastructure for smart roads and intelligent service areas, (iii) the 
development of an innovative system for monitoring infrastructure, and (iv) sustainable mobility services 
provided by Movyon, Free To X Srl, Free To X SpA and Movyon Electronics Srl;  

d. Other services: primarily includes Elgea and the services provided by Youverse, Ad Moving and Giovia to 
other Group companies. 

The following tables present a summary of the operating and financial performance by operating segment4 in line 
with the requirements of IFRS 8. 

 

4 Further details are provided in section 3.1, “Alternative performance indicators (APIs)”, in “Explanatory notes and other information”.  

€000
31 December 

2024
Provisions Releases

Provisions
(releases) accounted for 

in other

comprehensive

income

Reclassifications 

and other changes
30 June 2025

Deferred tax assets on:

Restatement of total amount subject to IFRIC 12

by Autostrade per l'Italia
252,429 - (9,015) - - 243,414

Provisions 922,513 77,491 (109,790) - 789 891,003

Impairments and depreciation of non-current assets 9,527 - (5) - (789) 8,733

Derivative financial instruments 17,255 - - (2,565) - 14,690

Impairment of receivables and inventories 6,316 201 (106) - - 6,411
Tax losses eligible to be carried forward (1,739) 1,081 - - - (658)

Actuarial gains/(losses) on post-employment 

benefits
2,743 - - 248 - 2,991

Other temporary differences 75,435 4,548 (3,599) 3 81 76,453

Total 1,284,479 83,321 (122,515) (2,314) 81 1,243,037

Deferred tax liabilities on:

Off-balance sheet amortisation of goodwill
(1,739,228) - - - - (1,739,228)

Difference between carrying amount and fair value

of assets acquired and liabilities assumed following 

business combinations 
(8,197) - 1,003 - - (7,194)

Derivative financial instruments (94,896) - - 4,765 - (90,131)

Other temporary differences (22,581) (3,226) 2,394 (4) (19) (23,436)

Total (1,864,902) (3,226) 3,397 4,761 (19) (1,859,989)

Difference between deferred tax assets and 

liabilities (eligible and ineligible for offset) (580,423) 80,095 (119,118) 2,447 62 (616,952)

CHANGES DURING THE PERIOD
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The figures for the first half of 2024 have been restated to take into account the effects of the suspension of 
amortisation of the concession rights of the subsidiary, RAV, with effect from the financial statements for 2024. 

€m

Consolidation 

adjustments

External revenue 2,061 54 39 7                                   3 -                                    2,164

Intersegment revenue 8 529                              59 23 (619) -                                    -                                    

REVENUE 2,069 583 98 30 (616) - 2,164

EBITDA  1,247 18 8 1 3 - 1,277

Amortisation, depreciation, impairment 

losses, reversals of impairment losses and 

provisions for renewal work

(454) (454)

EBIT 823

Financial income/(expenses) (111) (111)

Profit/(Loss) before tax from 

continuing operations 
712

Income tax expense (192) (192)

Profit/(Loss) from 

continuing operations 
520

Profit/(Loss) from 

discontinued operations
- -

Profit for the year 520

Operating cash flow 827 11 2 2 3 - 845

Capital expenditure 882 9 5 1 28 - 925

H1 2025

Motorways
Engineering and 

construction

Innovation and 

technology
Other services

Unallocated 

items

Total 

consolidated 

amounts

€m

Consolidation 

adjustments

External revenue 2,012 46 34 6                                   3 -                                    2,101

Intersegment revenue 9 453                              59 21 (542) -                                    -                                    

REVENUE 2,021 499 93 27 (539) - 2,101

EBITDA  1,327 23 5 - - - 1,355

Amortisation, depreciation, impairment 

losses, reversals of impairment losses and 

provisions for renewal work

- (386) (386)

EBIT 969

Financial income/(expenses) (177) (177)

Profit/(Loss) before tax from 

continuing operations 
792

Income tax expense (239) (239)

Profit/(Loss) from 

continuing operations 
553

Profit/(Loss) from 

discontinued operations
- -

Profit for the year 553

Operating cash flow 821 16 3 2 - - 842

Capital expenditure 795 22 8 - 47 - 872

H1 2024

Motorways
Engineering and 

construction

Innovation and 

technology
Other services

Unallocated 

items

Total 

consolidated 

amounts
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Note 25 
 
Financial risk management 

a. The Autostrade per l’Italia Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies  

Information on risk management objectives and the related policy is provided in note 25, “Financial risk 
management”, in the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024, as there 
have not been any significant changes as at 30 June 2025. 

 

b. Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial asset or liability fluctuates following market 
price movements due to changes in exchange or interest rates, in the prices of equity instruments, or in the prices 
of commodities (commodity risk).  

In this regard, it should be noted that amounts in currencies other than the euro are converted using the closing 
exchange rates published by the European Central Bank. The residual average term to maturity of the Group’s debt 
as at 30 June 2025 is approximately five years. The average cost of the Group’s medium/long-term borrowings in 
the first half of 2025 was 3.00%. 

c. Interest rate risk 

The risk is linked to uncertainty regarding the performance of interest rates, and takes two forms: 

a. cash flow risk: linked to financial assets and liabilities with cash flows indexed to a market interest rate;  

b. fair value risk: the risk of losses deriving from an unexpected change in the value fixed rate financial assets and 
liabilities following an unfavourable shift in the market yield curve.  

With the aim of mitigating interest rate risk and limiting the amount of financial liabilities (primarily bonds and bank 
borrowings) exposed to movements in market interest rates, the Group has entered into Interest Rate Swaps (IRSs), 
classified as cash flow hedges as at 30 June 2025. 

With regard to the derivative instruments entered into to hedge interest rate risk and the underlying financial 
liabilities have matching terms to maturity. If the notional amount of the derivative is greater than the notional 
amount of the underlying debt, the companies recognise the change in value relating to this difference in profit or 
loss. Interest Rate Swaps hedging existing debt are classified as cash flow hedges provided that all the requirements 
of IFRS 9 have been met.  

Floating rate financial liabilities that are not hedged against interest rate risk represent the main element of risk with 
a potential negative impact in terms of higher borrowing costs, in the event of an increase in market interest rates. 

As a result of the hedges entered into, as at 30 June 2025, 90% of interest-bearing debt is fixed rate. 

d. Currency risk 

As at 30 June 2025, 1% of medium/long-term debt is denominated in currencies other than the euro (yen). Taking 
into account the Cross Currency Swaps linked to Autostrade per l’Italia’s yen-denominated bonds, the Group’s 
foreign currency debt is not exposed to currency risk on translation into the euro.  

e. Commodity risk 

Commodity risk is a component of market risk and relates to the possibility of incurring losses due to adverse 
movements in commodity prices. 

To reduce the exposure to movements in the price of electricity, in 2025 the Group entered into hedging instruments 
classified as cash flow hedges as at 30 June 2025. 

f. Derivative portfolio 

As at 30 June 2025, all of the Group’s derivative transactions are classified as cash flow hedges in accordance with 
IFRS 9. The following table summarises outstanding derivative financial instruments as at 30 June 2025 (compared 
with 31 December 2024) and shows the corresponding market and notional values. 
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g. Sensitivity analysis 

Sensitivity analysis describes the impact that the interest rate and foreign exchange movements to which the Group 
is exposed would have had on the income statement for the first half of 2025 and on equity as at 30 June 2025. 

The interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the exposure of derivative and non-derivative financial instruments 
at the end of the year, assuming, in terms of the impact on the income statement, a 1% (100 bps) shift in the 
market yield curve at the beginning of the year.  

The results of the analysis were: 

a. in  terms of interest rate risk, an unexpected 1% fall in market interest rates would have had a negative impact 
on the consolidated income statement, totalling €12,910 thousand, before the related taxation, essentially 
attributable to a reduced return on the investment of liquidity, and a negative impact on other comprehensive 
income of €13,882 thousand, essentially attributable to a reduction in outstanding derivative instruments; in 
contrast, an unexpected 1% rise in market interest rates would have a negative impact on the Group’s income 
statement of €6,520 thousand, primarily due to the exposure to the variable rate payable on  outstanding 
bank borrowings; 

b. the sensitivity analysis related to exchange rates measures the impact on profit or loss and on equity of an 
unexpected and unfavourable 10% shift in the exchange rates to which the Group is exposed against the euro. 
An unexpected and unfavourable 10% shift in the exchange rate would have resulted in a negative impact on 
other comprehensive income, totalling €2,284 thousand, linked to the movement in fair value losses on Cross 
Currency Swaps in yen. 

h. Liquidity risk 

As at 30 June 2025, the Group has credit facilities amounting to €4,528 million with a weighted average residual 
term to maturity of approximately five years and a weighted average residual drawdown period of approximately 
one year.  

The following table shows details of committed credit facilities, showing the amount drawn down. 

      

 

The increase in credit facilities essentially relates to the agreement of further Term Loans amounting to €650 million, 
which have yet to be used. 

i. Credit risk 

As at 30 June 2025, there were no significant changes compared with 31 December 2024 regarding past due 
receivables and the composition of provisions for doubtful accounts.  

In addition, Autostrade per l’Italia has entered into framework agreements with two banks governing the non-
recourse factoring of trade receivables due from certain sub-operators at service areas. As at 30 June 2025, the 
Company has concluded the non-recourse factoring of receivables due from sub-operators at service areas 
amounting to €31,768 thousand, and all maturing in 2025. 

 

Type Purpose of hedge
Fair value 

asset/(liability)
Notional amount

Fair value 

asset/(liability)
Notional amount

Cross Currency Swaps Currency and interest rate risk (50,062) 149,176 (44,907) 149,176

Interest Rate Swaps Interest rate risk (5,544) 234,856 (6,963) 253,376

Commodity hedges Commodity risk 3,237

(52,369) 384,032 (51,870) 402,552

Derivatives embedded in loans Interest rate risk - 1,580 - 1,580

- 1,580 - 1,580

of which:

fair value (asset) 3,237 50

fair value (liability) (55,606) (51,920)

€000 30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Cash flow hedges (1)

Non-hedge accounting derivatives (1)

(1)  The fair value of cash flow hedges excludes accruals at the measurement date.

Available Drawn Undrawn Available Drawn Undrawn

Committed credit facilities 5,595,000 1,067,000 4,528,000 4,845,000 852,000 3,993,000

€000 30 June 2025 31 December 2024
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Note 26 
 
Litigation 

This section describes the main disputes outstanding of importance to the Group’s operators through to the date of 
approval of this Interim Half-year Report for the six months ended 30 June 2025. 

 
Quantification of financial support for motorway operators to cover losses incurred as a 
result of pandemia da COVID-19 in the period from March 2020 to the end of the national 
emergency (March 2022) 

This regards the administrative process relating to quantification of the financial support due to operators to 
compensate for losses incurred as a result of the health emergency caused by Covid-19, in the period after March 

2020 (topping up the amount recoverable for the period March-June 2020, awarded to ASPI during the update 
of the financial plan approved on 23 March 2022). Following numerous requests from ASPI for the process to be 

completed, on 27 January 2023, ASPI sent ART (providing a copy to the MIT) a note in which it highlighted the 
necessity to finalise all the elements needed to complete the complex process of updating the next Financial Plan 
and Regulatory Financial Plan, also in view of the imminent expiry of the current regulatory cycle, and requested 
prompt finalisation of the procedure.  

On 20 February 2023, the MIT requested ASPI to review the amounts involved based on a note issued by ART on 30 
January 2023, with further details regarding the method of calculation. The MIT asked ASPI to provide an adequate 
response to ART’s observations, which are not reflected in the method defined by the regulator.  On 13 April 2023, 
ASPI replied to the MIT’s note (providing a copy to ART), in part accepting the regulator’s observations, recalculating 
the amount of the support originally requested and, in particular, contesting ART’s concerns regarding quantification 
of the shortfall in toll revenue. ASPI thus noted that it was awaiting completion of the procedure in order to quickly 
recover its updated losses as a result of COVID-19, without prejudice to any further action. 

In the absence of a response from the MIT and ART, on 21 April 2023, ASPI appealed the above decisions before the 
Regional Administrative Court.  

In the judgement published on 6 June 2025, Lazio Regional Administrative Court ruled that it did not have 
jurisdiction, referring the case to the Civil Court. The Company is considering whether or not to appeal this decision 
on jurisdiction before the Council of State. 

 

Legal challenge filed by AIPE, CONFIMI ABRUZZO and ADUSBEF 

In the judgement published on 31 March 2025, Lazio Regional Administrative Court dismissed ADUSBEF’s 

appeal from 2022, broadly concurring with the conclusions of the European Court of Justice, which, with regard to 

the compatibility of the agreement of 14 October 2021 with European law (Directive 2014/23/EU), ruled that: a)  art. 

43 of Directive 2014/23/EU does not prevent justified, non-substantial amendments being made to a concession 

without conducting a tender process; b) the above article 43 does not require that, in amending the existing 

concession, the operator’s reliability must be assessed.  

 

Litigation regarding toll increases for SAT  

Due to the failure to approve updated financial plans for the periods 2009-2013, 2014-2018, 2019-2023 and 2024-
2028, Autostrada Tirrenica (“SAT”) is currently applying the remaining part of the toll increases awarded by an Acting 
Commissioner appointed by court order. This is being done in part to meet growing financial requirements due to 
the need to upgrade concession assets to meet regulatory standards and modernise the infrastructure it operates. 
The following developments have taken place: 

 as regards toll increases relating to 2015, on 25 July 2022, Lazio Regional Administrative Court partially 
upheld Autostrada Tirrenica’s claim against the Acting Commissioner, cancelling the decree issued by the 
latter on 28 October 2020 insofar as it: (i) “sets a percentage of zero for the K component in place of 1.32%” 
and (ii) “does not recognise SAT’s right to recoup the increase for 2015 by applying an increase of 5.68%”. 
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In light of the above, the Regional Administrative Court ordered the Acting Commissioner to take the steps 
necessary to comply with the judgement. As a result, the Commissioner has implemented the above Lazio 
Regional Administrative Court judgement, in a decree dated 9 December 2021 granting the operator’s right 
to recoup the increase for 2015, equal to 5.68%. This resulted from the difference between the percentage 
due for the year in question, equal to 7.18%, and the increase allowed by the ministerial decree of 31 
December 2014, equal to 1.50%; 

 as regards toll increases relating to 2016, following Council of State judgement 7455/2023, the company 
submitted a request to the MIT and the Acting Commissioner to make up the increase due to SAT, equal to 
17.85%. This resulted from the sum of: (i) the 16.89% increase specifically for 2016 and (ii) the 0.96% due 
to the compounding effect. In response, the Acting Commissioner issued a decree on 14 October 2024 
granting an increase of 17.85% (16.89% + 0.96% due to the compounding effect). Of this 17.85%, SAT had 
already applied a toll increase of 9.03%, whilst the remaining 8.82% has yet to be applied to tolls. 

In this regard, following prior notification of the Grantor, from 1 February 2025, SAT has applied a partial increase 
of 3.18%, having acquired the right to apply an total toll increase of 14.50% under the above decrees issued by the 
Acting Commissioner, granting toll increases for 2015 and 2016. If the Addendum to the Single Concession 
Arrangement of 2009 and the related Financial Plan have not been approved by August 2025, the company will 
consider application of the remaining toll increase awarded for 2015 and 2016 (11.32%) with effect from 1 
September 2025. The increase applied from February (3.18%) is the same as the one due to be applied for 2025 
under the most recently proposed Financial Plan submitted in May 2024, for which the approval process is still 
ongoing. 

Finally, further toll increases are still pending whilst awaiting the outcome of the appeals lodged in relation to the 
period from 2019 to 2021 (increases amounting to approximately 5.68%). 

 

Proceeding initiated by the Antitrust Authority for disruption to traffic 

Following the closure, in 2021, of the Antitrust proceeding in which the Antitrust Authority deemed that ASPI's 
conduct with regard to the traffic disruption, caused by the presence of a large number of construction sites relating 
to modernisation of the network, constituted an unfair commercial practice in breach of consumer protection 
legislation and imposed a fine of €5 million, the Authority initiated proceedings against ASPI for non-compliance 
with the request to take appropriate measures to eliminate the unfair commercial practice. ASPI lodged an appeal 
against this decision on additional grounds on 18 October 2021. This non-compliance proceeding closed on 19 May 
2022 with a ruling from the Antitrust Authority that took into account the commitments linked to the introduction 
of a cashback scheme and the complexity and innovative nature of the solutions proposed by ASPI, whilst imposing 
a fine of €10,000.00, which was promptly paid.  

In any event, ASPI deemed it right to appeal this latest ruling, lodging an appeal citing additional grounds as part the 
case pending before Lazio Regional Administrative Court, relating to the appeal against the ruling of 26 March 2021.  

Following the hearing held on 19 February 2025, the Regional Administrative Court issued judgement 9006/2025 of 
9 May 2025, ruling that ASPI’s conduct constituted unfair commercial practice. The Regional Administrative Court 
ruled that ASPI is not only required to formally comply with its obligations under the concession, but must also 
ensure conduct guaranteeing the basic rights of consumers (free-flowing, safe traffic). The Company is currently 
considering whether or not to appeal this ruling in line with the approach adopted with regard to the objections 
previously raised by ASPI as part of the proceeding related to ART Determination 49/2025 on the same matter – 
criticised by the Antitrust Authority – that has established the right of road users to obtain a refund in the event of 
road closures. 

 

Investigation by the Public Prosecutor’s Office in Genoa regarding: (i) the installation of 
integrated “Integautos” safety and noise barriers on the A12; (ii) alleged false surveillance 
reports regarding several of the network’s bridges; and (iii) the event that took place in 
the Bertè tunnel on the A26 motorway on 30 December 2019 

The proceedings in question have been combined and, under Legislative Decree 231/2001, the Company is under 
investigation for making false statements by a public officer in an official document. 47 natural persons (14 of whom 
employed by ASPI) are also under investigation for making false statements, fraud in public procurement, violation 
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of transport safety regulations, culpable disaster. The alleged offences are aggravated by the fact that they were 
committed through an abuse of office, or in violation of the duties attaching to a public office or public service. 

With specific regard to ASPI’s position, in relation to alleged breaches of Legislative Decree 231/2001, in 2022 the 

Company was admitted to a settlement procedure in return for payment of a fine. 

Pleading began on 8 January 2025. During the hearing, counsel acting for certain civil claimants (3 associations, 1 
business and two unions) excluded during the preliminary hearing refiled civil lawsuits.  

At the hearing held on 11 April 2025, in addition to the civil claimants already admitted at the preliminary hearing 
(the MIT, the Municipality of Genoa and 4 neighbouring municipalities), the Court only admitted one further 
claimant, the Vittime Ricordo Ponte Morandi Committee. At the same hearing, counsel for the civil defendants again 

requested the Court to include ASPI and the Ministry as civil defendants. In response to the request, the Court 
adjourned the hearing until 15 May of this year to allow counsel for the two parties to prepare the cases for their 
exclusion. 

At the hearing of 29 May 2025, the Court upheld the requests for exclusion presented by counsel for the civil 
defendants. The criminal trial is continuing against the natural persons alone. 

 

Investigation by the Public Prosecutor’s Office at the Court of Rome concerning the 

determination of tariffs, the use of toll revenue and the distribution of dividends 

As part of an criminal investigation looking at the last twenty-five years of ASPI’s operations, and focusing specifically 
on the determination of tariffs, the use of toll revenue and the distribution of dividends, on 21 December 2022, the 
Anti-corruption Unit of the Guardia di Finanza (Finance Police) made its first visit to ASPI’s headquarters to serve a 
disclosure order relating to documentation referring to the years between 1997 and 2022. on 29 March 2023, the 
same unit from the Guardia di Finanza served a further disclosure order designed on this occasion to acquire 
additional documentation regarding the years from 1980 to 2008. All the documentation requested by the Public 
Prosecutor’s Office was provided by the Company.  

An initial meeting was held with the Public Prosecutor’s Office, which revealed that the Company is not currently 
involved in the investigation. Following further contact with the Public Prosecutor’s Office in early 2024, it was 
confirmed that ASPI is not involved in the investigation. 

At the end of April, the Company became aware that the former Chairman and former CEO of ASPI, as well as the 
former Chairman of Mundys, had received notice of a request from the Public Prosecutor’s Office to extend the 
preliminary investigation. The offences for which the accused are under investigation are embezzlement in the case 
of the former CEO of ASPI and embezzlement and misuse of public funds in the case of the companies’ two former 
Chairmen. 

On 15 July, the Company was notified that the Public Prosecutor had dismissed the case. 

 

Investigation by the Prosecutor’s Office in Rome of the alleged incorrect allocation of 
certain motorway construction and upgrade services in ASPI’s financial statements 

The Public Prosecutor’s Office at the Court of Rome is currently conducting a preliminary investigation of the 
Company’s current and former senior management, including certain statutory auditors, for the offences of (i) false 
accounting and (ii) market manipulation with regard to the approval of financial statements, reports and other 
corporate communications to shareholders and the public, prepared – according to the allegations – in breach of 
the so-called Costa-Ciampi Directive (Ministerial Directive 283 dated 20 October 1998, hereinafter also the 
“Directive”) and articles 2423 et seq. of the Civil Code, as that they did not provide for “the establishment of a specific 
reserve for the additional income resulting from the increase in tolls awarded due to the CIPE determination of 20 
December 1996 in relation to [certain] uncompleted services provided for in investment plans”.  

Based on Legislative Decree 231/2001, the Company is under investigation for the alleged breach of articles 25-ter.B) 
and 25-sexies. The allegations regard the financial statements for the years from 2017 to 2022 (also in relation to 
the effects carried forward from earlier financial statements). 

The provisional charges relate to the supposed obligation to make provisions, allegedly required by the Directive, 
amounting to approximately €471,997,000 in the period 1997-2006. This amount would then have been revalued, 
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on the basis of the effective inflation rate, in the period 2007-2022, thus rising to €611,515,000. These amounts have 
been estimated by expert consultants at the Public Prosecutor’s Office, whose reports (clearly described as 
‘preliminary’) were made available to the Company at the end of December 2024.  

As a result of this reconstruction of events, the Company is accused of the following in relation to each set of annual 
financial statements: (i) not having complied with its obligations, under the Directive, to recognise provisions for the 
additional income resulting from toll increases to fund services that were not carried out, despite being included in 
investment plans, in the income statement under the item “Other provisions in ‘Operating costs, falsely presenting 
such sums in the income statement under “Profit/(Loss) before tax”, thereby recognising profit for the year in excess 
of the profit effectively earned; (ii) not having established a reserve, to be added to each year with the additional 
income, and thus falsely presenting an unduly high amount for equity in the statement of financial position.  

Based on an assessment of the documentation obtained, which is still in progress, the Company has reached a 
preliminary conclusion confirming what was previously indicated in the financial statements as at and for the year 
ended 31 December 2024, following a reconstruction carried out by the Company’s accounting personnel. The 
conclusions reached are as follows: 

- the Costa-Ciampi Directive does not directly impact operators in that it merely establishes the conditions to be 
included in future concession arrangements (as also made clear by the name given to the instrument by the relevant 
ministry, namely “Directive”). This assumption is also confirmed by article 5, not by accident called “New 
Concessions”, which does not apply to the services mentioned in the preliminary charges (i.e., those performed 
under the Single Concession Arrangement of 1997), but solely to new infrastructure projects included in the purpose 
of the concession arrangements agreed following the entry into effect of the Directive; 

- there is no evidence that the Company has earned, or will earn, additional income as a result of specific toll 
increases to fund the performance of construction services provided for in the Single Concession Arrangement of 
1997, as shown by a reconstruction of the timeline of the content of the various concession documents from 1997 
through to the Single Concession Arrangement of 2007 and an examination of ASPI’s financial statements; 

- the estimates used by the Public Prosecutor’s consultants – to identify the allegedly missing provisions – appear to 
be arbitrary (and therefore not based on the algorithms provided for in the Costa-Ciampi Directive, but on an 
unreasonable and subjective reinterpretation of them, thereby confirming the argument that the Directive does not 
apply in the case in question). 

Briefly, to date, based on the documentation so far made available and the reasoned opinion of leading experts 
engaged by the Company, there is no reason to believe that there are grounds – in terms of the underlying 
assumptions or their application – for the provisional charges referred to by the consultants at the Public 
Prosecutor’s Office, in terms of the failure to make provisions and the current amount of the provisions not made, 
resulting in a reduction of the Company’s equity. In any event, the distributable portion of available equity reserves 
amounts to €792 million. 

The Company has recently been notified that the Public Prosecutor has requested the Preliminary Investigating 
Magistrate to grant a further six months to complete the investigation. 

 

Proceedings brought by the Autostrade per l’Italia Group against CRAFT and Alessandro 
Patané  

Proceeding before the Supreme Court – ASPI and Movyon against Alessandro Patanè, Alessandro 

Patanè Srl and MPA Group  Srl (RG 4295/2023; 1st section) 

ASPI and Movyon appealed Rome Court of Appeal judgement 7942/2022 before the Supreme Court. The action 
concluded with the Ruling published on 13 May 2025, in which the Supreme Court confirmed the ruling that ASPI 
and Movyon had failed to prove their ownership of the software.  

The Ruling does not result in any automatic recognition of ownership of the software by Mr Patanè and/or 
Alessandro Patané Srl, nor does it uphold the related claims for damages brought in previous years which, as 
previously noted, were subsequently withdrawn. As a result, the plaintiffs will be required to file new claims in 
separate proceedings.   

In the meantime, on 16 May 2025, Mr Patanè and Alessandro Patanè Srl sent ASPI, Movyon and the parent, HRA, a 
request for a new formal statement attesting to the fact that the financial statements of ASPI and Movyon are true 
and correct. Copies of the latter were also sent to the Attorney General at the Court of Auditors, the Guardia di 
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Finanza, CDP and CDP Equity. The letter also ordered ASPI and Movyon to pay receivables allegedly due and 
amounting to approximately €20 billion, as calculated without any basis in fact by the claimants.  

ASPI promptly responded to the latter on 30 May 2025, objecting to the statements made on the basis of the fact 
that Mr Patanè and Alessandro Patanè Srl have so far failed to obtain a court order that would allow them to claim 
the payment of royalties and/or damages by ASPI and/or Movyon in relation to use of the SICVE software. The have 
even less of a legal right to prohibit use of the current software by parties who use it on a daily basis, nor have they 
the right  to make accusations of criminal behaviour, which the relevant authorities have so far found to be 
unproven.  

The above is confirmed by a very recent ruling by the Ordinary Court of Latina (Sentence 1289/2025 dated 2 July 
2025) in relation to litigation between Alessandro Patanè and Mundys. The action regards a claim, by Mr Patanè, 
that he is owed money by ASPI (at the time a subsidiary of Mundys) for improper use of the software in question, 
which Mr Patanè wished to offset against another claim against him filed by Mundys. In its ruling, the Court stated 
that the amount receivable had already been found lacking in several previous court rulings to which it expressly 
referred, including Supreme Court Ruling 12850/2025. Referring to this latter ruling, the Court states that “Nor is it 
possible to infer the opposite from Supreme Court, First Section Ruling 12850/2025 (R.G. 4295/2023), […]. Contrary 
to the plaintiff’s view, the above ruling does not in any form uphold the claim brought by the latter against the 
defendant and that forms the basis for the offset request”.  

ASPI – MOVYON/Alessandro Patanè Srl, Alessandro Patanè and MPA Group Srl – Court of Rome, 

Business Division, RG 48316/23  

In response to the numerous intimidatory actions brought by Mr Patanè, involving significant claims for damages, 
including from Movyon’s customers, ASPI and Movyon decided to file an action for unfair competition pursuant to 
art. 2598, paragraphs 2 and 3 of the Italian Civil Code with the aim of causing Mr Patanè to cease and desist.  

To date, the Court has rejected all the preliminary motions presented by the opposing party, regarding above all the 
filing of documents, deeming them to be inadmissible on the basis that such motions regard “matters unrelated to 
the issue at hand”.   

The Court has set a date of 5 May 2027 for a hearing at which a ruling will be made.  

PATANÈ/ANAS/MINISTRY OF INTERNAL AFFAIRS/ASPI AND TECH – Court of Rome, Business 

Division, RG 71112/2019 

In the legal action brought before the Court of Rome by Alessandro Patanè Srl in 2019 against the Ministry of Internal 
Affairs and ANAS, the latter impleaded ASPI and Movyon. The action regards the alleged improper use of the 
Vergilius system by ANAS, in addition to the SICVe system and related software (for which Patanè claims to be the 
licensee on behalf of CRAFT). According to Alessandro Patanè Srl, the action is based on the Supreme Court’s ruling 
(no. 21405/2019) that CRAFT’s patent has been infringed, as part of the action brought by Craft, and on the Court of 
Rome’s finding (no. 120/2019) that Patanè is the owner of the software, as part of the action brought by Patanè. 

Patanè has quantified the damages due as approximately €21 million and is also claiming non-pecuniary damages. 

ANAS appeared to implead ASPI and Movyon in order to be relieved of liability and held harmless.  

The Ministry did not appear.  

The court had upheld the requests from ANAS and ASPI to adjourn the case whilst awaiting the outcome of both the 
action brought by Patanè regarding ownership of the software, and the action brought by Craft for infringement of 
the plaintiff’s patent. 

The action brought by Craft concluded with the Supreme Court ruling of 8 August 2023 and that brought by Patanè 
with the Supreme Court ruling of 13 May 2025. 

At this point, the case can resume by 13 September 2025. 

In this regard, on 3 July 2025, Alessandro Patanè Srl filed a motion requesting a copy of the report prepared by the 
court-appointed expert, Mr Sordo, which has excluded any infringement of Craft’s patent, and that the case resume. 
In ruling 2057/2025, the Court turned down the request for a copy of the document as the cessation of the reasons 
for adjourning the case and for the subsequent resumption result solely from allegement of the final judgements in 
the proceedings for which the resumption was ordered and not from the acquisition of a probative instrument such 
as the court-appointed expert report requested. The Court also did not set a date for resumption of the case, ruling 
that it was necessary to await allegement of the final judgements in the actions brought by Craft and Patané. In 
terms of legal strategy, ASPI and Movyon are currently considering whether or not to resume the case, given that (i) 
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the deadline for the submission of evidence and motions by Alessandro Patané Srl proving and demonstrating its 
ownership of the SICVe software has passed and (ii) the Court may deem that the plaintiff has not proved its case.  

OTHER ACTIONS BROUGHT BY ALESSANDRO PATANE’ 

Mr Alessandro Patanè has brought no fewer than 10 actions before the courts in different jurisdictions, against the 
companies to which Movyon and ASPI have, over the years, supplied the Sicve system, and against Alessandro 
Patanè Srl, requesting a ruling awarding ownership of the software to himself (a natural person) and prohibiting use 
of the software. Given the nature of claims made in these actions, it is likely that the litigation will also involve ASPI 
and/or Movyon. 

 

Tax disputes regarding ground tax, ground rent and property tax (TOSAP, COSAP and 
CUP)  

In recent years, city councils and provincial authorities notified Autostrade per l’Italia of numerous demands for the 
payment of considerable sums in the form of ground tax (Tassa per l’Occupazione di Spazi ed Aree Pubbliche or 
TOSAP) and ground rent (Canone per l’Occupazione di Spazi ed Aree Pubbliche or COSAP) – now called the Single 
Property Tax (Canone Unico Patrimoniale or CUP) with effect from the 2021 tax year. The levies are allegedly payable 
in return for the occupation of public land owned by the relevant councils and provincial authorities by motorway 
infrastructure (road bridges, viaducts and underpasses, etc.). Certain assessments notified to the Company impose 
fines for illegal occupation of public land amounting to 250% of the requested rent. Assessment proceedings by the 
local authorities were further intensified following a number of judgements handed down by the Supreme Court, 
which found against the Company. The matter also involved certain subsidiaries operating under concession. 

The rulings handed down by the Supreme Court regarding such matters are currently not favourable to operators 
and this has recently been confirmed in a number of further judgements.  

This approach was confirmed in two letters from the MIT addressed to AISCAT, ASPI and all motorway operators in 
the summer of 2023. In the letters, the Ministry has clarified the fact that motorway infrastructure cannot be classed 
as “illegal”, and that no authorisation is required from local authorities. Both the letters confirm the position 
expressed by the Company in all the court hearings on this matter, also because, among other things, certain 
crossings of municipal and regional authority-maintained roads, forming part of the motorway network operated 
under concession, were built directly by the state and only later handed over to ASPI to manage. 

Given that the issue of the Single Property Tax is a question of administrative law (i.e., regarding the assumption 
underlying application of the tax), the Company has taken its case to the administrative courts. In 2023, the Council 
of State – in several judgements – ruled in the Company’s favour, acknowledging that crossings of municipal and 
regional authority-maintained roads by the motorway network cannot be considered unlawful and that, as a result, 
no fines for unlawful occupation of public land or payment of the related tax are due. 

The opposing party has appealed these rulings before the Supreme Court, claiming that the Council of State does 
not have jurisdiction. The Supreme Court has yet to rule on the question and is expected to do so in 2025. 

In July 2025, Joint Divisions of the Supreme Court ruled on the two actions brought by SAM and Tangenziale di Napoli 
in relation to COSAP for motorway infrastructure, confirming that the administrative courts have jurisdiction.  

In the two rulings, the Joint Divisions have established that: 

 in cases regarding the occupation of public land by motorway infrastructure, the administrative courts have 
jurisdiction; 

 the ordinary courts only have jurisdiction when the dispute exclusively regards financial aspects, namely 
the mere request for payment of a tax or fee, without involving decisions to be taken by a public body. 

Sezioni Unite are expected to rule on the cases relating to ASPI by the end of 2025. 

Finally, various merit courts have ruled that TOSAP is not payable by ASPI due to the lack of subjective and objective 
grounds for application of the tax. The Supreme Court’s rulings have brought it into conflict with the Council of State 
as regards jurisdiction. 

Given the risk associated with the dispute and the uncertain outcome, in compliance with the law on the payment 
of tax in instalments, provisions tax risk provisions have been made, mainly relating to fines, to cover the amounts 
already notified to the Company (and not for those that could potentially be notified).  
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Agreement with the MIT of 14 October 2021: stamp duty 

On 22 April 2022, the Rome I Tax Office, via payment demand 1/2022, requested APSI to pay €22.8 million in stamp 
duty on the agreement between ASPI and the MIT dated 14 October 2021.  

In the demand, the tax authority qualified the sums already paid by ASPI for the reconstruction of the Polcevera road 
bridge (totalling €583 million) as the fulfilment of an obligation (and not as an act of acknowledgement), and thereby 
subject to stamp duty of 3%.  

The Company challenged the demand in an appeal before the relevant court.   

In ruling 12905/3/2022, the Rome Tax Tribunal of First Instance upheld ASPI's appeal for most of the tax claim, 
determining that:   

 reconstruction costs of the Polcevera road bridge (€17.5 million) are not liable to stamp duty of 3%;  

 the additional charges included in the Agreement (€5.3 million) are liable to stamp duty. 

ASPI settled the amounts due to the tax authority confirmed by the ruling. 

The Italian tax authority appealed the ruling at first instance. ASPI appeared before the court to contest the 
objections raised by the tax authority and lodged a cross-appeal against the portion of stamp duty deemed to be 
payable.  

At the suggestion of the tax authority, the Company considered a potential settlement, a process that came to a 
successful conclusion at the end of April 2025.  

In the settlement, the parties have agreed on a rate of 1% to be applied to the reconstruction costs of the Polcevera 
road bridge. The litigation can now be considered closed. The Company had already made specific provision in the 
financial statements for this risk at the end of 2024. 

 

Procedures for the award of contracts by ASPI to external contractors and to Group 
companies  

Claim for damages for non-award of a contract following Constitutional Court judgement 218/2021 and Council 

of State judgement 5330/2023   

Following the Council of State judgement 5330/2023 of 30 May and with regard to the procedure for awarding the 
contract to widen the Florence South-Incisa section of motorway to three lanes, dated 11 March 2022, on 7 July 
2023 the Medil consortium filed a claim for damages with Tuscany Regional Administrative Court as compensation 
for not being awarded the contract.  

The Medil consortium’s claim amounts to €51,856,931.70, with an additional subordinated claim of 
€14,834,452.15 for pre-contractual liability.  

As regards the damages for non-award of the contract, the Medil consortium claims that ASPI illegally excluded 
the consortium from the tender process, delaying the award until the Constitutional Court issued judgement 
218/2021, as a result of which ASPI then legally withdrew the call for tenders.  

As regards pre-contractual liability, the Medil consortium maintains that the tender process had reached the point 

at which Medil would have been legally awarded the contract. This was then compromised by ASPI’s decision to 

withdraw the call for tenders.  

The Regional Administrative Court has set a date of 7 May 2025 for the hearing to discuss the case. The Court has 

taken the case under advisement. 

In the ruling of 3 June 2025, Tuscany Regional Administrative Court in Florence rejected the Medil consortium’s claim 

for damages in its entirety, in relation to all the damages claimed for. 

As regards the damages for non-award of the contract, in agreement with the arguments presented by ASPI, the 

Court found that there was no “reasonable certainty of the claimant being awarded the contract or, more generally, 

of the unjust nature of the damages incurred”. 

As regards the claim for pre-contractual liability, the Court noted how the Consortium presenting the claim had not 

“acquired reasonable assurance that it would be awarded the work and would be assigned the contract, given how 

the procedure took place (the claimant was at no point awarded the contract)”. 



 

 

81

 

In view of the above events, the provisions for risks and charges made represent the best estimate, based on the 
information currently available, of the risk of negative outcomes and of the potential expenses to be incurred in 
relation to the above litigation. 

 

Note 27 

 
Other information 

a. Disclosure of non-controlling interests in consolidated companies   

As required by IFRS 12, a list of the principal consolidated companies with non-controlling interests as at 30 June 
2025 (with the relevant comparatives as at 31 December 2024). The complete list of the Group’s investments as at 
30 June 2025 is provided in Annex 1, “The Autostrade per l’Italia Group’s scope of consolidation and investments as 
at 30 June 2025”. 

 

 

 

 

b. Guarantees 

The Group has certain personal guarantees in issue to third parties as at 30 June 2025. These include the following 
in order of significance:  

a. the surety bond provided to INPS by ASPI and other Group companies, totalling €56.3 million, guaranteeing 
fulfilment of their pension contribution commitments throughout the duration of the early retirement 
schemes; 

b. the provision, by Amplia Infrastructures SpA of a special lien on the TBM (Tunnel Boring Machine) to the 
lending bank, CACIB, in compliance with the requirements of the loan agreement funding the machine’s 
purchase (€58.6 million); 

c. bank guarantees provided by the Group’s operators to the Ministry of Infrastructures and Transport, as 
required by the covenants in the relevant concession arrangements, totalling €34.9 million; 

d. the guarantees issued by Amplia Infrastructures SpA to guarantee execution of the works it has been 
contracted to perform, amounting to €18.9 million, including approximately €1.5 million for the benefit of 
Group companies;    

e. the establishment of various special liens and mortgages on properties, amounting to approximately €18 
million, in accordance with the loan agreement with the bank, Monte dei Paschi di Siena. The contract entered 
into to fund capital expenditure includes the use of 90% of the assets purchased as security; 

f. sureties provided by Movyon SpA in order to participate in tenders and/or the provision of mobility services, 
totalling €12 million. 

 

Non-controlling interests in consolidated companies Country Group interest
Non-controlling 

interests
Group interest

Non-controlling 

interests

Autostrade Meridionali SpA (in liquidation) Italy 58.98% 41.02% 58.98% 41.02%

Società Italiana per Azioni per il Traforo del Monte Bianco Italy 51.00% 49.00% 51.00% 49.00%

Raccordo Autostradale Valle d'Aosta SpA Italy 24.46% 75.54% 24.46% 75.54%

Amplia Infrastructures SpA Italy 99.80% 0.20% 99.80% 0.20%

Pavimental Polska Sp.Zo.O. Poland 99.80% 0.20% 99.80% 0.20%

C.I.EL. Costruzioni lmpianti Elettromeccanici SpA Italy 99.80% 0.20% 99.80% 0.20%

Forli 3. S.c.ar.l. Italy 69.23% 30.77% 69.23% 30.77%

RAV S.c.ar.l. Italy 99.80% 0.20% 99.80% 0.20%

Free to X SpA Italy 51.00% 49.00% 100.00% 0.00%

Amplia Engineering & Equipment Srl Italy 59.88% 40.12% 59.88% 40.12%

30 June 2025 31 December 2024
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Shares in the investees, Tangenziale Esterna and Bologna & Fiera Parking, have also been pledged to the respective 

providers of financing. 

 

c. Reserves 

As at 30 June 2025, Group companies have recognised contract reserves quantified by contractors in relation to: 

a. investing activities, totalling €1,677 million (€1,306 million as at 31 December 2024). Based on past experience, 
only a small percentage of the reserves will actually have to be paid to contractors and, in this case, will be 
accounted for as an increase in the cost of intangible assets deriving from concession rights; 

b. non-investing activities, amounting to approximately €45 million (€45 million as at 31 December 2024), the 
estimated future cost of which is covered by existing provisions for risks and charges in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

 

d. Related party transactions 

The following table shows material amounts in the income statement and statement of financial position generated 
by the Autostrade per l’Italia Group’s related party transactions, broken down by nature of the transaction (trading 
or financial), including those with Directors, Statutory Auditors and key management personnel at Autostrade per 
l’Italia, identified in accordance with IAS 24. 
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 Holding Reti Autostradali 98.8 - 0.4 -

 Total parents 98.8 - 0.4 -

 Pavimental Est (0.1) - - -

 Tecne Speri Bridge Designers 1.8 2.1 0.1 0.9

 TECNE - SYSTRA SWS ADVANCED TUNNELING Srl 0.4 0.9 - 2.3

 Free To X Mobilize Network SpA 0.6 - - -

 Free To X Mobilize SpA 0.1 2.4 0.1 0.9

 Total associates 2.8 5.4 0.2 4.1

 Eni - 2.3 - 0.2

 MEF - 32.1 - 0.9

 MIP Milan Polytechnic - 0.1 - -

 Poste Italiane 0.1 3.1 - 0.1

 Snam Group - 0.2 0.1 3.1

 Terna Group 0.1 - 0.1 -

 Fincantieri Group - 0.4 - -

 CDP 0.2 - - -

 Italgas Group - - - 0.1

 Uirnet 0.1 - - -

 Total other related parties 0.5 38.2 0.2 4.4

 ASTRI pension fund - 8.2 - 11.6

 CAPIDI pension fund - 2.8 - 2.7

 Total pension funds - 11.0 - 14.3

 Key management personnel - 6.3 - 5.8

 Total key management personnel (1) - 6.3 - 5.8

 TOTAL 102.1 60.9 0.8 28.6

 Holding Reti Autostradali 7.8 70.9 0.5 -

 Total parents 7.8 70.9 0.5 -

 Pavimental Est (0.1) - - -

 Tecne Speri Bridge Designers 1.2 2.9 - 2.3

 TECNE - SYSTRA SWS ADVANCED TUNNELING Srl 0.6 0.7 - 1.7

 Total associates 1.7 3.6 - 4.0

 Eni 0.5 2.1 - 3.1

 MEF - 64.3 - 0.7

 MIP Milan Polytechnic - 0.1 - 0.1

 Poste Italiane 0.1 2.9 - 0.4

 Snam Group 0.1 0.4 0.1 -

 Fincantieri Group - 0.4 - -

 CDP 0.2 - - 0.1

 Italgas Group - - 0.1 -

 Uirnet 0.1 - - -

 Open Fiber - - 0.1 (0.1)

 Maticmind - - 0.2 4.6

 Total other related parties 1.0 70.2 0.5 8.9

 ASTRI pension fund - 8.4 - 10.5

 CAPIDI pension fund - 1.9 - 1.5

 Total pension funds - 10.3 - 12.0

 Key management personnel - 9.2 - 8.8

 Total key management personnel (1) - 9.2 - 8.8

 TOTAL 10.5 164.2 1.0 33.7

30 June 2025 H1 2025

31 December 2024 H1 2024

(1)Autostrade per l'Italia's "key management personnel" means the Company's Directors, Statutory Auditors and other key management personnel as a whole. 

Expenses for each period include emoluments, salaries, benefits in kind, bonuses and other incentives for Autostrade per l'Italia staff and staff of the relevant  

subsidiaries.

€m

Principal trading transactions with related parties

Trade and other 

receivables

Trade payables and tax 

liabilities
Operating revenue Operating costs
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Related party transactions do not include transactions of an atypical or unusual nature and are conducted on an 

arm’s length basis. No non-recurring events and/or transactions took place in the first half of 2025. 

The principal transactions entered into by the Group with related parties are described below. 

The Autostrade per l’Italia Group’s transactions with its parents 

In terms of tax-related relations, as at 30 June 2025 the Group reports net tax assets of €98.3 million receivable from 
the parent, Holding Reti Autostradali. This sum results from the Group’s participation in the tax consolidation 
arrangement headed by the latter. In addition, the Group has recognised €124.9 million in financial assets entirely 
related to the portion of dividends declared but not yet paid by Autostrade per l’Italia. 

  
The Autostrade per l’Italia Group’s transactions with other related parties 

In terms of relations between Autostrade per l’Italia Group operators, the item “Trade payables and tax liabilities” 
primarily includes concession fees payable by the Group to the MEF, amounting to €31.8 million as at 30 June 2025 
(€63.9 million as at 31 December 2024). 

In terms of financial transactions, loans totalling €280.7 million (including €22.9 million classified as current) have 
been granted by Cassa Depositi e Prestiti. These relate entirely to outstanding loans obtained by Autostrade per 
l’Italia. A further €6.8 million relates to postal current accounts with Poste Italiane.  

 

e. Events after 30 June 2025 

In addition to the events described above, at the date of approval of this Interim Half-year Report for the six months 
ended 30 June 2025, there are no further material events involving the Autostrade per l’Italia Group to report. 

Declaration of dividends 

The Annual General Meeting of Autostrade per l’Italia SpA’s shareholders, held on 17 April 2025, approved the 
distribution of Autostrade per l’Italia SpA’s profit for 2024 in the form of a dividend to be paid in two tranches. The 
first tranche was paid on the same date of 17 April 2025, whilst the second tranche, amounting to €142 million, was 
due to be paid at the date of approval of the Company’s Interim Half-year Report for 2025, after also bearing in mind 
expected discussions with the Grantor regarding approval of the Company’s Financial Plan. 

In this respect, whilst awaiting greater clarity regarding the process involved in approving the Financial Plan and, 
more generally, in view of recent talks with the Grantor, the Ordinary General Meeting of Autostrade per l’Italia 
SpA’s shareholders held on 24 July 2025 has voted to postpone payment of the second tranche of the dividend to 
be paid from profit for 2024. This will now be paid on the date of approval of the annual financial statements for 
2025, and in any event no later than 31 March 2026. 

 Holding Reti Autostradali -                                     124.9                              -                                     

 Total parents 

 Pavimental Est (1) 0.3                                 -                                     -                                     

 Free To X Mobilize Network SpA -                                     -                                     -                                     

 Free To X Mobilize SpA -                                     -                                     -                                     

 Total associates 0.8                                 124.9                              -                                     

 Poste Italiane 6.8                                 -                                     -                                     

 CDP -                                     280.7                              8.4                                 

 Total other related parties 6.8                                 280.7                              8.4                                 

 TOTAL 7.6                                 405.6                              8.4                                 

 Pavimental Est (1) 0.3                                 -                                     -                                     

 Total associates 0.3                                 -                                     -                                     

 Poste Italiane 6.7                                 -                                     -                                     

 CDP -                                     292.1                              33.3                               

 Total other related parties 6.7                                 292.1                              33.3                               

 TOTAL 7.0                                 292.1                              33.3                               

(1) Other current financial assets are fully covered by specific provisions.

30 June 2025 H1 2025

31 December 2024 H1 2024

Financial assets Financial liabilities Finance expenses

Principal financial transactions with related parties
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Bank loan obtained by Autostrada Tirrenica 

On 24 July, Autostrada Tirrenica agreed a facility of €230 million with a pool of banks consisting of Unicredit, ING, 
Monte Paschi and Bper. The loan has a term of 3 years and will be used for general corporate purposes. The entire 
facility is expected to be used by the end of July. 
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Annexes to the consolidated financial statements 

 
Annex 1 
 
The Autostrade per l’Italia Group’s scope of consolidation and investments as at 30 June 
2025 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

NAME REGISTERED OFFICE BUSINESS CURRENCY

ISSUED CAPITAL/ 

CONSORTIUM FUND AS AT 30 

JUNE 2025

(UNITS)

HELD BY

% INTEREST IN SHARE 

CAPITAL/CONSORTIUM 

FUND AS AT 30 JUNE 2025

TOTAL GROUP INTEREST AS 

AT 30 JUNE 2025 (%)
NOTE

PARENT COMPANY

Autostrade per l'Italia SpA Rome Motorway concessions EURO 622,027,000                                              

SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED ON A LINE-BY-LINE BASIS

AD Moving SpA Rome Other activities EURO 1,000,000                                                   Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 100% 100%

Amplia Infrastructures SpA Rome Design, construction and maintenance EURO 30,116,452                                                Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 99.8% 99.8%

Amplia Engineering & Equipment Srl Pozzuolo del Friuli (UD)
Construction, repair and maintenance of 

mechanical equipment
EURO 1,000,000                                                   Amplia Infrastructures SpA 60% 59.9%

Autostrade Meridionali  SpA  (in liquidation) Naples Motorway concessions EURO 9,056,250                                                   Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 58.98% 58.98%

C.I.EL. Costruzioni lmpianti Elettromeccanici SpA Rome Design and plant engineering EURO 400,000                                                       Amplia Infrastructures SpA 100% 99.7985%

ELGEA SpA Rome Production, sale and storage of energy EURO 2,000,000                                                   Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 100% 100%

Forli 3. S.c.ar.l. Rome Design, construction and maintenance EURO 20,000                                                          Amplia Infrastructures SpA 69.37% 69.23%

Free To X Srl Rome Other activities EURO 69,602,822                                                Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 100% 100%

Free To X SpA Rome Other activities EURO 50,000                                                          Free To X Srl 51% 51%

Giovia Srl Rome Motorway services EURO 10,000                                                          Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 100% 100%

Movyon Electronics Srl
Concordia sulla Secchia 

(Modena)
Motorway services EURO 1,400,000                                                   Movyon SpA 100% 100%

Movyon SpA Rome Motorway services EURO 1,120,000                                                   Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 100% 100%

Movyon South East Europe Single Member Societè Anonyme

 (Movyon SEE SA)
Athens Engineering services EURO 50,000                                                          Movyon SpA 100% 100%

Pavimental Polska SP.zo.o.
Trzebinia

(Poland)
Design, construction and maintenance ZLOTY 3,000,000                                                   Amplia Infrastructures SpA 100% 99.8%

Raccordo Autostradale Valle d'Aosta SpA Aosta Motorway concessions EURO 343,805,000                                              
Società Italiana per Azioni 

per il Traforo del Monte Bianco
47.97% 24.46% (1)

RAV S.C. A R.L. Rome EURO 10,000                                                          100% 99.8%

Amplia Infrastructures SpA 44.52%

C.I.EL. Costruzioni lmpianti Elettromeccanici S.p.A 55.48%

Società Autostada Tirrenica p.A. Rome Motorway concessions EURO 24,460,800                                                Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 99.93% 100% (2)

Società Italiana per Azioni per il Traforo del Monte Bianco Pre Saint Didier (Aosta) Motorway concessions EURO 198,749,200                                              Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 51% 51%

Tangenziale di Napoli SpA Naples Motorway concessions EURO 108,077,490                                              Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 100% 100%

Tecne-Gruppo Autostrade per l'Italia SpA Rome Engineering, research and design services EURO 10,000,000                                                Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 100% 100%

 Youverse SpA Rome Administrative services EURO 5,037,100                                                   Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 100% 100%

Construction of roads, motorways and 

airport runways

(1) The issued capital is made up of 284,350,000 in ordinary shares and 59,455,000 in preference shares. The percentage interest is calculated with reference to all shares in issue, whereas the 58.00% of voting rights is calculated with reference to ordinary voting shares.

(2) Following Autostrade per l'Italia's acquisition of 2,000 shares in Autostrada Tirrenica SpA on 2 May 2023, all the outstanding shares are now held by Autostrade per l'Italia. On 29 December 2015, Autostrada Tirrenica purchased 109,600 own shares from non-controlling shareholders. As a result, the Parent Company now holds a 100% stake,  

calculated on the basis of the ratio of the shares held in the company and the total number of the subsidiary's shares outstanding.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

Associates

Bologna & Fiera Parking  SpA Bologna Other concessions EURO 2,715,200 Autostrade per l'Italia SpA

Free to X Mobilize SpA Rome Other activities EURO 50,000 Free To X Srl (1)

Free to X Mobilize Network SpA Rome Other activities EURO 50,000 Free To X Srl (1)

Joint ventures

GEIE del Traforo del Monte Bianco Courmayeur (Aosta) Motorway services EURO 2,000,000
Società Italiana per Azioni per il Traforo del 

Monte Bianco

Tecne Speri Bridge Designers Srl Rome Engineering, research and design services EURO 250,000 Tecne Gruppo Autostrade per l’Italia SpA 

Tecne-Systra SWS Advanced Tunneling  Srl Turin Engineering services EURO 150,000 Tecne Gruppo Autostrade per l’Italia SpA 

50%

50%

50%

(1) On 12 May 2025, following receipt of the necessary clearances, Free to X Srl completed the sale of a stake in Free To X SpA to the Renault group. The transaction was preceded by a partial proportional demerger of Free To X SpA, which has retained ownership of the assets located on the motorway network managed by ASPI. At the same 

time, two new companies were established:

- Free To X – Mobilize Network SpA, to which the assets located outside the motorway network have been transferred;

- Free To X – Mobilize SpA, which will operate as a mobility service provider for both. 

HELD BY

% INTEREST IN SHARE 

CAPITAL/CONSORTIUM FUND AS AT 30 

JUNE 2025

NOTE

36.81%

50.00%

49.00%

NAME REGISTERED OFFICE BUSINESS CURRENCY

ISSUED CAPITAL/ CONSORTIUM FUND 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2025

(UNITS)

Unconsolidated subsidiaries

Pavimental-Est AO (in liquidation) 
Moscow

(Russia)

Design, construction and 

maintenance

RUSSIAN 

ROUBLE
4,200,000 Amplia Infrastructures SpA 100%

Other investments

digITAlog SpA (in liquidation) Rome Other activities EURO 1,142,000 Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 1.401%

Interporto Toscano Amerigo Vespucci 

SpA
Livorno Other activities EURO 11,756,695 Società Autostrada Tirrenica p.A. 0.43%

Strada dei Parchi SpA Rome
Motorway concessions and 

construction
EURO 48,114,240 Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 2%

% INTEREST IN SHARE 

CAPITAL/CONSORTIUM 

FUND AS AT 30 JUNE 2025

NOTE

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR AT FAIR VALUE 

NAME REGISTERED OFFICE BUSINESS CURRENCY

ISSUED CAPITAL/ 

CONSORTIUM FUND AS AT 

30 JUNE 2025

(UNITS)

HELD BY
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CONSORTIA
38.83%

Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 31.49%
Tangenziale di Napoli SpA 2.25%

Società Italiana per Azioni 
per il Traforo del Monte Bianco

2.11%

Raccordo Autostradale Valle d'Aosta SpA 1.26%
Società Autostrada Tirrenica p.A. 0.56%

Amplia Infrastructures SpA 1.15%
Free To X SpA 0.01%

Consorzio Costruttori Teem (in liquidation) Tortona
Design, construction and 

maintenance
EURO 10,000 Amplia Infrastructures SpA 1.00% (1)

Consorzio MIDRA Florence Other activities EURO 73,989 Movyon  SpA 33.33%

Consorzio Ramonti  S.c. a r.l. (in liquidation) Tortona
Design, construction and 

maintenance
EURO 10,000 Amplia Infrastructures SpA 49%

Consorzio R.f.c.c (in liquidation) Tortona
Design, construction and 

maintenance
EURO 510,000 Amplia Infrastructures SpA 30%

Consorzio Tecne – Rina Genoa Architecture and engineering EURO 50,000 Tecne Gruppo Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 51%

Consorzio Tecnologie - Consorzio Costruttori Grandi 

Impianti (in liquidation)
Rome

Design, construction and 

maintenance
EURO 180,000 C.I.EL. Costruzioni lmpianti Elettromeccanici S.p.A 2.78%

Contratto di rete AGROBOT Perugia

Network for the development of 

a prototype autonomous robot 
for agricultural use in the 

Umbria region

EURO 2,500 Movyon Electronics Srl 20% (1)

100%

Amplia Infrastructures SpA 75%
Movyon SpA 20%

Pavimental Polska Sp. z o.o. 5%

Ferroadriatica 2003 Società consortile A.r.l. (in 

liquidation)
Rome

Design, construction and 

maintenance
EURO 10,400 C.I.EL. Costruzioni lmpianti Elettromeccanici S.p.A 49.69%

Lambro S.c. a r.l. Tortona
Design, construction and 

maintenance
EURO 200,000 Amplia Infrastructures SpA 2.78%

0.02%

Open Fiber Network Solutions S.c. a r.l. Milan Engineering services EURO 100,000 Amplia Infrastructures SpA 0.01%
C.I.EL. Costruzioni lmpianti Elettromeccanici S.p.A 0.01%

Panigale Società consortile a r.l. Carpi (Modena) Design and construction EURO 500,000 Amplia Infrastructures SpA 0.01%

Rome Advanced District Rome

Experimental research and 

development in the field of other 

natural sciences and 
engineering

EURO 700,000 Autostrade per l'Italia SpA 14.29% (2) 

Safe Roads  S.c. a r.l. Tortona
Design, construction and 

maintenance
EURO 10,000 Movyon SpA 17.22%

30.7%

Costruzioni Impianti Autostradali  S.c.a.r.l. (in 

liquidation)
29.7%

Società Autostrada Tirrenica p.A. 1%

Smart Mobility Systems  S.c. a r.l. Tortona
Design, construction and 

maintenance
EURO 10,000 Movyon SpA 24.5%

(1) The network contract has legal status.

Sat Lavori  S.c. a r.l. (in liquidation) Rome
Design, construction and 

maintenance
EURO 100,000

Consorzio Autostrade Italiane Energia
Rome Other activities EURO 116,330

Costruzioni Impianti Autostradali  S.c. a r.l. (in 

liquidation)
Rome

Design, construction and 

maintenance
EURO 10,000

NAME REGISTERED OFFICE BUSINESS CURRENCY
ISSUED CAPITAL/ CONSORTIUM FUND 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2025

(UNITS)

HELD BY
% INTEREST IN SHARE 

CAPITAL/CONSORTIUM FUND 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2025

NOTE
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Attestation of the condensed consolidated financial statements pursuant to art. 81-ter 
of CONSOB Regulation 11971 of 14 May 1999, as amended 

 

1. We, the undersigned Arrigo Emilio Giana and Piergiorgio Peluso, as Chief Executive Officer and as the 

manager responsible for  Autostrade per l’Italia SpA’s fincial reporting, having taken account of the 

provisions of art. 154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 4 of Legislative Decree 58 of 24 February 1998, attest to: 

• the adequacy with reguard to the nature of the Company and 

• the effective application of the administrative and accounting procedures adopted in 

preparation of the consolidated financial statements during the first half of 2025. 

2. In this regard, we declare that: 

2.1 the administrative and accounting procedures adopted in preparation of the condensed interim 

consolidated financial statements as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2025 were drawn 

up, and their adequacy assessed, on the basis of the regulations and methods drawn up by 

Autostrade per l’Italia S.p.A in accordance with the Internal Control–Integrated Framework 

model issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. This 

Commission has established a body of general principles providing a standard for internal 

control systems that is generally accepted at international level. 

2.2 the review of the system of internal control over financial reporting has not identified any 

critical issues. 

 

3. We also attest that 

3.1 the condensed interim consolidated financial statements: 

a) have been prepared in compliance with international financial reporting standards 

approved for application in the European Community by EC Regulation 1606/2002, 

passed by the European Parliament and by the Council on 19 July 2002; 

b) are consistent with the underlying accounting books and records; 

c) present a true and fair view of the financial position and results of operations of the 

issuer and the consolidated companies; 

3.2 The interim report on operations contains a reliable analysis of material events during the first 

six months of the year and their impact on the condensed interim consolidated financial 

statements, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties for the 

remaining six months of the year. The interim report on operations also includes a reliable 

analysis of related party transactions. 

24 July 2025 

Arrigo Emilio Giana Piergiorgio Peluso 

Chief Executive Officer Manager responsible for financial 
reporting 
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Report on review of condensed interim consolidated financial 
statements

To the shareholders of 
Autostrade per l’Italia S.p.A.

Introduction

We have reviewed the accompanying condensed interim consolidated financial statements of the 
Autostrade per l’Italia Group, comprising the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025, the 
income statement and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for 
the six months then ended and notes thereto. The directors are responsible for the preparation of these 
condensed interim consolidated financial statements in accordance with the IFRS Accounting Standard 
applicable to interim financial reporting (IAS 34), endorsed by the European Union. Our responsibility is 
to express a conclusion on these condensed interim consolidated financial statements based on our 
review.

Scope of review

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410, 
“Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity”. A review of 
condensed interim consolidated financial statements consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons 
responsible for financial and accounting matters, applying analytical and other review procedures. A 
review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing and, consequently, does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of 
all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion 
on the condensed interim consolidated financial statements.s.

Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the condensed 
interim consolidated financial statements of the Autostrade per l’Italia Group as at and for the six months 
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ended 30 June 2025 have not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the IFRS
Accounting Standard applicable to interim financial reporting (IAS 34), endorsed by the European Union.

Rome, 25 July 2025

KPMG S.p.A.

(signed on the original)

Marcella Balistreri
Director of Audit
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